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15 YEARS OF PARTNERSHIP FOSTERS
INFINITY OF INVESTMENT VAEUENN

Everbright was established on 19 September 1997. As a financial investment institution, we have been thriving
in an increasingly turbulent environment for 15 years. Over the years we have faced, and overcome, challenges
such as the Asian Financial Crisis in 1997, the SARS outbreak in 2003, and most recently, the global financial
tsunami in 2008.

As an Asian international financial hub, Hong Kong’s role as an intermediary between China and the
world will remain significant, particularly with the Mainland’s thriving financial industry and the progressive
internationalisation of the Renminbi. Everbright, with hands-on knowledge of international management and
an extensive network in China, is fully confident in its Macro Asset Management platform.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to our friends and employees for your
valuable commitment to the Group’s development amidst such a volatile capital market. With your continued
support, Everbright will continue taking confident strides toward growth in China and Hong Kong.
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ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2011
20114FpR

3 Fund Investments and Management Business

IEESREREEEY

Funds under Everbright’s management increased to 12.

FrEmEeHEmEE121E -

Total fundraising amount increased from HK$10 bilion to HK$16.8
billion.

WwEASFERI00EE T IN168EE
ﬁ; °

Investment projects of the funds increased from 23 to 36.

HE&OIREER h23E1% =361 -

Macquarie Everbright Greater China Infrastructure Fund
successfully completed its first tranche of fundraising amidst weak
market conditions. As of the end of 2011, it had total available
funds of USD800 million.

2 Fee-based Business

RREMBEATEERREES - ER
BRI R SR ARG TR —
HEE Z20NFEAPHESSE
8f8XTT -

2T B 2

Divest 51% interest of Everbright Securities (International) to
Everbright Securities, complete the integration of Hong Kong'’s
investment banking, brokerage and wealth management business.

“Structured Financing & Investment” Business

HE51% BRI T X AES B
MFEREBRART G RN EER
EBHES -

[EBMERERRE XK

Capitalising on internal funds, Everbright provide “investment +
financing” services to enterprises with solid credit histories and
excellent asset quality. During the year, it reported a profit before
taxation of HK$374 million.

Corporate Governance Awards

ERBEFES  MABRHEERE
EEENEREFPREHIIRE+RE IR
% BABEBAAFS.74EE T -

DNEEREE

Everbright received the “Honorable mention award” at the
Hong Kong Corporate Governance Awards 2011, organised by
the Hong Kong Chamber of Listed Companies, demonstrating the
Company’s excellence and improvements in corporate governance.

EEB LT AREE2011ERRERS
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SERVICE PHILOSOPHY
RBER

MAKING
WEALTH SIMPLE

We implement our service philosophy of

Making Wealth Simple with sound corporate governance,

professionalism and tailored financial solutions,
helping our clients create wealth and value with ease.
FIB RPN AR E AR - BRI AERH RS #GE
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China Everbright Group /B3¢ A&

e China’s first licensed financial holding group

N\ o

e Total assets of more than RMB1.83 trillion as of the end of 2011 Public & &
s FRIE RN RIEREE
* 2011 FIRAEEER. 83%1*7EAE%
\|s/ Ty ‘3+2 Macro Asset
é 7'|: j( *IL HX Management platform’

EVERBRIGHT

China Everbright Bank

Everbright Securities

JeRES

B KIRTT

ABOUT EVERBRIGHT
BRI KR

China Everbright Limited (“Everbright”, stock code: 165), being a
member of China Everbright Group, is a diversified financial services
enterprise operating in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Established in 1997, Everbright persistently purses “3+2 Macro
Asset Management” strategy, focusing on direct investment, asset
management and asset investment, whilst developing fee-based
businesses including investment banking (corporate financing)
and brokerage services (wealth management). Over the past ten
years, Everbright has developed solid market bases in various
sectors and provided diversified services for its clients. Through the
private equity funds, venture capital funds, asset investment funds
and hedge funds from our global fund management platform, we
provide investors with opportunities to invest directly in unlisted
companies with fast growing potential in the Mainland China,
and explore the investment opportunities from overseas for the
mainland investors. Everbright is the second largest shareholder
of the Mainland-based Everbright Securities (SH: 601788) and the
third largest shareholder of China Everbright Bank (SH: 601818).

By leveraging the substantial financial strength of the company
itself, and the position and influence of China Everbright Group and
affiliated companies in the financial industry in China, Everbright has
woven huge cross-border social and business networks in Hong
Kong and the Mainland.
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*3+2 MACRO ASSET MANAGEMENT " STRATEGY
ADJUSTMENT IN 2012

—E - FERI2AEETEER TS

The global economy and financial markets are facing critical challenges. In order to
accommodate its changing needs for growth in such an environment, Everbright will
make proper adjustments to its strategic “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business
platform, while retaining the essence that has made it a success.
RBENSRMSERREAER  RESINERRECREFERNFTE - KAERE
RISREEERRBIAEZNART - BYHI3+2] KEEERFANEBIELEE R

Current "3+2" Macro Asset Management Platform
REMS+2 | REERETA

3 Direct Investment Asset Management Asset Investment
HERE BEERE EXRKE . .
Adjustment in “3”

o ER[3 |25

Investment Banking  Brokerage & Wealth Management
RERIT SESIVLY NS 3t
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2012 NEW “3+2" MACRO ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
T CF 32 KREEBERKTS

We will make adjustments to the “3+2 Macro Asset Management” structure in 2012, while maintaining our Macro Asset Management
strategy. The “3” will be realigned into “primary market investment”, “secondary market investment”, and “structured financing and
investment”, while the fee-based operations represented as “2” will remain unchanged and continue to capitalise on Everbright Securities’
advantageous position in the cross-border fee-based business.

—T——F [3] BHBER—ATHIRE  ZATISRERGEEITREE - (2] SHORERETE  EENAAXKESEBRKEILE
BHENESHEITER

3 - Fund Management & Investment Business

3-ESEERREXY

PRIMARY MARKET
INVESTMENT

—RmERE

Comprising our existing direct investment
and asset investment divisions, which are
the most mature and scalable operations
at Everbright, we will continue to focus
on non-listed enterprises and industries
with long-term growth potential in China.
BEERNEERENELRE &
AEESKANLELRENTS -
BREET AT EERERREN
BIAR ET R ERITE -

SECONDARY MARKET
INVESTMENT
—RmERE

Together with the original asset
management division, the Group
will revamp and launch a brand-
new hedge fund platform with
seed capital.
BREERNEEER - UAE
HETE S RER R
WERES TSR -

INVESTMENT BANKING
RERIT

Acting as sponsors, lead managers
or co-lead managers for IPOs, and
provide financial advisory services
such as share placements, M&A,
privatization and project financing.

B LDIRBA - AR TR
PEMAE - BOINREERA
SFITIRY - IERRATE - W - ¥
B~ ALALRUE B BE SRR T
f -

STRUCTURED FINANCING
AND INVESTMENT
A

Capitalizing on internal funds, Everbright
will provide “investment + financing”
services to enterprises with solid credit
histories and excellent asset quality.
BEROAELS  MAGRFREEEE
ﬁ%%ﬂ@ﬁ%@ﬁ&fﬁf&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ&

BROKERAGE &
WEALTH MANAGEMENT
BRRMEEERE

Providing securities, forex, futures and
bullion trading services, as well as margin
financing, IPO subscription and placement
services. Wealth Management provides an
one-stop financial service platform.

RHES INE - BERFEER SRS - I
BRHEBRORE - FRREMACAARY - Bt
EEREM X ERRETA o



15 YEARS OF PARTNERSHIP
FOSTERS AN INFINITY OF
INVESTMENT VALUE IN CHINA

IKEFRITT165F A EIR IR E(EE

2000

Foreign capital’s increasing interest in Chinese
enterprises facilitated the direct investment business
1997 HNEH R BRI B H IR E

Chinese financial institutions marched into
the overseas market

hE 4 RS S EE I TIE Nurtured financial business in
Hong Kong and commenced

. . o direct investment business
-iy_t S3H S l1=_
ERRRREREIE e Expanded brokerage business to

A B .
Transformed into financial ?%z;x;}%gg%% | ;r:%t;sizgpgjﬁggltles' s
| » holding compan HE - SNEER ' i
memmmegmn 00 CUEEY CECERRARE R ot
o BB AIRIT20%H1E Everbright Bank BZROEEXERELT with several IPO sponsorships in
o WIBAIHARTES49% o Acquired 49% interest in o RIUKKRIERAIFEIRE Hong Kong
o Everbright Securities (FRYDBIRAF - EA o Entered the direct investment
© MEEBZARTRE o Expanded its investment banking EERE R business with the establishment
%zgaa%g»% _ \ and securities brokerage s HEAREEEER A of CEL Venture Capital
. WZ%—/%\ A& BARHE = business in Hong Kong BRBREABESEE (Shenzhen) Limited
REMERE - e Grew into a financial services BT TEZER e |dentified loads of investment

enterprise opportunities and potential

projects, which laid solid
foundation for the Macro Asset
Management
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ly established the Beiing

=
- Zhongguancun venture capital

fund

‘Established asset management

business focusing primarily on
secondary market opportunities
and expanding the capital base
The direct investment division
invested in several projects via
its “China Special Opportunity
Fund I”; later, the “China Special
Opportunity Fund II” and its
parallel fund successfully raised
USD million

Fund management and
investment businesses
stabilized, becoming major profit
contributors to the Company

| Global economy and
financial markets faced
daunting challenges
RBEBERE/MIRIR
Domestic and onshore T B A BB
investments became active

FRER A IMR G EENRE

Established its macro asset
management business and
experiences rapid growth

BYXEEEERR
BIRRERERE

th
MakingWealth
Simple



N
TR

-w”@ A - k- | r_':ul:IPE
caringorganisation

Aevarciedd Ty Thet biong Ko Courdl of Sooml Servce
FoRuFEHEREN

v . ‘ if ) el L
o pmnzERRAES AR - B, . X \-\]'{ j] I{ ]
A @ _ mpERERRN — il ! ¢ 5 4 o .
BiEEE : : .
caringcompany- | ' '
W““g*“‘?a?f;%;f;m

" o T EERE 2011 Milestones
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~ [ 1 H _SE JAN UARY_MARCH 4. Macquarie Everbright Greater China Infrastructure Fund 9. Everbright Ashmore Real Estate Fund participated in
m' E g & = g finished its first tranche of fundraising, making available the “Xinhui Plaza” shopping mall pro‘ect in Shanghai
‘, - ” 1. Everbright and China Everbright Charitable Foundation ““'Tds o USD?Z?‘W”‘OH . . . AAROERERS SRRAR LBINE RS IBIT O
named Caring Company and Caring Organisation HARE 1; RPERRBHE S TTRE—HHE - 7 HHE
KRR B RIS RS D BIEE Al A REME) AR RIET 20X
¥y & B[ FIE B e 10. Everbright received the “Honorable mention award”

7H —gﬁ JULY-SEPTEMBER at the Hong Kong Corporate Governance Award
4H _GE APRIL_JUNE 2011, organised by the Hong Kong Chamber of Listed

5. 2010 Annual Report won the Bronze award for Overall 907'77\'33”'65 - .

Beingmate (stock code: 002570), one of our Presentation in the Banking and Financial Services ERE LT ARHE0NFRAIEAFUE FRE85

: , . . o
investments, was listed on the Shenzhen Stock (Hong Kong and Mainland China) group and Honors for o
Excfwange SME Board Overall Presentation in the Financial Services (General) ‘ ‘ . . o
N ﬁ B EZE(BEESE : 002570) R BHIE LR group in the 2011 International ARC Awards 11. China Aircraft Leasing Holdings Limited purchased
o qa sie |7 N ARTINRELTF X 2010E RS ZOH ARCEIE: . 20 C919 Passenger Jets from Commercial Aircraft
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Corporation of China
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2. Everbright divested 51% interest of Everbright 5
Securmes (I nternational) anted to E\/etbﬂght Securities

St A (EE) AR AES 10A-12A OCTOBER-DECEMBER

Everbright’s investment project China Apparel listed on

HKSE
3. Won three awards including The Most Competitive 6. CEO Chen Shuang took office of Chairman of China TSI AT E BRI EE
Venture Capital Firm of 2010, Best Finance and Venture Universities Alumni Association — Financial Association a o o :
Capital Organization, and Best Public Image from THAHRRLESRESRIBE T/E 12

. China Everbright Charitable Foundation sponsored the

the 2nd China Venture Gapital Forum and The Most Everbright Project which celebrated the festive season

Competitive Ventgre Capﬁa\ \nsmmon of Ch\rja Awards Macquarie Everbright Greater China Infrastructure Fund with the * Happy 141" Christmas Interactive Mega-Party
8 & s established presence in Shanghai with a new office WA E RS 5 i R SR | BT ek 41 |
504 110 FABREAT S AR RIS ERAAES LEAE ittt H

7. Shanghai Headquarters opened

Sponsored the IPO listing of Dragon Crown Group E b= 42 50 I SRR

Holdings Limited (stock code: 0935), and China Vehicle

Components Technology (stock code: 1269) on the 8. Acquired equity interest in China Aircraft Leasing
HKSE Main Board Holdings Limited
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
REME

(HK$ million) (BEEER)

Operating income AT N 767 732 5%
Profit from operations (HK business) REKEREN(BBER) K& 1,422 1,469 (8%)
Share of profits less losses of associates  E{G i = A & F R E 18 643 833 (23%)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders &5 {5 V% Kl 1,923 1,927 (1%)
(HKS) (#7T)

Basic earnings per share FRAEF HK$1.116 | HK$1.189 (6%)
Dividend per share BRRE HK$0.45 HK$0.43 5%

Debt/equity BE X
Return on equity FE e o] $R R




ANNUAL REPORT 2011 =& ——43%§/9

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Operating income
E L6
(HK$EH million & 7TET)

““I ““l |
07 08 09 10 11

Total Equity Attributable to Equity Shareholders
BENARRIRRER
(HK$7 million & &7Ts)

07 08 09 10

Total Assets
REE
(HK$75% million & & 7T:1)

07 08 09 10

26,465

31,100

Profit from operations (Hong Kong Business)
REKLE BB &N (BBER)
(HK$3% ¥ million & & 731)

I I i
07 08 09 10 11

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders
FENARABIRZ & F
(HK$£% million B 7tzh

I I . -
07 08 09 10 11

Basic Earnings Per Share
BRERAT
(HKS$%1 million H&7Tat)

07 08 09 10 11
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SOLID PROGRESS THROUGH

15 YEARS

OF DEDICATION
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREE

/%E “§ :

Tang Shuangning & 5
Chairman &

The global and domestic economies were highly complex and
challenging in 2011. Nevertheless, the Company and its subsidiaries
(“the Group” or “Everbright”) overcame these challenges and seized
opportunities. Backed by the parent company, China Everbright
Group, and its strong network across the Mainland China,
Everbright embarked upon building a large-scale, cross-border
asset management platform in 2011, successfully enhancing its
strengths and branding advantages in private equity funds and
other areas by making full use of Hong Kong’s position as an
international financial center with easy connections to domestic and
overseas capital markets.

First, under the “3+2 Macro Asset Management” strategy, our
efforts throughout the year have rewarded us with sound progress
in the establishment of various investment funds, in particular
the Greater China Infrastructure Fund, which was co-developed
with the Australia-based Macquarie Group. Despite the grim
conditions of the global market, the Group successfully completed
the first tranche of fundraising by increasing the capital pool of the
Greater China Infrastructure Fund to USD 729 million, which was a
testament to the confidence placed in China’s long-term economic
growth by foreign capital as well as Everbright’s Asset Management
platform. As of the end of 2011, the number of private equity funds,
venture capital funds, asset investment funds and hedge funds had
increased to 12. The total fundraising amount exceeded HK$16.8
billion, with fair value of assets under management exceeding
HK$17.7 billion. Overall, the value of investments remained stable.

THE GLOBAL AND DOMESTIC
ECONOMIES WERE HIGHLY
COMPLEX AND CHALLENGING
[N 2011.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

Second, given the demand of China and Hong Kong companies for
diversified investment and financing products, Everbright actively
expanded its “Structured Investment and Financing” business,
during the year, this business generated stable and rewarding
interest income by fully capitalizing on the Group’s robust capital
strength and vast project resources.

Third, the Group and its associated company, Everbright Securities
Company Limited (“Everbright Securities”), successfully integrated
the Hong Kong-based investment banking, brokerage and wealth
management businesses. This combined our platform with
Everbright Securities’s customer and network resources in the
Mainland building a large-scale, cross-border fee-based platform
with sharper market competitiveness.

As of the end of 2011, the Group’s profit attributable to equity
shareholders amounted to HK$1.92 billion. Cash amounted to
approximately HK$4.25 billion, with gearing ratio, calculated
as interest-bearing liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity,
maintained at a healthy level of 5.8%. These sound financial
conditions have greatly enhanced the Group’s protection against
risk and laid a solid foundation for stable expansion in the future.

The associates reported healthy results during the year. In 2011,
Everbright Securities, in which the Group holds a 33.33% stake,
navigated the volatility effectively to achieve stable operating results.
Its traditional businesses such as IPO sponsorship, underwriting
equity and fund trading maintained steady gains in market share.
New businesses such as asset management, margin financing
and stock borrowing continued to achieve breakthroughs, and
their impressive revenue contributions have confirmed Everbright
Securities” ascent to industry leadership. The futures business
also bucked the market trend to record growth, further optimizing
Everbright Securities’ revenue structure and enhancing its core
competitiveness. China Everbright Bank Company Limited, in which
the Group holds a 4.51% stake, reported an asset size in excess of
RMB1,700 billion at the end of 2011, delivering robust profit growth
and ever-improving asset quality. All arrangements for the listing of
its H-shares are in place. China Everbright Bank will initiate steps
for the issuance of H-shares at an opportune time.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRE

EVERBRIGHT WILL MAINTAIN ITS STRATEGY OF
‘“PROGRESSING WITH PRUDENCE" IN 2012 WHILE
REMAINING COMMITTED TO DEVELOPING ITS
‘MACRO ASSET MANAGEMENT” BUSINESS WITH THE
AIM OF ACHIEVING STABLE PROFIT GROWTH.

REF[BP A R - EERTERINEETRIXED - ERANW

FRER -

The global and domestic financial landscapes remain uncertain,
together with the weakening economies of the U.S., Europe and
Japan, the outlook of global economic recovery still seems fragile.
Emerging markets including China are facing pressure to sustain
economic growth and inflation control. All of these factors are
expected to have significant impacts on the Chinese and Hong
Kong capital markets in 2012.

Therefore, Everbright will maintain its strategy of “progressing with
prudence” in 2012 while remaining committed to developing its
“Macro Asset Management” business. We will further optimize
and expand our primary and secondary market funds as well as
the Structured Investment and Financing business, with the aim of
achieving stable profit growth. In addition, the Group will leverage
its capital strength to undertake mergers and acquisitions when
opportunities arise while ensuring proper risk control. Guiding
domestic and overseas capital to invest in China will remain
fundamental to our businesses, and we will continue to build
channels to facilitate domestic capital having access to overseas
markets.

Since our establishment in 1997, the Group weathered various
adversities and challenges in Hong Kong and China’s financial
markets. From being the holding company of a Chinese bank and
a Chinese securities firm, the Group has now developed into a
diversified financial services enterprise focusing on cross-border,
large scale asset management as the cornerstone of our business,
as well as engaging in the domestic securities market. | would
like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, clients, the general public, members of the Board,
the management and employees for their valuable support and
dedication to the Group’s development over the past 15 years. |
believe that with your continued support, the Group will keep taking
confident strides towards growth by accurately timing the economic
cycles and creating greater value for our shareholders and clients.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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THIS ASSET MANAGEMENT PLATFORM PROVIDES
INTERNATIONAL SERVICES TO OVERSEAS
CUSTOMERS, ENABLING

INFINITE DEVELOPMENT
CAPACITY AND POTENTIAL
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TTHRE SRS

CHINA'S PRIVATE EQUITY INDUSTRY PROSPERED

OVER THE LAST DECADE

TENEESREBETFEREER -

2011 FULL YEAR RESULTS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER'S REPORT

China’s economy has been enjoying rapid expansion and seeing
a continuous inflow of foreign capital in search of opportunities.
Meanwhile, years of technological innovation and management
upgrades have resulted in a surge of vigorously competitive
companies. This, combined with the increasing growth momentum
of China’s capital markets, has laid a solid foundation for the private
equity sector.

The Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group” or “Everbright”)
have made the most of the opportunities created by China’s rapid
economic growth by leveraging the extensive network of its parent
company, China Everbright Group in China, as well as their solid
operating experience in Hong Kong. Since the establishment of
CEL Venture Capital (Shenzhen) Limited in 2001 and the Group’s
first USD-denominated private equity fund, SeaBright China Special
Opportunities (I) Limited (“SOF 1”) in 2004 (which was set up with
foreign capital), the Group has achieved satisfactory investment
results and management effectiveness. Capitalising on these
strengths, the Group has gradually built up a cross-border, large-
scale asset management platform focusing on private equity
funds, venture capital funds and asset investments funds as its
cornerstones. Focused on investment opportunities arising out of
China, these 12 funds have been generating rewarding retuns for
Everbright and our investors.
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Business Unit Funds Year of launch Investment focus Fund raised
E S ES % KA FH REEH EEERE
Direct investment SOF | 2004 industry and service industry USD50 million
BERE HERRIE RS IERREE 50008%T
CSOF 2007 telecom, media, hi-tech and USD100 million
FEERIEEES consumer goods 18X
B B SRBREER
CSOF il 2010 agriculture, consumer goods, USD400 million
REERE g ERI services and financial auxiliary AEET
industry
B%  HEX BBER
SRR
Beijing Zhongguncun Investment 2007 high-growth manufacturing, RMB200 million
Fund hi-tech and service industry AREE2(ET
IRPBNERREES RERRER  BRBRRERBRITE
Everbright Guolian Fund 2009 high-growth industries, RMB500 million
oGS eghitech ARBSET
BURER BN
Everbright Jiangyin Venture 2009 hi-tech industry RMB500 million
Investment Fund BEEE ARESEL
RRIRERES
Asset Investment Everbright Ashmore Real Estate 2009 China real estate Approximately
EXRE Fund HEFEE USD347 milion
KRZRFHEES H3.4718ETT
Macquarie Everbright Infrastructure 2011 China infrastructure, USD769 million
Fund e.g. foll roads, airports (Target: USD1.5 billion)
HALRBERRHES HELERERE - WB R - 7.69(8ETT
B5% (BBER=15EET)
Everbright Jiangyin New Energy (Low 2010 new materials/environmental energy RMB1 billion
Carbon) Asset Investment Fund STEL/ BIRER ARBA0fET
RATIRIR(ER)EXREES
Asset Management Dragon Fund 2005 secondary market in USD16 million
EEER EEES Greater China 1,6008%7T
APE-Hm5
Equity Advantage Fund 2010 HK-listed SMEs HK$200 million
b RS AL T
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Notwithstanding problems such as economic restructuring,
tightening measures on the real estate market and local
governments’ mounting debt concerns, the central Government
is now sitting on ample resources given the rapid economic
development of the past 30 years. Also, its experience and ability
to address economic downturns has improved substantially.
Despite slowdowns and policy adjustments, China’s economic
outlook in the long run remains positive as its population of 1.3
billion continues to drive domestic demand. In addition, demand for
diversified investment products have seen a significant increase due
to the continued accumulation of wealth by Chinese companies
and individuals. With the gradual opening-up of national fiscal
policy and the progressive internationalisation of the Renminbi, the
liberalisation of China’s domestic capital to international markets
is in progress. Also, asset price slumps in Europe and the US
following the financial crisis have offered overseas expansion
opportunities via mergers and acquisitions for some Chinese
companies.

As such, Everbright will strengthen its foothold in China and
continue to expand its “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business.
Guided by the National 12th Five-year Plan, we will diversify our
fund types as appropriate. Everbright has demonstrated solid
strength in connecting the capital investment needs of domestic
and overseas clients, as well as identifying potential investment
opportunities in China. We will strive to solidify our international
asset management platform via our Hong Kong listing status so as
to explore more offshore investment opportunities for our domestic
clients.
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CHINA'S ECONOMIC OUTLOOK REMAINS POSITIVE AS
ITS POPULATION OF 1.3 BILLION CONTINUES TO DRIVE

DOMESTIC DEMAND.
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OPERATING RESULTS

Against the backdrop of a volatile market, our “3+2 Macro Asset
Management” businesses continued to grow healthily in 2011.
The “3” hereby refers to the fund investment and management
business, which includes primary market funds covering private
equity funds, venture capital funds and asset investment funds.
During the year, our primary market investment funds expanded the
asset scale significantly and generated stable investment revenue.
The hedge funds of asset management business that focused on
the secondary market reported a loss as a result of the volatile
equity market that was adversely affected by the European debt
crisis.

With regard to the fee-based operations, the “2”, the Group
completed the integration of its fee-based businesses comprising
Hong Kong investment banking, brokerage and wealth
management divisions with its associated company, Everbright
Securities Company Limited (“Everbright Securities”), by transferring
a 51% stake of Everbright Securities (International), and this
generated lucrative returns. Backed by strong internal resources,
the “Structured Investment and Financing business” also generated
ample interest income.

During the year Everbright Securities saw its profits drop by a
relatively large margin amidst the downtrend of the Mainland
stock market, while operating conditions remained stable. China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (“Everbright Bank”) has
committed to push forward its H-share listing in Hong Kong to fulfil
its capital needs for business expansion, whilst maintaining rapid
growth.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s profit attributable to
equity shareholders amounted to HK$1.92 billion, remaining
stable against last year. Earnings per share decreased 6.1% year
on year to HK$1.116. Apart from profit contributions from the
Hong Kong operations, the profit contribution from Everbright
Securities decreased 24% to HK$637 million. Dividend income
from Everbright Bank increased by 154% to HK$212 million. The
divestment of 51% interest in Everbright Securities (International)
generated a gain of HK$512 million. During the year, our share
holdings in Everbright Bank and some listed companies under
our private equity funds portfolio saw a decline in market prices.
As a result, as of 31 December 2011, total equity attributable to
equity shareholders amounted to HK$26.47 billion, representing a
decrease of HK$1.68 billion over the last fiscal year. The interest-
bearing gearing ratio maintained a very low level of 5.8%. The
Board of Directors recommended a final dividend of HK$0.30
per share (2010: HK$0.30 per share). Together with the interim
dividend of HK$0.15 per share, the annual dividend was HK$0.45
per share (2010: HK$0.43 per share).
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THE “3” UNDER THE GROUP’S “3+2 MACRO
ASSET MANAGEMENT” PLATFORM HAS BECOME

THE MAJOR PROFIT CONTRIBUTOR.

[3+2 REEEBEFE T  [BIRMMESRE R EERS

EEKRSFBENERNR

OPERATING RESULTS (CONTINUED)
Everbright decided to repurchase and cancel 3.58 million shares
from 23 September to 10 October 2011.

HONG KONG OPERATIONS

In Hong Kong, the fund investment and management operations,
which refer to the “3” under the Group’s “3+2 Macro Asset
Management” platform, have become the major profit contributor.
The seed capital invested in these funds serves as a vote of
confidence for our fund management teams and our asset
management platform, while enabling us to share capital gains from
the long-term investments in these funds. With our established fund
management model, we are diligent in outlining our fundraising
goals and planning ahead for the next tranche of fundraising
exercises upon the funds’ investment and realisation strategy, so as
to solidly expand assets under management and enhance sources
of stable income.

Shareholders’ Equity Portfolio
KR EmDEE
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Profit Contribution Portfolio
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WE SLOWED DOWN THE PACE OF INVESTMENTS IN THE
FIRST THREE QUARTERS, WE INVESTED PRUDENTLY UNTIL
WE SAW A SIGNIFICANT DROP IN PRICING LEVEL.

AEBHEN=FEWNE T SETHRETK
EMAKRENE »

HONG KONG OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

In 2011, global economic uncertainties and excessive competition
across China’s private equity sector led to market distortion,
by which prices in primary markets exceeded those of listed
investments in secondary markets. Over the first three quarters,
the Group adopted a responsible investment approach by slowing
down the pace of investments, aiming to preserve capital strength,
while closely monitoring market conditions and investing prudently
in the fourth quarter, until we saw a significant drop in the pricing
level. In addition, fundraising for the Greater China Infrastructure
Fund, a joint venture with the Australia-based Macquarie Group,
also achieved remarkable progress during the year, further
strengthening the business scale of our Asset Investment division.

As of the end of 2011, we had a total of 12 investment funds
under management. The total funds raised by these funds reached
approximately HK$16.8 billion, with a fair value of approximately
HK$17.7 billion. These funds included overseas private equity
funds, domestic venture capital funds, asset investment funds
(covering real estate, infrastructure and low-carbon new energy),
hedge funds and secondary market funds for small to medium-
sized businesses. The number of projects invested in by the funds
increased to 36, of which 6 have listed in different markets. The
addition of fund products not only offered clients more options
and flexibility in asset allocations, but also effectively enhanced
the stability of our profits by allowing the Group to build a healthy
investment pipeline and divestment cycle.

Fee-based operations, hereby denoting “2” under the “3+2
Macro Asset Management” platform, successfully integrated with
Everbright Securities during the year, laying a solid foundation for
accelerating the development of cross-border financial services
and solutions. This is expected to create business synergy. Based
on the development trends of cross-border financial activities, the
Group also continued to explore growth opportunities. The new
“Structured Financing & Investment” division was set up to meet the
structured financing needs identified in the process of developing
the fund business, and it achieved substantial growth during the
year.
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Changes in the number of projects invested in
by the funds over the past five years

ESOREBABEBERFEL

Changes in the total amount raised by
the funds over the past several years

ESEEHEBEHFEL

(HK$100 milion &7 7T)
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HONG KONG OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

As of 31 December 2011, the operating income of our Hong
Kong operations amounted to HK$0.68 billion, representing a
year-on-year increase of 82%. Profit before tax of Hong Kong
operations increased 5% compared with the same period last year
to HK$1.41 billion, inclusive of the gain of HK$512 million derived
from the sale of a 51% stake in Everbright Securities (International).
Total expenses increased 12% to HK$408 million, with operating
costs increasing by HK$20 million to HK$348 million, which was
attributable mainly to the increase in finance costs as well as in
office operating expenses. Total cost-to-income ratio was 27%,
which was 10% higher than the 17% for the same period last year.
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Profit before Tax of Hong Kong
Operations for the past five years

ERERBAENAEFRR
(HKS$ million & &5 T)

1,422

3
II-I.
11

Profit before Tax Attributable to the six
business segments
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“3” FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS

Direct Investment

During the year, Direct Investment Division reported HK$0.7 billion
in pre-tax profit, representing a decrease of 48% compared with
the last fiscal year. The Division placed strategic focus on China,
with the aim of accurately at timely economic and market cycles as
well as identifying unlisted companies with high growth potential.
Our fundamental investment principle is to create a supportive
environment in which our portfolio companies can realize their full
potential of business operations and growth. This aims to enhance
their management efficiency, optimise their business structure and
ultimately seek listing status on the capital market. As of the end of
2011, we had 8 new investments, while the unrealised projects in
the portfolio increased to 30.

Number of listed projects and projects at
investment stage of private equity funds
under direct investment, versus projects at
investment stage of venture capital funds
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“3” FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Direct Investment (continued)

Private Equity Funds under Direct Investment Division

There are four offshore private equity funds under the China Special
Opportunities Fund series, which target primarily private companies
with sound operating models and strong growth potential. During
the year, our private equity funds made healthy progress in
investments and exits.

SOF |is currently in the divestment stage, and two of its five
portfolio companies have gone public. Despite the sharp correction
in equity markets triggered by the European debt crisis in 2011,
the Fund made timely exits and hence generated satisfactory
gains. The remaining three projects are actively preparing for
IPOs in different capital markets. The China Special Opportunities
Fund L.P. (“CSOF”) and its “parallel investment fund” are also
at the divestment stage. Amongst its eight portfolio companies,
iSoftStone, a leading software company with a promising outlook,
successfully listed on the New York Stock Exchange in December
2010, while the Zhejiang-based Beingmate was listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in April 2011, delivering substantial
investment returns. Given China’s rising income levels and the
stronger purchasing power of its younger generations over the
past few years, CSOF is optimistic that demand for consumer
goods will increase. For this reason, it has gained exposure to
various projects related to consumer goods manufacturing and
distribution networks in China that are expected to maintain robust
growth momentum on the back of supportive government policies
encouraging domestic consumption. The USD 400 million “China
Special Opportunities Fund IllI” reviewed over 200 potential projects
during the year under review. Due to intense competition in the
private equity sector in China, the Fund only added an investment
in the medical care-related industry during the first three quarters.
Another three investments were made in the fourth quarter when
valuation returned to a more reasonable level, of which China
Outfitters and Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy were listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at the end of 2011.
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“3” FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Direct Investment (continued)

Venture Capital Funds under Direct Investment Division

The three Mainland RMB-denominated venture capital funds
primarily invested in private companies during their start-up and
expansion phases. The venture capital fund established with
Beijing Zhongguancun completed all of its investments, some
of which are actively preparing for IPOs. The two venture capital
funds established in Wuxi City and Jiangyin City, each with capital
of RMB500 million, added two investments. One has obtained
approval from the Public Offering Review Committee of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) and is currently in the
pre-IPO stage, while the other has submitted its application for
A-share listing. Following years of cultivation, the Group anticipates
that the venture capital funds business will become the next
profitable revenue source. During the year, the Group’s venture
capital funds added 4 new investments, bringing the portfolio
companies to a total of 14.

WE BUILT STRONG TEAMS OF
INVESTMENT PROFESSIONALS TO
MAXIMISE THE LONG-TERM BENEFITS
OF THESE SECTORS.
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Asset Investment

Asset Investment Division reported a profit of HK$2.08 million,
a decrease of 45%. Our investment teams were committed to
identifying opportunities in growth sectors with mid- to long-term
growth potential, so as to maximise benefits. The division added
5 new investments during the year, bringing the total number of
investments to 6.
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OUR REAL ESTATE FUND CONTINUED
TO EXPLORE CHINA'S COMMERCIAL
AND RETAIL PROJECTS

FHEESFHEDRTEANMHEE

TEMERNR

“3" FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Asset Investment (continued)

Real Estate Fund under Asset Investment Division

In 2011, the Chinese Government continued to intensify its control
over the property market across the territory by tightening bank
credit and raising interest rates. These tightened liquidity conditions
created favourable investment opportunities for our Everbright
Ashmore China Real Estate Fund.

During the year, the Real Estate Fund continued to invest in
commercial and retail property projects in China. Amongst
these, the Chongging Imix Park Project located at Guangyingiao
Pedestrian Street, Jiang Bei District, Chongqging, was developed
as an important leisure and shopping centre with active rental
activities and rapid growth in project value. The Fund undertook
in-depth research on several projects during the year. It added
four commercial property projects located in big cities such as
Shenyang and Shanghai at the end of 2011. The first tranche of
the US Dollar fund had completed most of its investments, while
the second tranche of fundraising will begin in 2012 with the
preparation of a RMB real estate fund.

T&C (Beijing) Asset Management Consulting Limited, under the
Everbright Ashmore platform, is a professional nation-wide retail
and commercial property services consultancy providing a wide
range of property management services to numerous domestic and
overseas developers as well as institutional investors. In 2011, T&C
provided project development and management as well as leasing
agency and operations management services, which effectively
facilitated the expansion of our real estate funds in China’s
commercial property sector and greatly enhanced corporate value.

As of the end of 2011, Everbright Ashmore Real Estate Fund
managed assets worth approximately USD 347 million.
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THE INFRASTRUCTURE SECTOR HAS IMMENSE

POTENTIAL GROWTH IN CHINA.

ELTR T

“3" FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Asset Investment (continued)

Infrastructure Fund under Asset Investment Division

The Greater China Infrastructure Fund, a joint venture with the
Australia-based Macquarie Group with a fundraising target of USD
1.5 billion, successfully completed the first tranche of overseas
fundraising in mid-2011, raising USD 479 million while receiving
an additional USD 250 million co-investment commitment from an
investor. Given the solid progress of fundraising, the Fund’s capital
pool was close to USD 800 million as of the end of 2011. Following
the success in fundraising, the Fund’s management team has
carried out in-depth research on potential investments in numerous
toll roads, gas pipelines, railways and ports across China. Several
of these have obtained approval from the investment committee to
conduct comprehensive due diligence. The Group believes China’s
continuous economic growth will translate into immense potential
for the infrastructure sector. The relatively tight liquidity conditions
in the Mainland offer favourable opportunities for the Fund, with its
professional evaluation system, to participate in large-scale projects
with stable long-term revenue at a reasonable cost.

In order to facilitate its investments in China’s infrastructure projects,
Everbright and Macquarie Group entered into a Memorandum of
Understanding with Pudong New District of Shanghai, targeting to
establish a RMB-denominated fund and a RMB-fund management
company. The management team launched roadshows for the
RMB fund, leveraging our own and China Everbright Group’s
strong networks in the Mainland’s financial system.

Low-Carbon New Energy Fund under Asset Investment Division

Due to the increasingly intensive competition in China’s wind and
solar energy sectors, our low-carbon new energy fund shifted
its investment focus towards new materials, energy saving and
environmental friendly projects. During the year, the investment
team reviewed over 200 companies and selected quality projects
for ongoing observation. In 2011, the Fund invested in a high-tech
company engaging primarily in the research, development, design
and manufacturing of high-speed dynamic seals. This company
has huge market potential as it possesses one of the strongest
research and development capabilities in the Mainland China
offering products that can significantly reduce energy consumption
of high-end turbo-machinery such as steam turbines, industrial
combustion turbine engines and aero-engines.
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Changes in assets of the three funds under Asset Investment over the past two years
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“3"” FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Asset Investment (continued)

Aviation Leasing under Asset Investment Division

In June 2011, Everbright acquired a 48% stake of China Aircraft
Leasing Holdings Limited (“China Aircraft Leasing”), which
possesses domestic and overseas leasing platforms. We are
able to enjoy lower procurement costs and tax rates on aircraft
purchases and asset acquisitions through the overseas platform.
At the same time, we can leverage the competitive advantage of
China’s tax-protected zone to greatly reduce transaction costs
through the domestic platform.

As of the end of 2011, China Aircraft Leasing had 10 commercial
aircrafts, which allowed the airline to optimise its fleet structure
and lower its financing costs through sale-and-leaseback. China
Aircraft Leasing has built long-term relationships with a number of
state-owned airlines in the Mainland and is generating stable and
fast-growing operating revenue. The Group will further develop its
financial leasing business and look to promote investment funds in
the aviation industry by capitalising on its success and experience
operating in China and Hong Kong'’s financial sectors as well as by
utilising China Aircraft Leasing’s favourable platform.
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“3” FUND INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT
OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Asset Management

Asset Management Division focuses on investments in secondary
markets, with the aim of offering clients more options for a flexible
asset allocation, in addition to Direct Investment and Asset
Investment in the primary market. The division has managed two
funds with a loss of HK$206 million, and a strategic portfolio which
booked an impairment loss of HK$69 million in 2011.

The “Dragon Fund” under Asset Management Division

“Dragon Fund”, the hedge fund focusing on Asia (excluding Japan),
was established in 2005 with an objective to maximize returns by
investing in stocks, bonds and currencies, and also utilising to a
variety of hedging operations. Following the global financial crisis in
2008, most external investors of the Fund redeemed their relevant
investments. Given its moderate performance, the Group decided
to discontinue the Dragon Fund so as to ensure more effective use
of resources. During the year, the Dragon Fund showed a -31.5%
return in the year, while the corresponding Hang Seng Index
dropped by 29.5%.

The “Equity Advantage Fund” under Asset Management Division

The principal investment philosophy of the “Equity Advantage Fund”
is to identify small and medium-sized Chinese enterprises listed
abroad with sustainable growth potential. In light of the market
correction and the liquidity crunch of small-cap stocks in 2011, the
Fund showed a —29.6% return in the year, while the MSCI China
Small Cap Index dropped by 39.6%.

Newly established business under Asset Management Division

The asset management business that focuses on the secondary
market is an essential element in our “Macro Asset Management”
strategy. As a way to expand the secondary market fund platform,
Everbright introduced management teams with strong hedge
fund experience during the year to strengthen the current hedge
fund platform with enhanced competitiveness. Meanwhile, we
continue to actively consider the possibility of acquiring other asset
management companies with a view to increasing its market share
in the secondary market through acquisition, whilst lowering costs
and maintaining the stability of the current investment teams as well
as the size of assets under management.
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THE INTEGRATION OF THE HONG KONG-BASED INVESTMENT BANKING,
BROKERAGE AND WEALTH MANAGEMENT BUSINESSES (RENAMED AS
“EVERBRIGHT SECURITIES (INTERNATIONAL)") WAS COMPLETED

HERERT

‘2" FEE-BASED BUSINESS

During the year, the integration of the Hong Kong-based investment
banking, brokerage and wealth management businesses (renamed
as “Everbright Securities (International)”) with associate Everbright
Securities was completed, with all legal procedures concluded
in May 2011. After the integration, Everbright Securities became
the controlling shareholder of Everbright Securities (International)
with a 51% shareholding. Given its extensive customer base and
sales network in the Mainland, the integration will further enhance
income from securities brokerage, IPO sponsors and underwriting
services. In addition to the share in profits entitled against its 49%
shareholding, the Group also enjoyed an additional share of profit
generated for its 33.33% shareholding in Everbright Securities.
Furthermore, the Group received HK$891 million in cash from its
divestment, allowing it to further strengthen its resource base to
develop its macro asset management business.

In 2011, the Hong Kong stock market was hit hard by the
tightening of liquidity in China and the ongoing Eurozone debt
crisis, which caused overall turnover to drop approximately 55%
compared with the same period last year. The performance and
revenue of the brokerage and wealth management businesses of
Everbright Securities (International), which mainly target individual
investors, were affected since they are closely correlated with the
transaction volume of Hong Kong’s securities market. On the other
hand, the investment banking business, which primarily focuses on
SMEs in China, sponsored the Main Board listing of Dragon Crown
Group and China Vehicle Components Technology in Hong Kong
in 2011 and was actively involved in sponsoring and underwriting
Everbright Bank’s H-share IPO listing. The Group’s share in profits
of Everbright Securities (International) in 2011 was HK$6.1 million.

R hM2El X E(Eanl LEER ] ESFRBEEE

M2 B M 575

FR - ANEBEBLNFANAEBLFRE
BIRERIT KERMEERER(E4
BIRFHEDBEASZHEBFBIEE - WK
FAMTERITAEEZRFE - SHES
HRFEH K B K EBIFES51%E AT
MR - AR — SR AN KES
ERNEFERMBLE  RAZFS
MNBEAELR I ETRE - &Sk
A A E B TEIR B 49% 1 25 A [F] B -
— 5 E B BB KB #33.33% Ak i
E— D ERFEEEERMERAK
o FIRAS BT R 5P RERL B
BONELIRE ' JE—FEFERER
KEEETRER -

- FEBEIXANMBRE RS M

BEEHREEREZE  RMHRAE
TH BENRELEFEATEY

55% - JtEBRMEL MY EEIEER
NEARBEERTIEEFE  RBEF
BEFMIGNKZERIEE  XM5
FEWANB TG - RERITEBAS
NINMEERTIBEFPAR  E-F
——ERINREEAEE  PEBEHE
BMEEEFTEIRLET - XEHRSEN]
RIRFTHAR - AR MAGH TR TIE ©
—E——5F AEEDEXERRAF
RB6108 T



CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED R BR3¢ A% B R A F / 30

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT
THRERS

STRUCTURED FINANCING & INVESTMENT BUSINESS
Due to the increasingly frequent economic and financial activities
between China and Hong Kong, this gives a significant boost
to demand for alternate investment options other than equity
investment. While our “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business
continues to grow rapidly, this prompted us to consider establishing
structured financial products with strong resources that offer both
equity investment and short to medium-term financing to clients
with good credit records and asset quality.

As such, we established the Capital Investment & Financing
Department. Leveraging our capital-rich position and the demand
for short to medium-term financing under China’s relatively tight
monetary policies, we increased the “investment + financing”
resources for projects that have high potential but are not suitable
for investment by existing funds, through stringent due diligence
conducted on both the industry and the project itself, plus high
requirements of collateral. This business model allows Everbright
to enjoy the benefits of these projects’ long-term development
potential and capital appreciation as post-IPO investment. Through
various transaction structures, the Group is able to support the
enterprises with appropriate financing, ultimately generating
rewarding interest income whilst prudently managing risk. In 2011,
this division had four successful full loan settlements. The remaining
six projects continue stable operations and repayment of relevant
principal and interest. During the year, the business reported profit
before tax of HK$374 million.

Considering the favourable outlook for this business in China,
the Group will build on its established Marco Asset Management
strategy, and is currently arranging for the initiation of a RMB-
denominated Mezzanine fund with structured investment and
financing features. The fund can invest in both unlisted and listed
enterprises while also participating in the lending business, hence
further expanding the Group’s range of products and size of assets
under management.
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EVERBRIGHT SECURITIES

Impacted by the Eurozone debt crisis, the Chinese Government’s
tightened monetary policies and investors’ concerns over China’s
long-term economic restructuring, the Mainland stock market was
sluggish in 2011. The CSI 300 Index declined approximately 25%
from the beginning of the year, while both the transaction volume
and commission rate of the brokerage business dropped. Despite
the adverse market conditions, Everbright Securities, in which the
Group holds a 33.33% stake, managed to secure stable operating
results and maintain its market position. During the period under
review, Everbright Securities strengthened its market share in its
traditional operations, its transaction volume of equities, funds,
warrants and bonds ranked in the top 10 in the industry, while
its investment banking business, completed 15 lead sponsor
projects during the year. According to WIND Information Research,
Everbright Securities ranked seventh as the equities lead sponsors.
Innovative businesses maintained sound competitiveness. The
latest statistics from the Securities Association of China indicated
that Everbright Securities’ asset management revenue (excluding
fund management) ranked number one among its peers, while
it enjoyed a 7.02% of share in the margin financing and stock
borrowing business, establishing a leadership position. During the
year, the Company’s revenue structure continued to improve, and
it was again rated by the CSRC as a Category A — AA securities
house.

In addition, Everbright Securities Financial Holdings Limited,
a subsidiary of Everbright Securities, became one of the first
companies to be approved as a Renminbi Qualified Foreign
Institutional Investor (RQFII).

Everbright Securities reported operating income of RMB4.5 billion
in 2011, representing a decrease of 11% over the same period
last year. Brokerage, investment banking, asset management
(including fund management), sales transactions and other revenue
accounted for 40%, 14%, 16%, 3% and 27% respectively of
its operating income. Profits attributable to equity shareholders
decreased by 29.8% year-on-year to RMB1.6 billion.

As at the date, Everbright Securities had 117 sales offices
nationwide.
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EVERBRIGHT BANK

During the year, Everbright Bank, in which the Group holds a 4.51%
stake, reported healthy development across all operations with
continuous improvement in its asset quality. As of 31 December
2011, based on the unaudited accounts released by Everbright
Bank on 19 January 2012, pre-tax profit amounted to RMB24.2
billion, a significant increase of 41% compared to the same period
last year. Due to more stringent capital requirements prescribed
for domestic commercial banks, Everbright Bank embarked on
preparations for the issuance of H-shares in Hong Kong, in order
to strengthen its capital base and fund its future development. The
proposed issuance has obtained all the necessary approvals from
the relevant authorities, and the listing will be completed when
market conditions permit.

As of 31 December 2011, Everbright Bank had 689 branches
nationwide.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$31.1 billion, with cash on hand of approximately
HK$4.25 billion. Apart from current liabilities in the ordinary course
of business and those related to derivative financial instruments,
the Group’s major liability is bank loans of approximately HK$1.13
billion. Bank loans are obtained to finance the Group’s working
capital investment projects in Mainland China. The actual borrowing
depends on the Group’s business and investment needs. As of
31 December 2011, the Group’s committed borrowing facilities
amounted to approximately HK$2.45 billion. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated as interest bearing liabilities divided by
shareholders’ equity was 5.8% as of 31 December 2011 (31
December 2010: 3.9%). The Group had no material exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations other than assets and bank loans
denominated in Renminbi and United States Dollars.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business
operations of the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the
Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s risk management
objective is to maximise shareholders’ value and to reduce volatility
in earnings, while maintaining risk exposure within acceptable limits.

The Group’s work in the area of risk management is led by the
Chief Risk Officer and the Risk Management Group and execution
is mainly carried out by the Risk Management Department. This
functional structure can assess, identify and document the Group’s
risk profile and ensure that the business units focus, control and
systematically avoid potential risks in various areas of business. The
following is a brief description of the Group’s approach in managing
these risks.

(@) Creditrisk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to advances
to customers, trade and other receivables, debt investments
and unlisted derivative financial instruments.

In general, for advances to customers, the Group requires
collateral from customers before advances are granted. The
amount of an advance permitted depends on the quality and
value of collateral provided by the customer. Any subsequent
change in value, as well as quality, of collateral is closely
monitored in order to determine whether any corrective action
is required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group’s
investment activities. Receivables from brokers and
counterparties are normally repayable on demand. The Group
has established procedures in the selection of brokers/
counterparties with sound credit ratings and/or reputation.

Investments in debt instruments and unlisted derivative
financial instruments are also governed by whether the issuers
and the trade counterparties have sound credit ratings.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has well defined policies in place on the setting
and approval of trading, credit and investment position limits
in order to manage its credit risk exposure and concentration.
As of the balance sheet date, the Group does not have a
significant concentration of credit risk other than the provision
of advances to customers which are secured by residential
leasehold land in the Mainland, equity shares and third party
guarantees of RMB400 million (31 December 2010: RMB600
million), HK$565 million (31 December 2010: HK$nil) and
HK$1,223 million (31 December 2010: HK$nil) respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into
account any collateral held is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial
instruments, on the balance sheet date deducting any
impairment allowance. Except for the corporate guarantees
set out in note 37(a), the Group does not provide any other
guarantees that would expose the Group to greater credit
risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
corporate guarantee at the balance sheet date amounted to
HK$1,147 million (31 December 2010: HK$1,204 million).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from advances to customers
are set out in notes 21, 34 and 39(a) to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly assess current and
expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that it maintains
reserves of cash, readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements, the
Group closely monitors their liquidity position. To ensure strict
compliance, the Group maintains adequate cash reserves
to prepare for immediate fund injection if required. If there is
a medium to long-term operational needs, the management
would also consider adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital
structures with external equity stakeholders, which are
generally responsible for their own liquidity management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate exposure
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within an
acceptable range. Most of the Group’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities are on a floating rate basis with maturity of one
to nine years.

The Group’s interest rate positions arise from treasury
and operating activities. Interest rate risk arises in treasury
management, customer financing and investment portfolios.
Interest rate risk primarily results from the timing differences
in the repricing of interest-bearing assets, liabilities and
commitments. It also relates to positions from non-interest
bearing liabilities including shareholders’ funds and current
accounts, as well as from certain fixed rate loans. Interest
rate risk is managed by the Treasury Department under the
delegated authority of the Board of Directors. The instruments
used to manage interest rate risk include time deposits and
interest rate linked derivatives, if necessary.

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk primarily stems from
holdings of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than Hong Kong dollars and net investment
in overseas subsidiaries and associates. As most of the
Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and net investment in
foreign subsidiaries and associates are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars or Renminbi, the
management does not consider there to be any significant
currency risk.

Overall, the Group monitors its currency exposure closely and
would consider hedging significant currency exposure should
the need arise.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments classified as trading securities, available-
for-sale securities (note 19), financial assets designated as
fair value through profit or loss (note 20) and financial liabilities
designated as fair value through profit or loss. Other than
unlisted securities held for medium to long-term strategic
purposes, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments, other than some available-
for-sale securities that are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, are mainly listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
or sell trading securities rest with assigned investment team
professionals, and each investment portfolio is governed
by specific investment and risk management guidelines.
Independent daily monitoring of each portfolio against the
corresponding guideline is carried out by the Risk Management
Department. Listed investments held in the available-for-
sale securities and financial assets designated as fair value
through profit or loss portfolio have been chosen based on
their medium to long-term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

The performance of the Group’s unquoted investments
is periodically assessed, based on the limited information
available to the Group, against the performance of listed
entities of comparable size and the nature of those
businesses.

EMPLOYEES

The Group places high value on human resources management.
We emphasise the exploration of employee potential and employee
training. We endeavor to build a quality team to facilitate the
Group’s long-term business development.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group had 170 employees in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Total staff costs for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$222 million as noted in the
consolidated income statement. Remuneration for employees is
based upon their qualifications, experience, job nature, performance
and market conditions.
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EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

The Group may also pay discretionary year end bonuses to
employees based on individual performance. Other benefits
to employees include medical insurance, retirement schemes
and training programs. Directors and qualified employees of the
Company may be granted share options to subscribe for shares
in the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the share option scheme approved by the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 24 May 2002. During the
year under review, no share option was granted to employees
(including Directors).

OUTLOOK

In 2012, the US economy showed early signs of recovery,
contributed by a series of supportive measures, including
quantitative easing and the reemergence of manufacturing
industries. Meanwhile, the Federal Reserve announced its intent
to maintain a prolonged low interest rate policy meaning relatively
easy liquidity conditions. These factors imply that global inflationary
pressures and rising asset prices are set to remain for an extended
period. In response to debt issues weighing on some European
countries, the common goal of policy makers is to maintain stability
in the Eurozone by extending debt maturities, cutting government
spending and raising taxes. Although the capital markets are bound
to be affected by the ability to repay debt and the possible credit
re-rating of some European countries, there are no immediate
systemic risks as the global market should have learnt its lessons
from the 2008 global financial crisis. That said, economic rebound
in the region will inevitably remain weak. In China, economic
restructuring continues to be challenging, while the inflationary
pressures remain strong. Hence, the tightening monetary policies
are expected to remain in place for an extended period. However,
the structural adjustments will benefit China’s long-term economic
development, while at the same time creating favorable investment
opportunities for our funds. Given these challenges, Hong Kong’s
economy and financial markets are expected to face extremely
challenging times in 2012. However, Hong Kong’s political, legal
and business environments are geared to international standards.
With the increasing demand for offshore investments by Chinese
enterprises and individuals, and the steady progress in RMB
internationalization, the city will likely make more positive progress
to become Asia’s financing and asset management centre, as well
as the RMB offshore centre.
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OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

In line with the needs of the regional economy and corporate
development, the Group will make appropriate adjustments in
the “3+2” structure in 2012, while maintaining its macro asset
management strategy. The direct investment, asset investment
and asset management divisions under “3” will be realigned into
primary market investment, secondary market investment and
structured financing & investment; while “2” will remain unchanged
and continue to capitalise on Everbright Securities’ advantageous
position in the cross-border fee-based business. Considering the
increasing scale of the cross-border macro asset management
business, Everbright will also restructure the back-office unit,
in a bid to strengthen the support from human resources, risk
management, IT and branding strategy. We believe that the fine-
tuning of the business model and management structure will
provide a clearer development focus and allow more effective
allocation and management of resources.

Changes to the structure of the two businesses
MEEBEEEERE

China Everbright Group
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Everbright % A4%/% (165 .HK)
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A NUMBER OF PROJECTS ARE READY

FOR DIVESTMENT

ZERER B EAFBTSERL G

OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

Looking ahead to 2012, Everbright’s main goals are to continue
to steadily grow AUM size, appropriately diversify fund products,
build a secondary market-focused investment platform, as well as
maintain stable income growth from investment and management
fees. Based on our solid business platform, a number of projects
are ready for divestment, the sizable proceeds of which will
allow Everbright to make quality investments amidst depressed
market conditions or create favorable conditions for mergers and
acquisitions.

As the Group’s most established and largest operating platform,
the primary market investments division (including the former direct
investment and asset investment divisions) will continue to focus on
unlisted enterprises and industries with long-term growth potential
in China. Beyond the ten investment funds currently available,
the Group is looking to expand the size of its assets under
management, while continuing to invest an appropriate amount of
seed capital in each fund, with a view to achieving balanced growth
in management fee income and investment returns. The Group will
also monitor the development prospects of various industries in
the Mainland China, such as consumer goods and its distribution
network as well as financial leasing and the medical industry, and
it will expand further in these sectors or establish relevant sector-
specific funds when opportunities arise.
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OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

In the meantime, the four overseas private equity funds, the
CSOF series, can leverage their competitive edge to facilitate the
listing of invested projects at a steady divestment pace to achieve
satisfactory returns. The ease in market prices also allows the
“China Special Opportunities Fund IlI” to accelerate investments
at a reasonable cost. Among the projects invested by the three
Mainland RMB-denominated venture capital funds, several have
matured and are actively seeking listing approval. The funds have
regional advantages to identify investments with unique potential.
Among asset investment funds, the infrastructure fund will aim to
complete raising a total of USD 1.5 billion for the pre-set fund target
for the overseas USD fund and the domestic RMB fund, while
continuing to pursue project investments. The real estate fund will
continuing to raise funds for the RMB-denominated fund, and work
with reputable developers to develop commercial property projects
in regions and cities showing robust demand. The tight liquidity
situation in China has enhanced the real estate fund’s bargaining
power and rate of return. The new energy fund will complete most
of its investments within the year and put in place post-investment
management, IPO nurturing and preparation work.

The secondary market investment division (including the former
asset management division) will complement the primary market
investment division that focuses on opportunities from unlisted
enterprises. With the support of our seed capital, we target to
complete the establishment of a brand new hedge fund platform
and an IT system for asset management business within the year,
in order to launch an absolute return fund series, further enhancing
the offerings of secondary market investment products and attract
external investors.

The structured financing & investment business will continue
to utilise the Group’s own capital-rich position to participate in
projects with financing needs, in order to deliver solid interest
income and investment returns while prudently managing risk. We
will also look forward to extend the scope of this business with fund
management products that cover external funds, offshore funds
and onshore RMB funds.
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OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

The Group was established in 1997 as the holding company
of Everbright Bank and Everbright Securities. Approximately a
decade ago, the Group gradually evolved into an investment bank
that mainly derived profit from IPO sponsoring and brokerage
businesses. In recent years, the Group has been aggressive in
developing a cross-border macro asset management platform.
Over the years, the Group overcame numerous financial crisis in
Hong Kong, and also witnessed bumps and jolts along China’s
path to financial reform. Particularly over the past five years, the
global economic landscape has been extremely volatile and capital
flows were increasingly rapid, hence presenting more challenges
to financial institutions. During this period, Everbright adopted to
cope with market changes and successfully built a solid talent
base. Its ability to identify trends in macro policies and economic
development, as well as to time the market cycles and invest at a
reasonable cost, are also gaining market recognition.

Looking back at the past 15 years, | am proud of Everbright’s
remarkable accomplishments. Of the numerous Chinese and
foreign financial institutions operating in Hong Kong, Everbright has
emerged as a success story with a unique business model and
encouraging investment results. Going forward, our effective risk
management and solid balance sheet provide us with sufficient
funding support to explore new growth opportunities, whilst further
enhancing our risk control. This will allow the Group to sustain its
long-term development potential and establish strong partnerships
built on mutual trust with each of its stakeholders. Everbright
emphasises on long-term value and benefits and, as such, will
remain committed to creating value for its shareholders, investors,
employees and the community in the long run.

th
MakingWealth
Simple

m

By order of the Board
China Everbright Limited
Chen Shuang

Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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WITH A SOLID FOOTHOLD IN HONG KONG FOR 15 YEARS,
EVERBRIGHT HAS BUILT A

TRUSTED PARTNERSHIP WITH ‘“FOUR
MAJOR PARTNERS’

COMMUNITY SHAREHOLDERS
HE & INVESTORS
RREREE

CLIENTS &

COLLABORATING EMPLOYEES
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WE CREATE VALUE BY ACTIVELY FORGING SOLID,
TRUSTWORTHY PARTNERSHIPS WITH OUR
STAKEHOLDERS, STRIVING TO CONTRIBUTE TO SOCIETY
ACROSS A NUMBER OF AREAS, TO THE VERY BEST OF OUR
ABILITY.

KREBRBKIAE FNERIERSERFNENESEANE -

HERESEMKHFERE -

Everbright recognises the importance of using its expertise and
resources to strike a balance between driving business and being
socially responsible. Therefore, the Group creates value by actively
forging solid, trustworthy partnerships with its stakeholders,
categorising them as its “four major partners” and striving to
contribute to society across a number of areas, to the very best of
its ability.
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In recognition of our ongoing efforts to improve corporate
governance and achieve high social responsibility standards, the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service has presented the Group and
the China Everbright Charitable Foundation with “Caring Company”
and “Caring Organisation” awards for two consecutive years.

In addition, the Group also received a Honourable Mention award
in the Hong Kong Corporate Governance Excellence Awards,
jointly organised by the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies
and the Centre for Corporate Governance and Financial Policy of
Hong Kong Baptist University. Such acknowledgements encourage
us to further strengthen our corporate governance and culture,
as well as our commitment to social responsibility and proactive
communications with our four major partners.

While striving for sustainable business development, the Group
takes an integrated view of the core values behind its branding
philosophy, “Making Wealth Simple” — agile, pragmatic and
partnership — and its corporate governance system. The continuous
development of the Group’s private equity-led, cross-border asset

AEEES—RELERRAREIND
X EBNBREBORE - JFEKA
BAAEENERRERRERFNE
BlERANE - KERETEMNKHE
1% - REBBERFNERD B<OAIK
> ETRBRHENERHOEL

@ o
=

RO

w301

caringorganisation
e R

AEERAARBEE LS B REN T
BE SRR R R < RERE>
R<FOBBES 108 - RPAREER
FURFEFANSNRBEA -

BERAEBHERITAREAKFLE
THEETTEMEOFELES S - K
SEESHBEELTARBERES
REABRAFAERAESBBERMRF
ODHAERBN T ——FEEBERQA
ERFMRFREERM] E—TR
FTAEEMBRABER  BIEAFA
B BITEELEEE  ARHE
<PURINPESBRBEE T

BRI EAREXBERBES
[ B2 R BA B (B | G hR 3R 2 = K 1
(8% - BERKHF IR BREALEE
SRR RS - [BF IRBEULBEER
ITBNBREEERTOTEHER &



CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED R B3¢ KIZRE AR A 7] / 44

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
ERESEERE

management platform reflects its high level of business agility. In
fact, Everbright has the largest scale private equity fund business
of any listed company in Hong Kong. A pragmatic management
approach enables us to maintain stable financial policies and
identify new growth opportunities, even under volatile market
conditions, as well as retain our partnership corporate culture. At
Everbright, the spirit of partnership, guided by the “create value
to share value” principle, ensures team stability and long-term
partnerships with investors, yielding optimised returns.

Operation

B

Capital allocation

Before securing HE 1A

external financing
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WE ADOPT THE BUSINESS STRATEGY OF “CREATE VALUE TO SHARE VALUE"
WHILE WORKING WITH CLIENTS AND PARTNERS.
HFTEEF NS BRI BLEEED ZEE /R RES

CLIENTS AND COLLABORATING PARTNERS

Everbright’s “3+2 Macro Asset Management” platform connects
the vibrant markets of China and Hong Kong, which offer huge
potential. We continue to follow the “create value to share value”
philosophy, and our continued emphasis on long-term partnerships
has successfully earned the confidence of fund investors and
collaborating partners. The ability of the Company’s investment
management teams to effectively manage risk and maintain both
parties’ capital and interests equitably has been the cornerstone of
our growth strategy.
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CLIENTS AND COLLABORATING PARTNERS
(CONTINUED)

Everbright backs its confidence in assessing the potential of
funds by investing seed capital in each one before moving on to
securing external financing. We also require management teams to
allocate venture capital to the funds in order to align the interests
of fund management teams and fund investors, including those
of the Group. In addition, an independent investment assessment
committee (or a similar organisation) ensures the sound operation
of each fund. Some of the funds also invite external investors to
participate in the decision process, which further protect external
investors’ interests. When the funds are investing in or exiting from
specific projects, equity held by the management team is in line
with the holdings of other investors. This encourages management
teams to exercise a prudent, pragmatic approach underscored
by proper risk awareness when making investment decisions.
Increases in the book value of all investments are only recognised
as reserves, and management teams are entitled to incentives only
after the investment exits are realised in cash.

Our well-established corporate governance structure and risk
management system (refer to the Corporate Governance Report
for details) have laid a solid foundation for providing clients and
collaborating partners with simple, professional, practical, tailor-
made solutions that facilitate adequate gains from market growth
and create wealth and value.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

To enhance corporate transparency, the Group places significant
emphasis on maintaining good communication channels with
shareholders and investors. The Corporate Communications and
Investors Relations Department is dedicated to ensuring constant
engagement with stakeholders.

Every year, Everbright participates in investor conferences organised
by various financial institutions. In 2011, meetings were held with
over 300 institutional investors and analysts through group or
one-on-one meetings; highlights of these meetings are available
on the Group’s website. In 2011, there were 21 analyst reports
generated by 9 well-known financial institutions. During the year we
also undertook numerous reviews of our shareholding structure,
by examining the shareholding, volume and changes, thus
implemented investor relations programming on more targeted way.
The Group also developed investor relations reports which included
external communications, investor feedback and changes in share
price as regularly reports to the Board. Our shareholding pattern
allows the Board of Directors to better understand the investment
community’s views and suggestions regarding Everbright’s
development strategies.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS (CONTINUED)
In addition, the Group’s management interacts directly with
shareholders via the annual general meeting. Press conferences
and analysts’ meetings are held twice a year, following the results
announcements of the interim and annual results. Webcasts of
press conferences are also available on the official website.

The Group’s 2010 annual report won the Bronze Award for Overall
Annual Report in the banking and financial services category (Hong
Kong and the Mainland China), as well as the Honours Award for
Overall Annual Report in the financial services category (Global)
at the 2011 International ARC Awards. These awards constitute
significant recognition of our reporting excellence, and the
Company will continue to further enhance the quality of its annual
reports, in addition to strengthening communications with investors
and stakeholders.

During the period under review, the Group repurchased and
cancelled 3,580,000 shares between 23 September and 10
October 2011.
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EMPLOYEES

Everbright considers its staff the most important asset. Over
the years, the Group has always promoted an internal culture of
partnership and followed the “create value to share value” principle.
Through this spirit of partnership, the Group wishes to share with
its staff the experience of corporate growth and development,
enhancing individual capabilities and social values in the process.
Employees are encouraged to act in the interests of Everbright as
a whole, helping create economic value, enhancing efficiency and
sharing the fruits of the Company’s success.

Employees are provided study allowances, and training
programmes are organised to boost skills and team spirit, which
in turn enhance individual capabilities and social values. Adequate
resources are allocated to promote staff well-being and work-life
balance, often through fellowship activities for employees and their
families. In 2011 the Group start a weekly “Fruit sharing fun day”
every Thursday, which aims to help our staff stress relief from the
busy schedules.

In addition, Everbright attaches great importance to effective
interaction with its employees and has established communication
mechanisms to accomplish this, for example corporate cultural
publications. The Group’s bimonthly e-publication “Huo Ban”
(“fh££7) utilises the web to develop and maintain harmonious
relationships among employees in the Mainland as well as in
Hong Kong. Huo Ban conveys information about major events
and the progress of the Company’s various businesses in
terms of brand development, and highlights employees’ lives. In
addition, the Company also regularly organises outdoor activities
and provides training to new staff. All of this contributes to a
corporate culture that is unique to Everbright. Internally, any major
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EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

issues are usually communicated via circulars, CEO letters and
middle management meetings. For external communications, write-
ups or press releases are distributed to institutional investors and
the media. New staff members are provided a clear overview of
the Company by way of training sessions on human resources,
brand culture and risk management systems in the first month
of appointment. Discussion forums are held regularly to allow an
exchange of ideas between senior management and new staff,
and during this time management gets to know staff’'s work status
and views on the Company’s development. These face-to-face
discussions also enhance contact and interaction between senior
management and employees.

The Group’s efforts in the previous years have made meaningful
contributions to its success in establishing its own fund teams as
well as retaining and recruiting talent.
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COMMUNITY

Besides making annual donations to poverty-stricken areas in
China, the Group is also interested in promoting and participating
in charitable projects that can benefit Hong Kong’s community
development. The China Everbright Charitable Foundation was set
up in 2008 for this purpose.

é KK ¥ B
EVERBRIGHT
KARKERBEERSE

“THE EVERBRIGHT PROJECT’

Based on its business services philosophy of “Making Wealth
Simple”, the China Everbright Charitable Foundation formed
a partnership with the Caritas Family Crisis Support Centre in
2009 and jointly launched “The Everbright Project”, the first-ever
community services programme in Hong Kong targeting the middle
class. The project fosters the ideas of positive mentality and life
planning, helps middle-class individuals realise their potential at
various stages of their lives, and promotes a balanced, happy and
healthy lifestyle through the “Making Life Simple” philosophy.
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“THE EVERBRIGHT PROJECT” (CONTINUED)

The Group aims to build The Everbright Project into a sustainable
social services programme. Since its launch, we have
communicated directly with the middle class to understand their
needs through research, seminars, group activities, questionnaire
surveys and a counselling hotline. Constant efforts are made
to improve the services offered in order to better cater for the
needs of the middle class. The programme has helped about
2,000 individuals since its launch and currently has almost 1,000
registered members.

The Everbright Project launched new range of services in 2011,
including corporate workshops to help companies and their
employees build harmonious interpersonal relationships and
achieve a work-life balance.

Apart from its regular services, The Everbright Project is also
planning huge promotional events to expand its footprint in the
community. For example, in 2011 the Project staged the “Happy
1+1” Christmas Interactive Party in Causeway Bay to promote the
message of positive energy and family love in Hong Kong.
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“THE EVERBRIGHT PROJECT” (CONTINUED)

In addition to promoting The Everbright Project as a sustainable
community service initiative, the Group also commits resources to
participating in other charitable projects for the benefit of the Hong
Kong community. In 2011, the Group sponsored several events
such as the Caritas Charity Television Show and the Jackie Chan
Charitable Foundation Fundraising Dinner. Through the China
Everbright Charitable Foundation, the Group also offered assistance
to colleagues in need, funded by internal donations from the staff.

CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIOECONOMIC AND
CULTURAL ACTIVITIES

The Group actively participates in promoting socioeconomic
and cultural activities. We hold the positions of Chairman of the
China Universities Alumni Association — Financial Association,
Vice Chairman and Founding Member of the Chinese Securities
Association of Hong Kong, and standing member of the China
Mergers and Acquisitions Association. We have also made many
practical recommendations to the Hong Kong Government and the
relevant departments of the Central Government in relation to the
internationalisation of the Renminbi and development of the Hong
Kong financial market.
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GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND STRUCTURE

The Company always aims to comply with established corporate
governance best practices, and the core value of the Company is
to protect the interests of its shareholders, customers, staff and
other stakeholders. It is committed to strictly abide by the laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and observe the rules and guidelines
issued by the relevant regulatory authorities such as the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). The Company also
constantly reviews its corporate governance practices to meet
international and local best practices. One of the core values of
the Company is that the highest standard of integrity is essential to
business development.

The Board would like to announce that the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

BOARD

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the
Management. The Board:

° approves the Group’s long term strategy and monitors the
implementation thereof;

° reviews and approves the annual business plan and financial
budget;

° approves the annual and interim reports;

° reviews and monitors risk management and internal control
of the Group;

° ensures good corporate governance and compliance; and

° monitors performance of the Management.
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BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Board authorises the Management to carry out the approved
strategies. The Management is responsible for the day-to-day
operation of the Group and is required to report to the Board
regularly. The Board has formulated the Terms of Reference of
the Board and the Mandate of the senior management and the
Management Committee, which set out the circumstances under
which the Management should report to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Group. The Board regularly reviews
the Mandates, and will update and amend them when appropriate.

To comply with the Code, the positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Tang Shuangning
and Mr. Chen Shuang respectively. Their roles are distinct and
are clearly established and stipulated in the Board Mandate. In
short, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board
discharges its responsibilities properly and conforms to good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Chairman
is also responsible for making sure that all directors are properly
informed of important issues which the Company is focusing on
and that all directors receive accurate, timely and clear information.
He is also responsible for organizing the business of the Board,
setting its agenda and ensuring its effectiveness. The Chairman
facilitates the effective contribution of the directors and the effective
communication with the shareholders. Mr. Zang Qiutao as the
Deputy Chairman of the Board assists the Chairman in overseeing
and giving guidance to the Management in order to enhance the
functions of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for leading the Management and implementing the important
policies and development strategies approved by the Board. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operation
of the Group and regularly reports to the Board.

Taking into account the market practices and international best
practices in corporate governance, the Board established 5 Board
Committees to carry out its responsibilities. They are Executive
Committee, Audit and Risk Management Committee, Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Strategy Committee.
In addition, the Board will, if necessary, authorise an independent
board committee comprising all independent non-executive
directors (“INEDs”) to review, approve and monitor the connected
transactions (including continuing connected transactions) in
accordance with the requirements of the relevant laws and
regulations.
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TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE BOARD

The Terms of Reference of the Board also contains the terms
of reference of the Board Committees. The Board Committees
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters within
their terms of reference, or make decisions under appropriate
circumstances within the power delegated by the Board.
Designated secretaries are assigned to all Board Committees
to ensure that they have adequate resources to discharge their
responsibilities properly and effectively. According to their terms
of reference, the Board and the Board Committees review and
evaluate their respective work processes and effectiveness on an
annual basis. The updated Terms of Reference of the Board as
well as the Board Committees can be accessed via the Company’s
website.

Currently the Board has 9 members, comprising 5 executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr.
Chen Shuang, Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard and Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi;
1 non-executive director, Mr. Wang Weimin and 3 INEDs, namely,
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, and Dr. Lin
Zhijun. Mr. Richard Tang, Mr. Charles Ng and Dr. Lin Zhijun are
directors with financial management expertise. One-third of the
members of the Board are INEDs. The composition of the Board
ensures the independence and objectivity of the Board’s decision
making process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality of the
Board’s supervision of the Management. The Board acts honestly
and in good faith. Its decisions are made objectively and in the
best interests of the Company, with a view to maximising long term
shareholders’ value and fulfilling its corporate responsibility to other
stakeholders of the Company.

All the existing non-executive directors (including INEDs) of the
Company have been appointed for a fixed term, with formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions
of their appointment. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of
the Company, all directors, including the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer, shall retire by rotation at least once every three
years at annual general meetings and be eligible for re-election. All
new director(s) appointed by the Board are subject to re-election by
shareholders at the next general meeting. At every annual general
meeting of the Company, each director’s re-election has been
assigned as a separate resolution for shareholder’s voting.
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TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE BOARD
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao and Mr. Chen Shuang
are also directors of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. If any substantial
shareholder or director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter
to be considered by the Board or general meeting, the relevant
directors shall abstain from voting and a Board meeting attended
by INEDs who have no material interest in the matter shall be held
to discuss and vote on the same. Save as disclosed above, there
are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members.

The Company has in place an appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy to indemnify the directors for liabilities
arising out of corporate activities. The coverage and the sum
insured under the policy are reviewed on an annual basis.

To ensure that newly appointed directors have adequate
understanding of the Group’s business and operation, the Board
has set up an induction system for new directors. The Company
Secretary will conduct induction to all directors upon their
appointment, contents of which include directors’ duties, Listing
Rules, introduction of corporate business. In addition, the Company
also provides ongoing trainings to the existing directors in different
ways, including but not limited to the new requirements of directors’
duties, seminars on the business operation, updates on market,
industry and Listing Rules’ requirements. Such trainings will be
done by way of papers’ circulation or directors’ training seminars.

A total of 4 Board meetings were held during the year. The meeting
schedule was prepared and approved by the Board at the end
of the previous year. Formal notices were sent to all directors at
least 14 days before the meeting. In general, the Board agenda
and meeting materials were dispatched to all Board members for
review at least 3 working days before the meetings. The agenda
had been prepared after sufficient consultation with the Board
members and the Management and was then approved by the
Chairman. The Board minutes contained detailed records of all
the issues considered, and the decisions made, by the directors
and the minutes which were reviewed by all the Board members
are properly kept by the Company Secretary. During the year,
the Chairman and/or the Deputy Chairman of the Board met with
the INEDs once in the absence of the executive directors and
the Management. Individual attendance records of the relevant
directors in 2011 are set out in the table in the last part of this
report.
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Executive Committee

BHREZE S

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee, as delegated by the Board, assists
the Board in overseeing the Company’s major affairs. Members
will communicate from time to time on major issues concerning
the Company’s operations, business and management which
include reviewing and approving the Group’s corporate goals,
business plans and major business projects. Mr. Zang Qiutao, the
Deputy Chairman of the Board, is the Chairman of the Executive
Committee. The Executive Committee currently comprises 4
members: the Deputy Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and one Assistant General
Manager. In 2011, the Executive Committee passed certain
important resolutions via written resolutions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee mainly assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the supervision of
the financial statements, internal control, internal audit and external
audit of the Group. The written terms of reference of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee were prepared with reference to
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and updated with
reference to the requirement of the Code, and have been approved
and properly authorized by the Board. The Terms of Reference of
the Audit and Risk Management Committee can be accessed via
the Company’s website. In short, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee mainly assists the Board in performing its role in the
Group in the following areas, amongst others:

o ensuring that the financial reports are accurate and comply
with the appropriate accounting standards, and that the
reporting procedures of the Company’s financial reports are
carried out;

o ensuring that the scope and guidance of the internal and
external audits are sufficient;
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Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

° considering the qualifications and independence of external
auditors and the fees for the year;

° ensuring that adequate internal control measures are in place
and followed;

° reviewing and dealing with the Company’s internal audit
functions, the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate
governance structure and implementation;

° urging the Company to abide by any applicable laws and
to comply with regulations of the relevant regulators and to
maintain its business ethics;

° making suggestions to the Board where necessary, and to
carry out duties within the delegated authority of the Board;
and

o meeting the auditors, at least annually, in the absence of the
Management, to discuss matters relating to any issues arising
from the audit and any other matters the auditors may wish
to raise.

The work performed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee
in 2011 included the review and, where applicable, approval of:

° the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 and the annual results announcement
thereof, which were recommmended to the Board for approval;

° the Group’s interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2011 and the interim results announcement
thereof, which were recommmended to the Board for approval;

° the audit report and management letter submitted by the
external auditors;

° the quarterly risk assessment report submitted by the Risk
Management Group;

° the quarterly internal audit report submitted by the Internal
Audit and Compliance Department;

° the re-appointment of external auditors, and the audit fees
payable to external auditors for the annual audit and interim
review; and

° the Group’s internal audit plan and key areas of the internal
audit work focus for 2011.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

In addition, pursuant to paragraphs C.2 and C.3.3 of the Code,
the Audit and Risk Management Committee conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group with the assistance of the Internal Audit and Compliance
Department. The internal control review of the Group covered all
material aspects, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management. Upon completion of the
review, the Audit and Risk Management Committee considered
that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems were
reasonably implemented and were able to prevent material
misstatements or losses, safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain
appropriate accounting records, ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and generally fulfil the internal control
requirements of the Code. Such views were recommended to the
Board. For detailed information on this topic, please refer to the
Internal Control section.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises 3
members, and all members including the chairman are INEDs. The
Audit and Risk Management Committee is chaired by Mr. Ng Ming
Wah, Charles who has extensive experience in the finance and
financial services industry. The remaining 2 members are Mr. Seto
Gin Chung, John, who has wide experience in financial business
and Dr. Lin Zhijun who has appropriate professional qualification
and experience in financial matters. A total of 6 Audit and Risk
Management Committee meetings were held during the year with
an attendance rate of 100%. Individual attendance records of the
relevant members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee in
2011 are set out in the table in the last part of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for assisting the Board
in nominating the right candidates for directorship and senior
management positions as well as for evaluating the competence
of the candidates to ensure that they are in line with the Group’s
overall development strategies. The Nomination Committee assists
the Board in fulfilling its supervisory role over the Group in the
following areas, amongst others:

° the selection and nomination of directors, Board Committee
members and senior management members;

° the periodic review of the structure, size and composition
(including skills, experience and knowledge) of directors and
Board Committee members and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes;

° the evaluation of the independence of the INEDs; and

° the recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors, and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

Based on the successful experience in the recruitment of directors
and senior management, the Committee will first take into account
the existing skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and
Board Committees, and the business requirements of the Group
in order to determine the key requirements for the new director
and objective criteria for selection. Such criteria include relevant
expertise, integrity, industry experience and independence.

The Nomination Committee currently has 3 members comprising
Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John and Dr. Lin Zhijun.
The independent non-executive directors represent over half of the
committee members. Stability of the Board members, Committees
members and senior management was maintained in 2011 and
Nomination Committee meeting was held once in the year in
relation to the appointment of an additional assistant general
manager.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board
in overseeing the Group’s human resources and remuneration
policies. The Remuneration Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its supervisory role over the Group in the following areas, among
others:

° reviewing basic criteria and objectives of the remuneration
scheme of the Group;

° approving remuneration, bonuses and other benefits in
kind for directors, Board Committee members and senior
management;

° making recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy
and structure for all remuneration packages of the directors
and senior management;

° making recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management;

° reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
performance-based remuneration of the Group by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time;

o reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the compensation payable to executive directors and senior
management in connection with any loss or termination of
their office or appointment to ensure that such compensation
is determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair and not
excessive;
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Remuneration Committee (continued)

° approving the aggregate amount of the year-end bonus
payable to the staff of the Group, provided such amount
is the same as or below that approved by the Board, or to
make recommendations to the Board thereon; and

o ensuring that no director or any of their associates involves in
deciding on their own remuneration.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee in 2011
included the review and, where applicable, approval of:

° the performance appraisal of the executive directors and
senior management for year 2010;

° the proposal on staff bonus (including the senior
management) for year 2010 and salary adjustments for year
2011 for the Group;

° the incentive scheme of the Group; and

° the policies on performance appraisal of staff (including senior
management), annual bonus and annual salary adjustments.

To ensure that the directors receive remuneration commensurate
with the time and effort they dedicate to the Group, the
Remuneration Committee, in proposing the remuneration of
directors, makes reference to companies of comparable business
type or scale, and the nature and quantity of work at both Board
and Board Committees (including frequency of meetings and
nature of agenda items). The proposed remuneration will be
put to shareholders for final approval at general meetings. The
Remuneration Committee also determines the specific remuneration
package of executive directors and senior management, including
share options and benefits in kind. Currently the principal
components of the Company’s remuneration package for executive
directors and senior management include the basic salary, a
discretionary bonus and other benefits in kind. A significant portion
of the executive directors’ or senior management’s discretionary
bonus is based on the Group’s and the individual’s performance
during the year in order to achieve the appropriate compensation
level. None of the directors is entitled to determine his/her own
remuneration package. The Remuneration Committee reviews
and approves the annual and long term performance targets for
senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives
approved by the Board from time to time. The Remuneration
Committee also reviews the performance of the senior management
against the targets set on an ongoing basis, and reviews and
approves the specific performance-based remuneration of the
senior management. The Remuneration Committee will seek
professional advice in appropriate circumstances.
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Remuneration Committee (continued)

The remuneration received by the directors in 2011 was listed in
note 8(a) to the financial statements by name basis. The director’s
fee, including the expense allowance for acting as member(s) of
the Board Committees, shall be submitted to the general meeting
every year for approval. For 2011, the remuneration approved by
shareholders at the general meeting is as follows:

The director’s fee for the year ended 31 December 2011 is
HK$120,000 for each independent non-executive director (“INED”)
who has served one full year and pro-rated for INED who has not
served one full year. There is no standard fee for INEDs for acting
as member(s) of the Remuneration Committee, Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy
Committee. However, an expense allowance was paid to INEDs for
attending the following meetings:

(@)  HK$10,000 for attending the Board Mesting;

(o) HK$5,000 for attending meeting of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee;
and

(©0 HK$14,000 for the chairman of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee attending its meeting and
HK$10,000 for other members.

There is no Director’s fee for the year ended 31 December 2011 for
executive directors/non-executive directors. There is no standard
extra fee for executive directors/non-executive directors for acting as
member(s) of the Remuneration Committee, Executive Committee,
Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee. However, an
expense allowance of HK$10,000 was paid to an executive
director/a non-executive director on each occasion he attended
the Directors’ Meetings; an expense allowance of HK$5,000
was paid to an executive director/a non-executive director who
attended each meeting of the Executive Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee.

A Dbasic allowance in a total amount of HK$60,000 will be paid to
each director every year on 1 July and prior to the Lunar New Year.
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Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee currently has 4 members comprising
Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung,
John and Dr. Lin Zhijun. The INEDs represent over two-thirds
of the members of the Remuneration Committee. A total of 2
Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the year
with an attendance rate of 100%. Individual attendance records of
the relevant Remuneration Committee members in 2011 are set
out in the table in the last part of this report. The Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference are available from the Company’s
website.

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee is responsible for reviewing the
long term strategy and planning of the Group and for making
recommendations to the Board. The Strategy Committee is chaired
by Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John and currently has 7 members: Mr.
Seto Gin Chung, John, Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Chen Shuang, Mr.
Jiang Yuanzhi, Mr. Wang Weimin, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles and
Dr. Lin Zhijin. Strategy Committee meeting was held once during
the year of 2011. The focus of the agenda was to review the
strategic positioning and development planning of the Group.

BOARD EVALUATION

Each of the Board and Board Committees will conduct a self-
assessment review of their own effectiveness from time to time
and review and amend as appropriate their terms of reference and
working rules according to the needs.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised special rules governing securities
dealing of directors in the “Employee Dealing Manual” which are
more stringent than the required standards set out in the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having enquired of
all directors, the directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the said manual and the Model
Code throughout the year of 2011.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Pursuant to the responsibility delegated by the Board, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee reviewed and monitored the
effectiveness, independence and objectivity of KPMG, the Group’s
external auditors, on their audit procedures, and the results were
satisfactory. Upon the recommendation of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, at the Company’s 2012 annual general
meeting, the Board will propose that KPMG be re-appointed as
auditors of the Group. Subject to the approval by the shareholders,
the Board will authorize the Audit and Risk Management Committee
to determine the remuneration for KPMG.

For 2011, the total fee charged by KPMG was HK$7,864,000
including a non-audit service fee of HK$2,146,000 for the review of
the interim financial statements, internal control and risk assessment
and other services. For 2010, the fee charged by KPMG for audit
and non-audit services was HK$8,288,000.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility of ensuring that the Group
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard
the Group’s assets. The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate
the risks of system failure; and to assist in achieving the Group’s
objectives. In addition to safeguarding the Group’s assets, it
also ensures the maintenance of proper accounting records and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

The Internal Audit and Compliance Department reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system in accordance
with the annual internal audit plan approved by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. The scopes of these reviews cover all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls, and the risk management system governing various
business units and operation departments. The risks and controls
are identified primarily through reviews of the statutory books,
minutes, policies and procedure manuals, and interviews with
the management. Based on the results of the risk and control
identifications, the internal audit strategies are formulated and
performed by the Internal Audit and Compliance Department. The
results of the reviews for 2011 were reported to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board on a quarterly basis.
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The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility to ensure there
are sound and effective financial controls and accounting functions,
which are vital to the Group. The Board entrusts the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, assisted by the Group’s Chief Financial
Officer and the Internal Audit and Compliance Department, with
the responsibility of reviewing the adequacy of the resources of
accounting and financial report functions. The scope of the review
covers the organizational structures of finance and accounting
department, staffing and back-up resources, their relevant working
experience and recognized accounting professional qualifications,
and the adequacy of budget for relevant training programmes
attended by all finance and accounting staff. The results of
the review were reported to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Board at the year end.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board
consider that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems
are reasonably implemented and are able to prevent material
misstatements or losses, safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain
appropriate accounting records and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and have fulfilled the requirements of the
Code regarding internal control systems in general.

In addition, the Group has established and implemented the
following internal control system:

° The Management established an organisational structure with
different hierarchies of duties, authorities and responsibilities
of personnels; formulated written policies and procedures to
check and balance the authorities of different departments;
reasonably safeguarded the assets and the implementation
of the internal control measures of the Group; and operated
lawfully, in compliance with laws and regulations, and under
effective risk control.

° The Management set up and continually monitored the
implementation of the Group’s strategies, business plans and
financial budgets. The accounting and management systems
in place provided the basis for evaluating the financial and
operational performance.

° The Group set up various risk management and human
resource management policies. Specific units and personnel
were responsible for identifying, assessing and managing
all the major risks. These include reputation, strategic, legal,
compliance, credit, market, operation, liquidity and interest
rate risks.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

° The Risk Management Group (“RMG”) under the
Management Committee is responsible for discharging the
risk control monitoring function of the Group. Members of
the RMG comprise various heads of departments and the
Risk Management and Compliance Department. The RMG
is responsible for supporting and assisting management in
defining and assessing the key risk exposures of the Group’s
core business and conducting the co-ordination thereof. It
defines, assesses and records the risk structure of the Group
and ensures the relevant business units are aware of such
issues. The RMG reports to the Management Committee
regularly. The RMG also submits a quarterly risk assessment
report of the Group to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee for their review.

° The Audit and Risk Management Committee reviews the
management letter submitted by the external auditors in
connection with the annual audit. The Internal Audit and
Compliance Department is responsible for ensuring that
the recommendations are promptly followed, and will also
periodically report the status of the implementation thereof
to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and keep the
Management informed.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board attaches a high degree of importance to continual
communication with shareholders, especially direct dialogue with
them at the Company’s annual general meetings. Shareholders are
encouraged to actively participate in such meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Executive
Committee, the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Management Committee, and representatives
of KPMG were present at the Company’s 2011 annual general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 to respond to questions and
comments raised by shareholders.

The Company also provided further information on the 2011
annual general meeting in a circular to shareholders. This
includes background information to the proposed resolutions and
information on the retirement and re-election of directors in order
to enable all shareholders to understand their rights at the annual
general meeting and to vote with sufficient information.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following statement should be read in conjunction with
the auditor’s statement of its responsibilities as set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report contained in the 2011 Annual Report
of the Company. The statement sets out for the shareholders
the respective responsibilities of the directors and the auditors in
relation to the financial statements.

The directors are required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company. The financial statements should
be prepared on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to do so. The directors have the responsibility of ensuring that
the Company keeps accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company and
which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The directors also have general responsibilities for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of
the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements in
the 2011 Annual Report, the Company has adopted appropriate
accounting policies which have been consistently applied with the
support of reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and
that all accounting standards which they consider to be applicable
have been followed.

ROLES OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Board believes that the INEDs play an important role in
corporate governance. They provide the necessary checks and
balances to ensure that the Group operates in a safe and sound
manner and that its interests are protected. The INEDs also
bring external experience and make judgment objectively. They
are particularly important in performing a monitoring role. The
Board considers all its INEDs to be independent in character and
judgment. The Board has received written confirmation from the
INEDs of their independence pursuant to the requirement under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the INEDs to be
independent.
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ROLES OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The appointment of an INED is for a fixed term and subject to
rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Listing Rules. Every year, the Board reviews and
assesses the independence of any INED who is in office for a term
over 9 years. The conclusion of his independence is stated in the
circular of the annual general meeting to shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Group is a full time employee and
is the Head of the Legal and Company Secretarial Department of
the Group. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the
Board on all governance matters. The directors have access to the
services provided by the Company Secretary and his department.
He has the relevant professional qualifications as stipulated by the
Listing Rules. The Company’s Articles of Association state that the
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for
the Board.

UPDATES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DEVELOPMENT

On 28 October 2011, the Stock Exchange published the
Consultation Conclusions on Review of the Corporate Governance
Code and Associated Listing Rules and corresponding
amendments to the Listing Rules (“the Revised Code and Rules”),
which aim to enhance the overall standard of listed issuers’
corporate governance and align with international best practices.
In addition, the Revised Code and Rules encourage better
accountability of the listed issuers and directors. The new measures
will improve the transparency required in corporate governance
standard, enhance the quality and effectiveness of directors and
company secretaries, and bring into sharper focus the principle
duties of the various Board Committees.
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UPDATES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

Corporate governance is one of the core values of the Company.
The Company constantly reviews its corporate governance
practices to meet international and local best practices. So prior
to the publishing of the Revised Code and Rules, the Company
has complied with most of the new requirements of the Revised
Code and Rules. In relation to the directors’ duties and time
commitments required by the Revised Code and Rules, all directors
of the Company have extensive managerial experience in the
financial industry. They are familiar with the Company’s business
and operation. All directors have met the required level of skill and
always carry out their duties carefully and diligently. All directors
of the Company have spent sufficient time to perform their duties.
Prior to and at each Board meeting or Board Committees meeting,
the directors have spent a lot of time to peruse the Board papers,
have fully discussed the matters in the meeting and have monitored
the follow-up actions of each resolution.

It is a general practice that the Company Secretary issues circulars
to the directors on monthly basis. The contents of which include the
monthly financial statements of the Company, the updates of the
Company’s operation and business development, investor relations
reports, and directors’ written training materials which cover the
update of the industry and the latest development of corporate
governance practices. In addition, the Company Secretary has
arranged Directors’ Training Seminar for the Directors, which was
conducted by an external expert to deliver a professional training
session to the Directors for their better understanding of the peers
and the industry of the Company’s business. The Company always
maintains for 3 or more independent non-executive directors. The
Board currently has 9 members and 3 of them are independent
non-executive directors. At every annual general meeting of the
Company, each Director’s re-election has been assigned as a
separate resolution for the shareholders’ voting, and there is no
exception to the INEDs.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee (formally known as
the Audit Committee) of the Company was established in 1999,
the Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
in 2001 and the Nomination Committee of the Company was
established in 2005. All the Board Committees have their own
Terms of Reference. Since 2008, the Terms of Reference of
the Board, the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee have
been set out in the Board Mandate of the Company which have
been published on the Company’s website. Starting from 2008, the
Internal Audit and Compliance Department of the Company has
conducted annual reviews of the Company’s financial reports and
internal control system. The reviews are discussed by the Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company and printed in the
Corporate Governance Report of the Company.
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UPDATES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

In addition, the Revised Code and Rules requires the Company
to publish its constitutional documents and the procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director on the
Company’s website and/or the website of the Stock Exchange. It
also requires the Company to disclose the senior management’s
remuneration by band in the Annual Report and encourages the
Company to establish a whistleblowing policy and system. The
Company has promptly followed these requirements and will fully
implement the same in 2012.

ATTENDANCE
The attendance of the directors at board meetings and various
committee meetings is set out below:
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Audit & Risk

Management
Nomination Committee ~ Remuneration Strategy
Committee Meeting Committee Committee
Meeting BHUR Meeting Meeting
Directors/members Board Meeting R2%Z8e¢ REREEZEE FHzae BKZEe
EZ /%8 gzl &3 &3 EE 6
Tang Shuangning & 4/4 n/a n/a n/a na
Zang Qiutao EIFIE 474 1/1 n/a 2/2 1
Chen Shuang [R3% 474 n/a n/a n/a 1
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 8571 474 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Jiang Yuanzhi £71.2 3/4 n/a n/a n/a 1N
Wang Weimin T8 & 474 n/a n/a n/a 1
Ng Ming Wah, Charles 285 4/4 na 6/6 212 il
Seto Gin Chung, John ZJEfRT 4/4 1 6/6 2/2 1A
Lin Zhijun #1352 4/4 il 6/6 2/2 1
Attendance rate HfE % : 97% 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Tang Shuangning

Chairman

Mr. Tang Shuangning, aged 57, is a member of the 11th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the Chairman of the Board of the Group. Mr. Tang
is also the Chairman of China Everbright Group Limited, China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited and China Everbright Bank
Company Limited (stock code: SH601818). He is also the Director
of Everbright Securities Company Limited (stock code: SH601788)
and Sun Life Everbright Insurance Company Limited and the
Chairman of China Everbright International Limited (stock code:
HK 257). He serves as the Vice Chairman of the China Society
for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of the China Society
for Investment. Prior to joining the China Everbright Group, Mr.
Tang was the Vice Chairman of the China Banking Regulatory
Commission, the Director-General of the Banking Supervision
Department |, the Director-General of Currency, Gold and Silver
Bureau and the Director-General of the Credit Management
Division of the People’s Bank of China. He holds a Master’s
Degree in Economics from China North-east University of Finance
& Economics. Mr. Tang has extensive knowledge and experience
in banking and finance management. He joined the Board in July
2007.

Mr. Zang Qiutao

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, aged 59, is the Deputy Chairman of the Board
of the Group, the Chairman of the Executive Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, as well
as a member of the Strategy Committee of the Company. Mr. Zang
is the Vice Chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited. He is also the Chairman
of China Everbright Industry Group Limited, China Everbright
Investment Management Corporation and the Vice Chairman
of China Everbright International Limited (stock code: HK 257).
Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School of the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences. He was formerly Division Chief of the
State Economic Commission and Deputy Division Director of the
State Planning Commission. He joined the Board in August 2007.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chen Shuang

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chen Shuang, aged 44, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, a member of the Executive Committee and the Strategy
Committee and the Chairman of the Management Committee of the
Group. Mr. Chen has overall responsibility for the operation of the
Group. He is also a director of China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited and the General Manager of its Legal Department, the
Deputy General Manager of the Legal Department of China
Everbright Group Limited. Mr. Chen is a director of Everbright
Securities Company Limited (a company listed in Shanghai Stock
Exchange SH601788) and an Independent Director of Noah
Holdings Limited, (a company listed in New York Stock Exchange
#NOAH.N). Mr. Chen holds a Master of Laws Degree from East
China University of Political Science and Law and a Diploma in
Legal Studies from the School of Professional and Continuing
Education of the University of Hong Kong. He is a qualified lawyer
in the PRC and a senior economist. Prior to joining the China
Everbright Group, Mr. Chen was the Chief of the Legal Department
of Bank of Communications. He has over 19 years of extensive
experience in commercial banking and investment banking. He
joined the Board in August 2004.

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, aged 50, is the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group. He has overall responsibility for supervising
the financial resources planning, allocation and control. Mr. Tang
is a member of the Executive Committee of the Board. He was
a director of Everbright Securities Company Limited (a company
listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange, SH601788) from February
2008 to January 2011. Mr. Tang is a Certified Public Accountant
and is a graduate of the Accountancy Department, at the Hong
Kong Polytechnic. He is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has over 21 years of experience in audit,
investment, accounting and finance. Since 1990, Mr. Tang had
been engaged as department head of the financial and business
operations of various international financial institutions. He joined
the Group in September 2005 and joined the Board in July 2007.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi

Executive Director

Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, aged 44, is the Assistant General Manager of the
Group and a member of the Executive Committee and the Strategy
Committee of the Company. Mr. Jiang was the Deputy President
of China Everbright Bank Shenzhen Branch prior to joining our
Group. He was formerly the General Manager of the Investment
Banking Department of China Construction Bank Shenzhen
Branch, the Chief Representative of China Construction Bank New
York Representative Office and the Assistant General Manager
of the International Business Department of China Construction
Bank Guangdong Branch. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from New York University Stern Business School.
Mr. Jiang has extensive knowledge and experience in banking and
finance management. Mr. Jiang joined the Board in June 2010.

Mr. Wang Weimin

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Weimin, aged 52, is a non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the Strategy Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wang is also the Vice President of Everbright
Securities Company Limited. He was the Vice Section Chief
of the Stock Trading Section of Chengdu branch of Bank of
Communications, the Manager of the Stock Trading Section of
Chengdu branch of Hai Tong Securities, the Manager of Human
Resources Section of Hai Tong Securities and the General
Manager of the Stock Trading Section of the headquarter of Hai
Tong Securities. Mr. Wang holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration for Senior Managers from Shanghai Jiaotong
University. Mr. Wang has extensive knowledge and rich experience
in securities, financial and corporate management. Mr. Wang joined
the Board in June 2008.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, aged 62, was first appointed to the
Board as an independent non-executive director in November
1998 and has been acting as the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company since August 1999. He
is also a member of the Remuneration Committee and Strategy
Committee. Mr. Ng graduated from Loughborough University in
England in 1972 with a B.Sc. degree in Electronic and Electrical
Engineering, and from London Graduate School of Business
Studies in England in 1974 with a M.Sc. degree in Business
Studies. He is a director of Somerley Limited, the principal business
of which is the provision of corporate financial advisory services.
Mr. Ng has over 30 years of experience in corporate finance
and investment banking. Mr. Ng currently is a non-executive
director of Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: HK 533) and an
independent non-executive director of China Molybdenum Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: HK 3993). Mr. Ng tendered his resignation as an
independent non-executive director from the board of Dalian Port
(PDA) Company Limited (stock code: HK 2880) on 17 March 2011
(having been a director since 16 November 2005). He was also
an independent non-executive director of Stone Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: HK 409) from September 2004 to November
2009. In addition, Mr. Ng is a member of the Board of Governors of
Hong Kong Arts Centre.

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, aged 68, is an independent non-
executive director and the Chairman of the Strategy Committee
of the Company. He is also a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Seto is a director of Pacific Eagle Asset
Management Limited. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Kowloon Development Company Limited (stock code:
HK 34) and Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: HK 47)
and non-executive director of Sateri Holdings Limited (stock code:
HK 1768). He was an independent director of Everbright Securities
Company Limited, a company incorporated in PRC, from 2005
to 2007. He was the Chief Executive Officer of HSBC Broking
Services (Asia) Limited from 1982 to 2001. He was a non-executive
director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (stock
code: HK 388) from 2000 to 2003, a council member of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong from 1994 to 2000, and was the first vice
chairman of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong from 1997 to 2000.
He holds a Master of Business Administration degree from New
York University, USA and has over 34 years of experience in the
securities and futures industry. Mr. Seto joined the Board in April
2008.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Lin Zhijun

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Lin Zhijun, aged 57, is an independent non-executive director
of the Company and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Strategy Committee. Dr. Lin is a Professor and Head of the
Department of Accountancy and Law in Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: HK 3808) and
Springland International Holdings Limited (stock code: HK 1700).
Both are listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Lin holds a Master’s
degree in Science in Accounting from University of Saskatchewan
in Canada and a Doctorate’s degree in Economics (Accounting)
from Xiamen University. Dr. Lin worked as a Visiting Professor
in The University of Hong Kong and Tenured Professor in the
Faculty of Management of Lethbridge University in Canada. Dr.
Lin worked at the Toronto office of an international accounting
firm (now known as “Deloitte”) in 1982 to 1983 and he was also a
professional consultant to an international law firm. Dr. Lin is also a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Australian Institute of Certified Management Accountants. He is a
member of various educational accounting associations including
the American Accounting Association, the International Association
for Accounting Education and Research and the Hong Kong
Association for Accounting Education. Dr. Lin is also an author of a
series of professional articles and books. Dr. Lin joined the Board in
September 2005.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick, aged 52, is the Chief Risk Officer
of the Group and a member of the Management Committee. He is
also the Chairman of the Risk Management Group. Mr. Tsang is a
Chartered Financial Analyst and has been a director of The Hong
Kong Society of Financial Analysts Limited since 2001. In 2009, Mr.
Tsang was appointed as a member of the Securities and Futures
Appeals Tribunal, whose term was extended to 2013. In May 2011,
Mr. Tsang was appointed, for a two year term, as a member of the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission’s (SFC) Advisory
Committee. He is a holder of Bachelor’s degree in Arts and
Master’s degree in Arts with a major in Economic and Finance. Mr.
Tsang joined the Group in February 2000. He has over 27 years of
experience in the financial industry.
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ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. Yin Lianchen

Mr. Yin Lianchen, aged 46, is the Assistant General Manager of
the Group. Mr. Yin was the Officer of the Beijing head office of
China Everbright Group Limited prior to joining our Group. He
was formerly the Vice President of Beijing Yonder Environment
Engineering Company Limited and the Chief Representative of
China of Moody’s KMV. He was the General Manager of the
Human Resource and Corporate Administration Department, the
Director of Corporate Communications Department and Managing
Director of the Insurance Brokerage Department successively of
the Group from 2002 to 2006. He worked for several key positions
in People’s Bank of China Headquarter from 1990 to 2001. Mr.
Yin holds a Bachelor Degree of Management and Master Degree
of Accounting from Tianjin Nankai University. Mr. Yin has rich
experience in financial and corporate management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Ming Kin, Desmond

Mr. Chan Ming Kin, Desmond, aged 42, is the Legal Counsel and
Company Secretary, Head of Legal and Company Secretarial
Department of the Group. He is a member of the Supervisory
Board of Everbright Securities Company Limited (a company listed
in Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: SH:601788). Mr. Chan
holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate
in Laws of the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a Master
of Corporate Governance degree of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. As a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong, Mr. Chan has more
than 16 years of experience in private practice and as an in-house
counsel. Mr. Chan is also a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries.
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The board of directors hereby presents the Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements of China Everbright Limited
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in investment holdings and
the provision of financial services. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

TURNOVER AND CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP
RESULTS

The turnover and contribution to operating results of the Group
by activity and geographical location are set out in note 42 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
set out on pages 93 and 94 of this Annual Report.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.3 per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010:
HK$0.3 per share).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s turnover represents the aggregate of revenue from
the sale of trading securities, interest income, dividend income,
rental income, brokerage commission and service fee income.
Accordingly, it is not practical to state the percentage of the sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customers and percentage of
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest suppliers.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder holding
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital has an
interest in the share capital of any of the five largest suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 193 of this Annual
Report.
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FIXED ASSETS
Movements in fixed assets are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31
December 2011 are set out on pages 194 and 195 of this Annual
Report.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at
31 December 2011 are set out in notes 16 and 17 to the financial
statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year, the issued share capital of the Company reduced
from 1,723,562,962 shares to 1,720,561,712 shares. The details
are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES
Movements in share premium and reserves during the year are set
out on pages 98 and 161 of this Annual Report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2011
as calculated under Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance amounted to approximately HK$266,167,000 (2010:
HK$435,340,000).

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within one year or on demand
are classified as current liabilities in the financial statements.
Bank loans repayable over one year are classified as hon-current
liabilities. No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Set out below is information in relation to a continuing connected
transaction entered into by the Group which is required under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”) to be disclosed in the
Annual Report of the Company:

On 20 January 2011, China Everbright Securities International
Limited (“CESI”), which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company at that time, signed a tenancy agreement with Lane
Bright Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited (“CE Holdings”, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company), for leasing office premises situated
on 36th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for a term of 2 years from 31 December 2010 to 30
December 2012 at a monthly rental of HK$535,000, exclusive
of rates and management fees and other charges (“the Tenancy
Agreement”). The Tenancy Agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

On 22 April 2011, the Company announced that Action Globe
Limited (“the Seller”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement with Everbright Securities Financial
Holdings Limited (“the Purchaser”), a subsidiary of Everbright
Securities Company Limited whose shares are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601788), pursuant
to which the Seller agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed
to purchase the sale shares, representing 51% of the issued
share capital of Everbright Securities (International) Limited, the
controlling shareholder of CESI, at a consideration of HK$891
million (“the Transaction”). On 18 May 2011, upon completion of
the Transaction, CESI became a 49%-owned associate of the
Company. Therefore, the Tenancy Agreement ceased to be a
continuing connected transaction of the Company.

From 1 January 2011 to 18 May 2011, the total rental expenses
incurred by CESI under the tenancy agreement amounted to
approximately HK$2,433,000. (Please also refer to note 36(a) to the
financial statements.)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)
Before the signing of the Tenancy Agreement, in the opinion of the
directors, the connected transaction was conducted on normal
commercial terms. The independent non-executive directors
have conducted the annual review of the connected transaction
and confirmed that such transaction was entered into on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary course of business of the Group
and in accordance with the agreement governing the transaction.
The transaction was entered into on terms no less favourable than
the terms available to independent third parties, and the aggregate
value of such transaction did not exceed the limits set out in Rule
14A.34 of the Listing Rules.

The board of directors had requested the auditors of the Company
to perform certain agreed audit procedures on the continuing
connected transaction and received a letter from the auditors as
required under Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this Annual Report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Shuangning, Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Chen Shuang, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, Assistant General Manager

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wang Weimin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Dr. Lin Zhijun

According to Articles 120 and 121 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, one-third of the directors (who have been longest in
office) shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general
meeting of the Company provided that every director shall retire
once every three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-
election.

In addition, according to Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, any director appointed by the board either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the board shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Articles 120 and 121, Messrs. Tang Chi Chun,
Richard, Wang Weimen and Seto Gin Chung, John, being the
directors who have been longest in office, shall retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares of equity derivatives and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (as defined by Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) as recorded in
the register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions required to be maintained under section 352 of the SFO
are as follows:

= -16))
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1a. Long position in shares of the Company: 1a. REQATRBZRER !
Personal Family Corporate % of total
Name of director Total interest interest interest  issued capital
EEps By B AR B DEER FERTRAEH
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 719,000 719,000 - - 0.04
Bk
ib. Long position in shares of China Everbright 1b. RAATZHEBEATFE R KEK

International Limited, an associated corporation of the
Company: Nil

2. Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives
of the Company: Nil
Details of the share options held by the directors and chief
executives of the Company are shown in the following section
under the heading “Information on Share Options”.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

2.

EERTETBAEREZRS
MHERDER - EFNXR(8)

Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives 2. RAQTHEBERSY - BREATET R
of the Company (continued) Z2RE (&)
As at 31 December 2011, save as disclosed herein, none R-E——F+-_F=+—HKt
of the directors and chief executives of the Company were WBREEIN  KARIREBEESFNRE
interested in short positions in the shares, underlying shares EHMEBECEERTETHAR
of equity derivatives or debentures of the Company or any R MARELMAN  RARESE
associated corporation defined under the SFO as recorded MEBITHASHMERBAAR
in the register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and EfrBeE A a2 Bl - R G IR
short positions. AOTHE T ESEH AR R -
Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives 3. REKZATEERS - BARFTE
of associated corporations TEZRE
As at 31 December 2011, the following director had personal R-Z—F+_-_A=1+—8 " U
interests in options to subscribe for shares in China Everbright TESREAE T REAN R 2
International Limited (“CEIL”), an associated corporation of BNBIFRE N KBERER AT ([
the Company. The shares of CEIL are listed on The Stock KEIBR ) 2 RBHE - ERHORES
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). AR SARAR (BT E
o
Number of
underlying
shares of CEIL
Exercise (ordinary
price shares)
Nature of (HK$) KREBZ Total
Name of director interest f7f#€  Date of grant Exercise period  HERHHE percentage
BEpE BiftE (%) RLAH iy (BER) BEAM
Zang Qiutao Personal 0.85 03.08.06 03.08.08-25.06.13 2,000,000 0.054%
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1.

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTIONS AREER
Information in relation to share options of the Company disclosed in 1R £ 77 18 Bl FT i 55 & B iR R A /9 &k
accordance with the Listing Rules was as follows: PN
Outstanding share options as at 1 January 2011: 1. R-ZE——F-—-H—BERTEN
ARE
Date of Exercise price
Number grant (HKS)
of options R Vesting period Exercise period THEE
AREHE Riti A B T8 (&)
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 319,000 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
Bk
Total employees 263,750 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
EEMEEH

No outstanding share options as at 31 December 2011. 2.

No share options were granted during the year ended 3.

31 December 2011.

Number of share options exercised during the year 4.

BE-_Z——&+-A=+—H%
B4 RITE R RIRAE -

B#E_E——F+-"A=+t—-AHL
FREWERHARE

BE-B2——F+-A=t—-HL

ended 31 December 2011: FERTENZRESE !
WA Closing
Exercise price**
price (HK$)
(HKS) g
Date of grant  No. of shares TEE W mE*
i A R E (A7) (A7)
Tang Chi Chun, Richard &f--{& 10.04.06 319,000 4.800 15.980
Total employees EEMBEH 10.04.06 263,750 4.800 17.406

* The weighted average (“WA”) closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the options

were exercised.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
5. No share options were cancelled during the year ended
31 December 2011.

6. No share options lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2011.

7. Valuation of share options
The fair value of share options granted is measured using a
Binomial Option Pricing Model based on the volatility of the
Company’s share price immediately preceding the date of
the grant, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the share options were granted.

The Group amortises the fair value of share options granted
to employees as an expense in the income statement in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payments”. Details
of the underlying accounting policy are set out in note 2(p)(ii)
to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
directors, chief executives or their respective associates had any
interest in the securities of the Company or in any of its associated
corporations or in any arrangements to which the Company is a
party to purchase shares of the Company or any other corporate
body.

INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 24
May 2002, an ordinary resolution was passed to adopt a Share
Option Scheme (“the Scheme”).

A summary of the Scheme disclosed in accordance with the Listing
Rules is as follows:

1.  Purpose of the Scheme:
To provide an incentive or reward to eligible persons for their
contribution and continuing efforts in promoting the interests
of the Group.

2.  Participants of the Scheme:
Any employeg(s) including any director(s) of the Company or
any subsidiary or associated company.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme and percentage of issued share capital as at
31 December 2011:
112,666,171 (6.55%)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme:

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to
any participants in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of issued shares from time to time unless
such grant has been duly approved by ordinary resolution of
the shareholders in the general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:
The exercise period of options ranges from 1 to 4 years.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The vesting periods ranges from 1 to 2.5 years from the date
of the granting.

(@) The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option:
HK$1.00

(b) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made:
Within 30 days of the date of the offer

(c) The period within which loans for such purposes
must be repaid:
N/A

MR BIER ()
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8. The basis of determining the exercise price:
The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
which shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of
the shares; (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;
and (iii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

9. The remaining life of the Scheme:
The Scheme will expire on 24 May 2012.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director offering for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation other than the
normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which must be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who directly or indirectly,
had a 5% or greater interest in the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group:

FERR
RZFE——F+=-A=+—8 "  TIA
AR RS RABRERL (D A EIR
BESE M EIEAIEXVEEE2 R E3DE
MERRA ZHERIAE - LEEHE
BEEAMSERNETAS R T EAER
AMEMKERARZBERE LIEE
(EAAEA R R AL % A S

Long Position BoOoZEE
% of total
No. of shares issued shares
Name of shareholder beneficially held {EE 31T
REER EREFERMEE RAEABDHE
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (Note) 870,873,207 50.62%
PR KRB AR A A (M)
Datten Investments Limited (Note)(FftT) 867,119,207 50.40%
Honorich Holdings Limited 867,119,207 50.40%
Note: 867,119,207 shares are held by Honorich Holdings Limited ~ & : 867,119,207 A% B& f» E Honorich

(*Honorich”). Honorich is wholly-owned by Datten Investments
Limited (“Datten”) which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“Holdings”).
Accordingly, Datten and Holdings are deemed to have the same
interests in the shares of the Company as Honorich. 3,754,000
shares are held by Everbright Investment & Management Limited
(“EIM”), @ wholly owned subsidiary of Holdings.

As confirmed by Holdings, Holdings is interested in total
873,152,207 shares (representing 50.75% of the issued shares of
the Company) as at 31 December 2011 because of the additional
acquisition of 2,279,000 shares by EIM.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the directors
were not aware of any other persons who had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who directly or indirectly,
had a 5% or greater interest in the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group.

Holdings Limited([Honorich])#5% -
Honorich Jb B Datten Investments
Limited ([ Datten|) 2 &% & * M
Datten /3B KREBBER AT
AEEDZ2EWBAR - Bt
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased its shares on the Stock
Exchange as follows:

BE - HEIEE LHES

REER ARREBIABLEARER
DFFRLT

Number of shares

of HK$1.00 each Price per share
repurchased BRER Aggregate
BEEKEY  Lowest  Highest consideration
Month A 1.00TRHHE RIEE BaE o)
HK$ HKS HK$'000
BT BT BB
September 2011 2011F9A 1,322,000 8.15 8.99 11,463
October 2011 2011410 A 2,262,000 7.50 8.39 17,653
3,584,000 29,116

The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase and accordingly,
the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. The premium on repurchase was
charged against retained profits. An amount equivalent to the
nominal value of the shares cancelled was transferred from retained
profits to the capital redemption reserve.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company believes that upholding good corporate governance
measures is important to ensure effective internal control and to
protect the long term interest of the shareholders, customers,
staff and the Company. The Company strictly complies with the
applicable laws and regulations and codes and guidelines of the
regulatory authorities, and strives to follow the best international
and local corporate governance practices and to develop and
improve the corporate governance practices of the Company.

For further details, please refer to the section on “Corporate
Governance Report”.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG, who retires
and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

During the year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee
comprised Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John,
and Dr. Lin Zhijun. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Ng Ming Wah,
Charles. All members of the Committee are independent non-
executive directors.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Management
have reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.
The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a summary of the duties discharged in 2011 have
been set out in the section on “Corporate Governance Report”.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible
employees under an approved defined contribution provident fund
(“the ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is administered by
trustees, the majority of whom are independent, with its assets
held separately from those of the Company. The ORSO Scheme is
funded by contributions from employees and employers at 5% each
based on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited contributions
may be used to reduce the existing level of contribution by the
Company.

Since 1 December 2000, the Group has also operated a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the ORSO
Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a monthly relevant income cap of HK$20,000.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the
People’s Republic of China are members of the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is the required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the consolidated income statement during the year ended 31
December 2011 amounted to approximately HK$1.39 million.

COMPETING INTEREST

Insofar as the directors are aware, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, an
independent non-executive director of the Company, is a director
of Somerley Limited, a financial services company principally
engaged in advising listed companies in Hong Kong on mergers
and acquisitions, equity capital raising and regulatory compliance
matters, which may be considered to compete or likely to compete
with some of the investment banking businesses of the Group.
However, the directors consider that the likelihood of a conflict of
interest occurring is minimal since most of the Group’s relevant
business decisions are handled at the subsidiary level. If and
when an occasion arises which may lead to actual or potential
competition, it is intended that Mr. Ng will make a full declaration of
his interests (if any) and abstain from the discussion and decision
making process(es) relating thereto.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

OTHER INFORMATION

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.30 per share for 2011 (2010: HK$0.30 per
share). Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.15 per share,
the aggregate dividend for the year is HK$0.45 per share (2010:
HK$0.43 per share).

The final dividend, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be paid on or
about Thursday, 31 May 2012 to those shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday,
22 May 2012.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 8 May 2012 to Friday, 11 May 2012, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. Shareholders
are reminded that, in order to qualify for attendance of the annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration at the
Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not
later than 4:00 p.m. on Monday, 7 May 2012.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Tuesday, 22 May 2012 to Thursday, 24 May 2012, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be registered.
Shareholders are reminded that, in order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration at the
Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not
later than 4:00 p.m. on Monday, 21 May 2012.

By order of the Board
China Everbright Limited
Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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lcnac

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 93 to 192, which comprise the
consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December
2011, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

VAN =] }—(43):2 For the year ended 31 December 2011
T2y = =i ¥ BE-T——FT- A=t HILFE

2011 2010
—EB——F —T-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
BT BET T BB
Continuing operations FECEER
Turnover EEH 4 3,089,975 2,214,071
Operating income EEWE 4 677,963 372,193
Other net income EFRA 4 747,256 1,348,431
Staff costs ETE&H 5 (222,354) (227,704)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses WENEHER 15 (22,183) (16,039)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale BEEEEFRAERK
securities (69,357) (15,731)
Impairment loss on amount W15 & A 7]
due from investee company FIEREBRLX (53,564) -
Other operating expenses Hihe e &R (103,671) (84,342)
Profit from operations BT 6 954,090 1,376,808
Finance costs BBER 7 (59,354) (34,775)
Share of profits less losses of associates FE(GTs & N R BRI R E R 17(b) 643,143 833,456
Share of profits less losses of jointly FEfE H R H TR
controlled entities BFREE 18(b) (18,913) (3,537)
Profit before taxation MR A 2R 1,518,966 2,171,952
Income tax ] 9 (184,964) (112,805)
Profit from continuing operations RBEREEBRT 1,334,002 2,059,147
Discontinued operations BT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATIERR 10(c 511,576 -
Profit from discontinued operations IERE RS EE T 10(a) 10,871 107,810
Profit for the year REZF 1,856,449 2,166,957
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

o A4S 32 For the year ended 31 December 2011
GEBRR az-F —Fr-A=t-ALEE

2011 2010
—2——-F —T-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT
Profit attributable to equity shareholders FERARARE 2 BF
of the Company:
Continuing operations FECEET 1,400,258 1,819,397
Discontinued operations B EEK 10 522,447 107,810
1,922,705 1,927,207
Non-controlling interests IR (66,256) 239,750
Profit for the year REZREF 1,856,449 2,166,957
Basic earnings per share BREAZF 14(a)
Continuing operations BERERES HK$0.813i8 T | HK$1.122% T
Discontinued operations IEFECEEK HK$0.303i& T | HKS$0.0677% 7T
HK$1.1165& T HK$1.1897% T
Diluted earnings per share TR ERT 14(0)
Continuing operations BEREER HK$0.813B T | HKS$1.1213% L
Discontinued operations BT EEK HK$0.303;8 T | HK$0.067/57T
HK$1.116i& 7T HK$1.188 T

The notes on pages 101 to 192 form part of these financial statements. Details of ~ FIERF 101 E1928 2 izt AR 153k S 7 —36
dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit % o 15 F AR BIRE R 2 FEI AR B 5 F 40 & A BT
for the year are set out in note 12. F120
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

VAN < i% For the year ended 31 December 2011
,%/T [=) %ﬁq&ﬁ HE-F—F+-A=t—ALFEE

2011 2010
—E——F| —ZTI%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B=E BEET T BT
Profit for the year TEEEF 1,856,449 2,166,957
Other comprehensive income for the AEEHM2ERGR
year (after tax and reclassification (RBBRDERAER) :
adjustments): 13
Net movement in investment revaluation HHEEEHFZREE
reserve of available-for-sale securities HREFES (3,047,770) 3,640,416
Share of investment revaluation reserve, PGBt & AN B E B
exchange reserve and capital reserve of e EHREEN
associates BN (203,455) 301,498
Share of option premium reserve of a jointly Bkt [E12 | & a2 f:
controlled entity RIS R B 131 -
Exchange reserve 0E W A 143,503 93,229
(3,107,591) 4,035,143
Total comprehensive income for the year Z"&E 2 E k558 (1,251,142) 6,202,100
Attributable to: FER
Equity shareholders of the Company ViN/NC]) 38 (873,037) 5,389,966
Non-controlling interests FEEARE S (378,105) 812,134
Total comprehensive income for the year ZxE2EUkzSA5E (1,251,142) 6,202,100
The notes on pages 101 to 192 form part of these financial statements. FIERE101 21928 2 it AR R E R —FB

e
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GREERER

As at 31 December 2011
RZZT——F+=A=+—H

Group Company
P-4 | ADF
31 December | 31 December | 31 December | 31 December
Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010
. —B—-f “T-%F —g--% —Z-%F
Wz |+=A=t+-RB |tZA=1+—-RH |t=B=+-R |fZA=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Fixed assets TEE 15 569,571 560,035 60 189
Investments in subsidiaries M\TE@E&E 16(a) - - 1,726,727 1,750,347
Amounts due from subsidiaries N 16(0) - - 4,409,887 4,790,043
Investments in associates ﬁ%ﬂ T&é 17() 9,700,682 9,225,584 1,784,192 1,784,192
Investments in jointly controlled entities HEASHEELE 18 510,840 84,863 - 78
Avallable-for-sale securities 1%%&1”% Ei 19 11,211,236 13,533,672 6,297,784 7,900,390
Financial assets designated at fair value REARRERIRY
through profit or loss ATEENSREE 20 1,166,953 907,656 - -
Advances to customers REER 21 393,960 551,353 - -
Amounts dug from investee companies [ UNGIERE] 16(d) 111,823 145,794 - -
23,665,065 25,008,957 14,218,650 16,225,239
Current assets RBEE
Advances to customers EPER 21 1,990,120 655,964 - -
Amounts due from subsiolaries B AR 16(0) - - - 950,000
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities U HT‘L%\\J,\E“ i 18(c) 334,823 - - -
Debtors, deposits and prepayments S - Tﬁﬁ&]"ﬁﬁ?ﬁ 22 722,479 515,805 209,386 6,505
Trading securities REH 28 141,672 716,200 - -
Cash and cash equivelents ReRFEEEY 2 4,246,257 4,578,384 641,156 2,491
7,435,351 6,466,353 850,542 958,996
Assets classified as held for sale SEHEEE 25 - 2,466,350
7,435,351 8,932,703
Current liabilities RBaE \
Creditors, deposits received and TR EldRE R
accrued charges JElR ﬁ% 27 (178,813) (328,977) (14,078) 2,319
Trading securities % : 23 (206) - - -
Bank loans ﬁﬁﬁéﬁa 26 (1,063,754) (615,576) - -
Financial liability designated at fair value REARBRR T
through profit or loss AHENERERE (148,058) - - -
Notes payable e 28 (633,965) (143,295) - -
Amounts due to subsidliaries BB AR 16(0) - - (395,987) (806,055
Amounts due to associates [ERRE Q 17() (438) (438) (438) (438)
Provision for taxation B 29(a) (413,150) (569,063) (20,451) -
(2,438,384) (1,657,349) (430,954) (808,812)
Liabilities classified as held for sale FIEHERE 25 - (828,677)
(2438384) | (2486026)
Net current assets FRBEE 4,996,967 6,446,677 419,588 150,184
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBDEE 28,662,032 31,455,634 14,638,238 16,375,423
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2011

%%ﬁ%g\fﬁ% R=—Z—F+=-A=+—H
Group Company
P-4 | b NG
31 December | 31 December | 31December | 31 December
Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010
| c®-%| 335 | —g-%| -5
Wiz |+=B=t+-R |t=ZA=1+—R |+=B=1+-R |TZA=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BRI BT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loans RITER 26 (69,517) (476,786) - -
Financial liaboiity designated at fair value EEARBERARE
through profit or loss ATEENERER - (38,917) - -
Deferred tax liabilties ERHEER 29(o) (319,787) (768,460) (104,726) (103,764)
(389,304) (1,284,163) (104,726) (103,764)
NET ASSETS FEE 28,272,728 30,171,471 14,533,512 16,271,659
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RAR e
Share capital A 30 1,720,562 1,723,563 1,720,562 1,723,563
Reserves 51 31 24,744,775 26,417,060 12,812,950 14,548,096
Total equity attributable to BERALARRER
equity shareholders of the Company 26,465,337 28,140,623 14,533,512 16,271,659
Non-controlling interests IS 1,807,391 2,030,848 - -
TOTAL EQUITY ERAH 28,272,728 30,171,471 14,533,512 16,271,659

R-ZE——FZA-—F+_BAKETSERE
BTEES HIATEERRESE

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March
2012 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Tang Shuangning Chen Shuang
Ee= PR3

Director Director

EF 3

TIENFE 101 =128 2 M E R AN 58S 1 — &b
e

The notes on pages 101 to 192 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2 /\*"') (,2“‘:,“ E.b %% For the year ended 31 December 2011
N BE-T——F+t-_A=1t—HAILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

SRRAAERR
Option Non-
premium  Investment Capital controlling
Share Share reserve  revaluation  redemption Goodwill Capital ~ Exchange Retained interests Total
capital premium ABE reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings Total FER equity

BE  BAER  ERGRE RHEGER SAREERE  BERR  BXER  ENRR  RERW &if B EsaH
Note  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKGOOD  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKS000
Wi EMTT  BMTT  BETr  B%Tn  B%Tn BRTn B%Tr B%Tr #%Tx E%Tx A%Tn A¥Tn

Asat 1 January 2010 —5-35-f-H 1,592,264 5,724,469 4087 5,060,260 2984 (924,395 109,714 604,3% 8811,449 20985177 873999 21,859,176
Placement of new shares REHR 129000 219533 - - - - - - - 22433 - 2433
Shares issued under B TR AME

share option scheme 229 783 2.921) - - - - - - 7213 - 7213
Netinvestment by SHERRRIRE

non-controling

sharenolders - - - - - - - - - - 3441715 344715
Divicends peid Eiffke ? - - - - - - - - (626088 (526,068 - (526,068)
Proft forthe year TEER - - - - - - - - 1TAT 197201 23750 2166957
Other comprehensiveincome ~ AEEEf

for the year SEYEES - - - 3010761 - - - 451,998 - 3462759 572384 4,035,143

Asat 31 December 2010and~ H=F-%F

1 January 2011 TZR=+-Rk
—F——5-f-H 1723563 7887639 1,116 8,071,021 2084 (924305 109714 1056395 10212588 28140623 2000848  30,171471
Shares issued under RB TR ME
share option scheme 583 2212 - - - - - - - 2,7% - 279
Netinvestment by FERREFRE
non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 154,648 154,648
Dividends paid BfiRE 12 - - - - - - - - (175868 (775860) - (175800)
Transfer between resenves feeEneEn - 1116 (1,116) - - 255,89 10,000) - (245,89) - - -
Shares repurchased e (3,584) - - - 3584 - - - (29,178 (29,178) - (29178
Proft for the year REERT - - - - - - - - 192705 192270 (66256) 1,856,449
Other comprehensiveincome A EEf
for the year 2ERBEE - - 181 (3363089 - - 83,186 484,004 - %) (B89 (3107591
As at 31 December 2011 i3
TZA=1+-A 1720562 7890967 181 4707938 6568 (668499 182900 1540417 11084353 26465337 1807301 28272728
The notes on pages 101 to 192 form part of these financial statements. HIERE101E1928 2 [ EARM B RS
H—&5 °
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

= A Ayl — 1 43'% For the year ended 31 December 2011
:%/T\ == Iﬁﬁ/)lbi BE-T —F+-A=t+—HILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —T—FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B BT T BT
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM REFHEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HemFE 41 (2,268,999)| (1,236,165)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of fixed assets BERETEE (23,304) (166,110)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets HERTEEEMSIE - 141
Proceeds from disposal of HENBARRE
subsidiaries FriS 508 400,693 -
Increase in deposits pledged RVEEH 2 733800 (154,079) (391,328)
Purchase of available-for-sale securities PEEHEHEEES (1,088,384) (1,402,533)
Purchase of financial assets designated at BB T AmBIEE AR
fair value through profit or loss NEEENSREE (105,990) (341,571)
Investment in jointly controlled entities HEEHZTEKESTE (462,217) (4,702)
Proceeds from disposal of HEFEHIEEZAMEREA
available-for-sale securities 1,058,345 1,411,717
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEFET AiBiBIER A Kt
assets designated at fair value NHEENEREE
through profit or loss FriS5/38 - 36,846
Proceeds from issuance of financial HEFET ABiBiBIER A Kt
liability designated at fair value ANTEENSRAE
through profit or loss FriS3/I8 - 38,917
Proceeds from disposal of an associate B & N B E TS R 18,450 -
Bank interest received B YERITHE 26,038 11,428
Dividends from investments in securities BB HRERE 79,196 167,843
Dividends from associates B E A FIRE 626,217 1,397,417
NET CASH INFLOW FROM REFZDEEZRESHRANFTRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 374,965 758,065
NET CASH OUTFLOW BEFORE RERR SN R
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,894,034) (478,100)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2011

FEBWERER #z-T —+-A=t-Arsw
2011 2010
—E——F —ZF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE BT T BT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Issue of ordinary shares BT E B 2,795 2,291,548
Issue of shares in subsidiaries to BB AR 2D T
non-controlling shareholders FEFE AR RS B 205,361 405,370
Shares repurchased B (29,178) -
Proceeds from bank loans BEARITER 1,322,830 695,217
Proceeds from notes payable BTN RIER 519,000 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling IREENR BT IEE HXHX?
shareholders (225,556) (7,883)
Dividends paid BRRRE (775,866) (526,068)
NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING RETHEL 2HERATEE
ACTIVITIES 1,019,386 2,858,184
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASEIN CASH B&RELSZEY>
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SFEORD), /1 (874,648)| 2,380,084
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BHEREBEESEEY
Beginning of year FH)4E 4,494,348 2,035,739
Exchange rate adjustments [E R g% 22,379 78,525
End of year FREE 3,642,079 4,494,348
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH HBE& RIS EEYEEIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR MRS
— general accounts ——RRERF 24 4,246,257 4,578,384
Deposits pledged RYEER 27K 24 (604,178) (450,099)
Cash and cash equivalents classified as IWEHEEEZRE &
assets held for sale REEEY 25 - 366,063
End of year FREER 24 3,642,079 4,494,348

The notes on pages 101 to 192 form part of these financial statements.

FIERFE101 21928 2 M sE AN TSR E
H—2B5 ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Luby ET R

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Everbright Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Hong
Kong with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The directors of the Company consider China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
to be the ultimate holding company of the Company and Honorich
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
to be the immediate holding company of the Company. Neither of
them provide financial statements for public use.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company, through its subsidiaries and associates, is principally
engaged in investment activities and the provision of financial
services.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (HKASSs) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

FEEK
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—MERBEMA ARG - RARZ
RIDVARBBHER BRI T L o
RAREFRALERBEMEK LA F
RAREBER AR AARR T ZRELER
AR MEERBERRESEMKLZ
Honorich Holdings LimitedBl|&ZA A&~
PR AR o MR A AR A R H
M mERE AREH -

ARRRZ EBEFERICEER » NAA]
WEBEMBARRBERT » #ETE
ERRERSRIER SRR 2 X5 -

FTESTHEER

(@ M&EESIEH
WM BRRTRBERGAMA
SRMAEERNCEBU RS
EAD(ESED SRERERDN
(BEARUBHRELEA) (BEER
EADRZEB)RE  XTE(EE
RRGETERDRBBCRRUED)
ZRRE o bbI - R BRI
ERBARIMABRARES
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ERMEE B R BERBIINT o

DRGSR RME TH
AIRRERI BB BREE
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SERARRSESAHREAER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest
in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

- investment properties (note 2(h));

= financial instruments classified as trading, financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss, available-
for-sale securities or financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss (note 2(f)); and

- derivative financial instruments (note 2(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 43.

2.

E:3-H e )

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into account. An
investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intragroup
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the non-controlling shareholders
exceed their interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess,
and any further losses applicable to the non-controlling
shareholders, are charged against the Group’s interest except
to the extent that the non-controlling shareholder has a binding
obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to
cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits,
the Group’s interest is allocated all such profit until the non-
controlling’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group
has been recovered.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 2(f)) or when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled
entity (see note 2(d)).

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2())), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see note 2(x)).

Associates and jointly controlled entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the Company and one or more
of the other parties share joint control over economic activity of
the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale
(see note 2(x)). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (notes
2(e) and 2 (l)). The Group’s share of the post acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated income statement,
whereas the Group’s share of post-acquisition post-tax items
of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

()

Associates and jointly controlled entities (continued)
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in the investee is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and jointly controlled
entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or joint control over a jointly controlled entity,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in associates
and jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(l)), unless it is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale
(see note 2(x)).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of:

()  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.
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2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

U]

Goodwill (continued)
When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2())). In respect
of associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying amount
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the interest in
the associate or jointly controlled entity and the investment as
a whole is tested for impairment whenever there is objective
evidence of impairment (note 2 (1)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit, an associate or a jointly
controlled entity during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January 2001
was eliminated against goodwill reserves. Such goodwill is
released from goodwill reserves to retained earnings when all
or part of the business to which the goodwill is related to is
disposed.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are as
follows:

Trading debt and equity securities are acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of trading, or are part of a portfolio of
identified debt and equity securities that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking.

Investments in debt and equity securities are designated at fair
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition when these
financial instruments are managed, evaluated and reported
internally on a fair value basis, or the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)
Debt and equity securities under this category are carried at
fair value and are not generally allowed to be reclassified into
or out of this category while held or issued. Changes in the
fair value are included in the income statement in the period in
which they arise. Upon disposal or repurchase, the difference
between the net sale proceeds or the net payment and the
carrying value is included in the income statement.

Other investments in debt and equity securities are classified
as available-for-sale securities and are initially recognised at
fair value plus attributable transaction costs. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the investment revaluation
reserve, except for impairment losses (see note 2(l)) and, in
the case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised directly in
profit or loss. Where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss. When these investments are
derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group and/or the Company commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at
initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without
modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable markets.
When transaction price provides the best evidence of fair
value at initial recognition, the financial instrument is initially
measured at the transaction price and any difference between
this price and the value initially obtained from a valuation model
is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate
basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the
valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out.

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are recognized in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note 2())).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

0]

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives
qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedge the net
investment in a foreign operation, in which case recognition of
any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item
being hedged.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(k)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at each balance
sheet date. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 2(s)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property
is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 2(k)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied to other investment properties leased
under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted for as
described in note 2(k).

Other property and equipment

The following items of property and equipment are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(1)):

- interests in leasehold land held for own use;

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value could be measured
separately from the fair value of the leasehold land at the
inception of the lease (see note 2(k)); and

- other items of equipment comprising leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and
motor vehicles.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@i

)}

(k)

Other property and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of
items of property and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

= Interest in leasehold land held for own use is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease

= Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date
of purchase

- LLeasehold improvements 5 years
- Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on
a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, except for property
held under operating leases that would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property is classified as
investment property on a property-by-property basis
and, if classified as investment property, is accounted for
as if held under a finance lease (see note 2(h)).
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2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

() Impairment of assets

()

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities and current
receivables that are carried at cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for current receivables are
reversed if in a subsequent period the amount
of the impairment loss decreases. Impairment
losses for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Impairment of assets (continued)

()

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets).

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impaiment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that had been recognised in the investment
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that
is recognized in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subseguent increase in the fair value of such assets
is recognised directly in the investment revaluation
reserve.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.
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2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

0

(i)

Property and equipment;

Pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as
being held under an operating lease;

Intangible assets;

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities (except for those classified as

held for sale or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale); and

Goodwiill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U

Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit
(or group of units) and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use,
if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(m) Accounts receivable and other receivables

(n)

Accounts receivable and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts (see note 2(l)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2())).

Accounts payable and other payables

Accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in an option premium reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Share-based payments (continued)
During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior year is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the option premium
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the option premium reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the option premium reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan
which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movement
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purpose and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R At

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

Dividend and interest income received by the Company or
the Group may be subject to withholding tax imposed in the
country of origin. Dividend and interest income is recorded
gross of such taxes and the corresponding withholding tax is
recognised as tax expense.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by e

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()  Brokerage commission and service income
Brokerage commission and service income is recognised
on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions are
executed and related services are provided.

(i)  Sale of trading securities
Gains or losses on sale of trading securities are
recognised on a trade date basis when the relevant
transactions are executed.

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(v)  Dividend income
Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(v)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign
currency borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation which are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of
foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation
acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the
foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are
capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

by E El R

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

@

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

)

(vi)

(vil)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
Group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R At

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

(x)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations

(i) Non-current assets held for sale
A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT ERaR M RE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(x) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

)

(i)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies
before the classification. Then, on initial classification
as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for certain assets as explained below),
or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The
principal exceptions to this measurement policy so far as
the financial statements of the Group and the Company
are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures)
and investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance with
the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale,
are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current
asset is classified as held for sale, or is included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the non-
current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It also
occurs if the operation is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(x)  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)
(i) Discontinued operations (continued)
Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a
single amount is presented on the face of the income
statement, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 December 2011, the HKICPA has issued a
number of amendments to HKFRSs and one new Interpretation that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Of these, the following developments are relevant to
the Group’s financial statements:

- HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures
- Improvements to HKFRSs (2010)

The impacts of these developments are discussed below:

° HKAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related party.
As a result, the Group has re-assessed the identification of
related parties and concluded that the revised definition does
not have any material impact on the Group’s related party
disclosures in the current and previous periods.

° Improvements to HKFRSs (2010) omnibus standard introduces
a number of amendments to the disclosure requirements in
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures. The disclosures
about the Group’s financial instruments have been conformed
to the amended disclosure requirements. These amendments
do not have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurements of the amounts recognised in
the financial statements in the current and previous periods.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current year.
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4. OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER NET INCOME 4, EBEWEREAMFRA
Continuing operations HEREEK
Operating income and other net income recognised during the year INEE B BR 7 A8 Uk 25 B E SR A 4N
are as follows: T
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Operating income EXWn
Consultancy and management fee income BHBNEEBIA 94,180 52,565
Interest income on financial assets not at fair value  JEiREBIEZ AR A FEBERN SR
through profit or loss BEFSHA
— bank deposits —RITER 25,524 10,814
- advances to customers —EFER 254,281 129,340
— unlisted debt securities —JEEMEEES 15,705 13,433
~ others —Hft 81 165
Dividend income RS
— listed investments — FHRE 269,266 156,510
— unlisted investments —JELETIRE 14,300 7,671
Gross rental income from investment properties REFREWERSLBUIA 4,626 1,695
677,963 372,198
Other net income HAFWA
Net realised (loss)/gain on trading securities HEXRHEHERF
(1#8%)/ HﬁZ”
— equity securities —REEH (174,768) 59,777
— debt securities —EEES (4,538) 1,794
— derivatives —TETA (7,959) (25,614)
(187,265) 35,957
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on trading investments RHKE Z?EEIE%‘?‘HSZE%/ (BX)
— equity securities -REES (12,775) (21,215)
— debt securities —EEES (21,635) 1,665
- derivatives —f$TETH (926) 29,963
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities & @i & &5 2 F s 691,416 1,057,740
Net realised gain on financial assets designated BT ;%Lﬂ?a SA R ATFEER
at fair value through profit or loss CREECER Tl - 8,543
Unrealised gain on financial assets designated at fair 157 ARBEZU KL AT EER
value through profit or loss TREERER RS 141,002 245,877
Unrealised gain on financial liability designated at fair 5 7 7%5_15%5 SARBATBER
value through profit or loss SRAERER K 77,663 -
Loss on disposal of fixed assets Hj% B BEZBX @ (120)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on notes payable ENZEAEHRRE(BX) 28,330 (29,180)
Net exchange gain B 5 F e 12,726 11,887
Net surplus on revaluation of investment properties ~ JFi& & ¥ EH1EE 3,976 2,820
Others HAh 14,748 4,494
747,256 1,348,431
Turnover from continuing operations represents the aggregate gross FEREEBCEXBRHERIES
sale proceeds from disposal of trading securities, service fee income, ZHBEESTE  BREEBRA - FEIR
interest income, dividend income and gross rental income from A BREWMARRBIREYEHE S A

investment properties. A e
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B ERaREE
5. STAFF COSTS 5. BETIEH
Continuing operations BEREEK
2011 2010
—B——F| —T-ITF
HK$000 | HK$'000
BET T BT T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances FENTE - fE41 NoEB, 210,799 220,559
Staff welfare and insurance B TaF ARk 7,292 3,804
Staff training and recruitment 8 TI53I & HREE 3,274 2,599
Pension costs — mandatory provident fund and  iR{RAK AN — 58S &
defined contribution plans TEREHAETE 989 742
222,354 227,704
6. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 6. REEZF
Continuing operations HEREEK
Profit from operations is stated after charging the following: KERFEHBRTFER
2011 2010
—B——fF| —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Operating lease rentals in respect of rented T REELERERS
premises 5,452 9,603
Auditors’ remuneration ZERT NS 7,533 7,364
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HBER
Continuing operations HEREEK
2011 2010
—B——-F | —T-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on bank loans IRITERCFE 59,354 34,775

Effective interest rate of bank loans was approximately 6.81% per  $R{TE K Z B FIRA) A 86.81%(Fizt

annum (note 39(c)) 39(c))
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. EZE=RESMEeAZAEN

EMOLUMENTS &
(a) Directors’ emoluments: (@ EEM<:
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of BWEREB(RAIBEH)Y £ —
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: ANT— KR EEMEAT ¢
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HN=_ZTB——F+=-H=+—H
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit scheme 2011
Directors’ inkind Discretionary contributions Total
fee Fé 2R bonuses BifstEl —5-—-F
EShe BNAIE AL K At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT BT BETR BT

Executive directors HITEE

Tang Shuangning EEE - 100 - - 100
Zang Qiutao miE - 120 - - 120
Chen Shuang 3 - 2,005 7,200 - 9,205
Tang Chi Chun, Richard i - 1,540 3,300 12 4,852
Jiang Yuanzhi 2 - 1,295 2,300 - 3,595
Non-executive director HHTEE

Wang Weimin TRR - 105 - - 105
Independent non-executive directors B UAHTTEE

Ng Ming Wah, Charles RAEFE 120 194 - - 314
Seto Gin Chung, John AlfEiR® 120 180 - - 300
Lin Zhijun HEE 120 180 - - 300

360 5,719 12,800 12 18,891
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. EZ=RESMEeAZAEN

EMOLUMENTS (continued) cAC)
(a) Directors’ emoluments: (continued) (@ ES#ME: (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 N—T—-=ZF+=-H=+—H

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit scheme 2010
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary  contributions Total
fee #He - 2ER bonuses RikGHE] -4
EESin Bz BT s =51
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT EETT BT BT
Executive directors HiTEE
Tang Shuangning EEE - 80 - - 80
Zang Qiutao mE - 135 - - 135
Chen Shuang B3k - 1,790 7,000 - 8,790
Tang Chi Chun, Richard iR - 1,485 3,300 12 4797
Jiang Yuanzhi EYIv - 693 1,500 - 2,193
Non-executive director FHITEE
Wang Weimin TRR - 9% - - 9%
Independent non-executive directors B AHTEE
Ng Ming Wah, Charles REAE 120 197 - - 317
Seto Gin Chung, John AlfEtR® 120 190 - - 310
Lin Zhijun WEE 120 190 - - 310
360 4,855 11,800 12 17,027
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments b) BEMEZEBAE
2011 2010
—E2——F —EF-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Salaries and other emoluments e RHE bR 4,965 4,717
Bonuses TEAL 44,206 64,266
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHE R 63 59
49,234 69,042
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. EERE=SME>AZAENM
EMOLUMENTS (continued) £(E)
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (continued) b) EBEMEzREEAS(E)
2011 2010
—B——f | —ET-TF
Number of directors BEEAH 1 1
Number of employees BB A 4
5 5

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

ST ARANT -

Number of individuals

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000
HK$22,000,001 to HK$22,500,000

756,000,001 727 %6,500,0007T
717,500,001 727 %8,000,0007T
718,500,001 72 7% #9,000,0007T
719,000,001 727 %9,500,0007T

711,000,001 728 11,500,0007T
751#12,000,001 728 %12,500,0007T
714,500,001 T E 5 #15,000,0007T
716,500,001 T E B #17,000,0007T
7822, 000,001 T E B #22,500,0007T

AH
2011 2010
25| —T-TF
1 -
1 -
- 1
1 1
1 -
- 1
1 -
- 1
- 1
5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an
inducement to join the Group or as compensation for loss of

office (2010: HK$NIl).

Bonus payment is determined pursuant to incentive schemes

and relevant policies of the Group.

RAFEE  AEEYEZ NS
TREMENEBAL(BREES
K& 8 ) ARSI E AN A S ERERR
KOBEE(ZZ—TF : \) -

TEAL AR 1B 7N 55 [ BR E /O BB
R B REBER METE °
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9. INCOME TAX 9. BmE
The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010: BRI ER T IRANE 7 (L ERF AR
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for 1#16.5%( —Z—Z4F : 16.5% ) 1EFL1E
overseas subsidiaries is calculated at the appropriate current rates of K o HNAFIZ TR - BIRRBAEE
taxation in the relevant countries. HETERBRF KR E LS EBHE 2
WITHEETH -
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income statement REREIBRERRNZFIBAKLDT
represents:
2011 2010
—E2——F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEET T BT T
Company and subsidiaries ATRKHEBATE
Current taxation B RIEE
— Hong Kong profits tax —EBFER (22,952) (25,582)
— Overseas taxation — /G5 NEIE (206,850) (240,661)
— Over provision in respect of Hong Kong —EFHEFEHEE
profits tax in prior years AEEE 42,671 180,435
Deferred taxation IERERIE
— Deferred taxation relating to the origination — R EREE RO
and reversal of temporary differences RIRIERL IR (2,333) (46,044)
Income tax expense THIEE (189,464) (131,852)
Income tax charged from SECEEBTRIBEER
continuing operations (184,964) (112,805)
Income tax charged from I ECEEBHRIBER
discontinued operations (4,500) (19,047)
Income tax expense FRIEE A (189,464) (131,852)
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9.

INCOME TAX (continued)
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at
applicable tax rate:

o

BIE (&)
HEBRRBRHEANAT - HEEFEH
EHEZZRNT

2011 2010
—E——fF = —FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation M F7 BT &R 2,045,913 2,298,809
Calculated at the rates applicable to profits in -~ RABRETH 75 Bl AE R 8 A AT 155
the tax jurisdictions concerned ReAE 2718 531,587 651,192
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation AR 2 WA (413,262) (397,311)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for EOGIE: st
taxation purpose 79,343 40,438
Tax effect of utilisation of previously FRARIR AR FiE
unrecognised losses (944) (1,872
Tax effect of tax losses and other deductible ARIERZ T8 Ko B b v H1 ), ET A
temporary differences not recognised ERMTH T ER MR R
2 ] 35,411 19,840
Over provision in respect of prior years EFEE s R (42,671) (180,435)
Income tax expense THIEE A 189,464 131,852
10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 10. FIBEEER

On 18 May 2011, the Group completed the disposal of 51%
interest in Everbright Securities (International) Limited (“Everbright
Securities (International)”) to a subsidiary of Everbright Securities
Company Limited (“Everbright Securities”), an associated company
of the Group, at a consideration of HK$891 million (“Disposal
Consideration”). The principal activities of Everbright Securities
(International) are investment banking, securities and wealth
management business. This divestment generated a gain of
HK$512 million for the Group, representing the sum of the Disposal
Consideration and the fair value of the remaining 49% equity
interest of HK$685 million, net of the net asset value of Everbright
Securities (International) of HK$1,064 million. Upon completion
of the transaction, Everbright Securities (International) became a
49%—-owned associate of the Group, and its Board of Directors is
composed of two nominees from the Group and three nominees
from Everbright Securities.

Accordingly, the consolidated results of the operations of Everbright
Securities (International) for the period ended 17 May 2011 are
presented as discontinued operations in the financial statements.

R=F——FRA+/\B  REELE
¥ 91E L ([ HERE D) X REHK
BAERAB([HAFSR ] HEXAES
(BB BRAR([HERE])51%M
B o HFEEHRF BEKBIFRERIT
BERYEERE - WER P A AT
RS SR 4B a5 1 2B T I ES « ANEEE
Rzl R R HENEN X BREH
THI490% R RS E L EREME S
A EEK6.85(8 T » R & B
BB E1064BITFEE - RHTHZ
% BB KK ANEEFH49%E
mZBENE  EECESRBAEE
REMBALRAERBHRG=BAL
4R ©

Zit rRBEREBEE—_FT——%F1A
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

10. FREEE XK (8

An analysis of the results of the discontinued operations (a) FIFELEEKEBERIND N
is as follows: mE
1 January
to 17 May
2011
—E——F
—HB—HBZ 2010
HA++tH T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Turnover o -C] 91,353 369,337
Operating income BEW 89,436 359,910
Other net income EAFBA 2,799 15,696
Staff costs BTEHA (31,627) (106,531)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses — H7TE K #E & (1,958) (93)
Other operating expenses Hinge £ & A (42,213) (187,479)
Profit from operations ERF 16,437 131,503
Finance costs V%ER (1,066) (4,6406)
Profit before taxation AR Z R 15,371 126,857
Income tax T 18 (4,500) (19,047)
Profit from discontinued operations IS BB BT 10,871 107,810
An analysis of the cash flows of the discontinued (b) FBFEKEERNRESAESN
operations is as follows: mR :
1 January
to 17 May
2011
—E2——F
—A—BZE 2010
EFA+tR | —T—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Net cash inflow from operating activities ~— AR& EENEL 2 IR &R AFEE 128,853 29,878
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing ~ &R ELEZBETA
activities (i) 558 396,084 (1,226)
Net cash inflow from financing activites ~ BEEEBIES 2R ERAFEE - 6
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 14 IR EE W2 N E5E 524,937 28,658
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
(c) During the year, the Group disposed several subsidiaries.

10.

FREEERB (B
(€ AEEMERHELIMEAT -

The gain on disposal is calculated as follows: HERFWTENT :
17 May
2011
—EF——fF
HA++LH
HK$’000
BT
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & B A FIFTE I8 891,000
Less: cash of subsidiaries bk : B ARIZERE (490,307)
Net disposal proceeds FHEATSREIR 400,693
Less: Assets disposed, at carrying value i : H&E & EREE
Fixed assets EFEEE (13,482)
Trading rights R 5 (1,250)
Debtors, deposits and FEMGRIR - e RIEN K
prepayments (3,060,617)
Deferred tax assets EIERI TR E B (200)
Add: Liabilities disposed, at carrying value il : & & &EREEHE
Bank loans RITE 1,281,921
Creditors, deposits received and FEEER DU RTEIRE R
accrued charges 726,739
Amounts due from associates W & A R RUR 482,523
Provision for taxation IR 10,402
Add: Investment in associates, at fair value fl : Bt A RIEE A B 684,847
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR & 511,576
11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS  11. RRE(LZEF

Net profit for the year of approximately HK$666,708,000 (2010: net
profit of approximately HK$170,143,000) has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

REFRAR AR EZFE ML BB

666,708,000 7T ( —

E—TE

B

170,143,000 ZF EF) ERARE Z

PATSRARAFRREE
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. |2
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (@) BBEBREAEELATFAQRATAREREZ
Company attributable to the year BRE
2011 2010
—E——fF —=FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
— Interim dividend declared and paid of ~ —E A RE X [NHHEIIRE. -
HK$0.15 (2010: HK$0.13) FE¥0.157T
per share —E-FTF  B¥0137T) 258,622 207,276
— Final dividend proposed after the —REE BB ERIRE MR AR
balance sheet date of HK$0.30 B FRE0.307T
(2010: HK$0.30) per share —T—TF : B%0.307T) 516,169 517,244
774,791 724,520

EFRRARAE—F &
+= A=+ RLFRERE RS
BB S RB MO0 (— B —F
% : BH0307E) ° REMRE L
AR A R AL, -

The directors proposed a final dividend of HK$0.30 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK$0.30 per
share). The proposed dividends are not reflected as dividend
payable in the financial statements.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (b) REFEEMERZNT BERELE
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and —HEEERTFARARRZRK
paid during the year 3=

2011 2010
—B——fF | —T-ITF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
— Final dividend in respect of the previous —RAZNEE# & R T -
financial year, approved and paid BENF—MKEEY
during the year, of HK$0.30 REARR B - FRREHE0.307T
(2010: HK$0.20) per share —ZE—FTF : B¥0.207T) 517,244 318,792
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13. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 13. HtZ2m=
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other (@) HEBRSEHEMEZEWZERK
comprehensive income s RS2
2011 2010
Before Tax Net of tax Before Tax Net of tax
tax amount credit amount | taxamount expense amount
BAae® BEER  REGeE i fExt  RiEes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Net movement in investment BREEESY
revaluation reserve of e
avallable-for-sale securities ety (3,498,776) 451,006  (3,047,770) | 3,820,172 (179,756) 3,640,416
Share of investment revaluation  FT{AEEE A AR
reserve, exchanges reserve BEfHEE-
and capital reserve of 5 Gl
associates REAGHE (203,455) - (203,455) 301,498 - 301,498
Share of option premium Frib ARG
reserve of a jointly controlled BRRE S
entity [EfE 131 - 131 - - -
Exchange reserve B Rt 143,503 - 143,503 93,229 - 93,229
(3,558,597) 451,006 (3,107,591) 4,214,899 (179,756) 4,085,143
(b) Reclassification adjustments relating to components of (b) HttEZEKEBREHDERAE

other comprehensive income

2011 2010
—e——% | —T-=4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Available-for-sale securities: HHIHERES
Changes in fair value recognised REFDHERAABEHE
during the year (2,425,711) 4,435,417

I

Reclassification adjustments for amounts #1828 WK FHE L -

transferred to profit or loss:

— gains on disposal — HE R (691,416) (810,732)

— impairment losses —REEX 69,357 15,731
Net movement in the investment EE A H A2 NTERA

revaluation reserve during the year KEBEHHEEEE

recognised in other comprehensive
income (3,047,770) 3,640,416
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

14. BRER

(a)

BREAEF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of HK$1,922,705,000 (2010: HK$1,927,207,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,723,199,105 shares (2010:
1,621,599,935 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as
follows:

FRERZFEZA R ARRE
1l 28 %) 75 %5 1,922,705,000 7T ( =
T — T F : ##1,027,207,000
T0) RAFNE TR G 2 T
A% $51,723,199,1050% ( =& —
T4 1 1,621,599,9350%) &N

™

2011
—F——F

2010
—T—ZF

Issued shares at 1 January

Effect of shares issued under placement
Effect of share options exercised
Shares repurchased

m—A—HE#TRH
[ k7
TERBEZ T E
B )

1,723,562,962

534,428
(898,285)

1,592,264,212
27,920,548
1,415,175

Weighted average number of shares
at 31 December

Rt ZHA=1+—HZ i FERE

1,723,199,105

1,621,5699,935

(b) Diluted earnings per share

(b)

BREERF

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of HK$1,922,705,000 (2010: HK$1,927,207,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,723,234,010 shares (2010:
1,622,775,933 shares), calculated as follows:

EREEEFERARARRRE
JE 1h & A 7 % 1,922,705,000
T(Z%T —FF ol
1,927,207,000 7T ) X AN #E F 15 f%
£1,723,234,010f ( =Z—ZF :

1,622,775,9330%) © st&EF :

2010
—T-TF

Weighted average number of shares
at 31 December
Effect of deemed issue of shares under

the Company’s share option scheme for

nil consideration

RtZA=+—RE&ETRHZ
I ER

RIEARB 2 RBETE - BR
BRENERMET IR

1,723,199,105

34,905

1,621,699,935

1,175,998

Weighted average number of shares (diluted)

at 31 December

Rt ZA=1+—HRGZ #EFE

RE(#E)

1,723,234,010

1,622,775,933
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15. FIXED ASSETS 15. EE&EE
(@ Group (@ &H
Interests in
leasehold
land held Buildings Furniture,
for own held for fixtures,
use under own use equipment
operating carried and motor
leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NEeHE #EEA  Investment  improvements FER
KFERZ BEN  properties HE  £E-3f Total
HELH ik REn% nELE kA& it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBTT EBTT BETT BT BT BRI
Cost or valuation; AAREEE
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-3F-f-H 320,07 51,987 44,080 26,384 39,587 481,609
Additions AE 136,512 17,783 - 4359 7,456 166,110
Disposals il - - - %) (2,631) (2.726)
Surplus on revaluation BftitE - - 2,820 - - 2,820
Transfer to asssts held for sales B HELE - - - (12,700) (12,647) (25,347)
Reclassfcation EEipd 112 78 (7,900) - - -
At 31 December N_F-%F
2010 TZA=1-H 463,705 70,548 39,000 17,448 31,765 622,466
Representing: AT
Cost A 463,705 70,048 - 17,448 31,765 583,466
Professional valuation EXfE - - 30,000 - - 39,000
463,705 70,048 39,000 17,448 31,765 622,466
At1 January 2011 R=5-—5-f-8 463,705 70,548 39,000 17,448 31,765 622,466
Exchange adjustments Exfz - - - - 6 6
Additions AE - 5,402 - 12917 4,744 23,063
Disposals hE - - - - (3,276) (3,276)
Surplus on revaluation BftE - - 3,976 - - 3,976
Reclassfcation ENNE (7,122) (779) 1174 - - (126)
At 31 December RZ5——F
2011 TZAZ1+-H 456,583 75,172 50,750 30,365 33,209 646,109
Representing: agut .
Cost A 456,583 175,172 - 30,365 33,239 595,359
Professional valuation BEEE - - 50,750 - - 50,750

456,583 15,172 50,750 30,365 33,209 646,109
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B RS ERaR A
15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEEEH)
(@) Group (continued) (@ £BE(E)
Interests in
leasehold
land held Buildings Furniture,
for own held for fixtures,
use under own use equipment
operating carried and motor
leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NEERE #EER  Investment improvements HE
KEBRZ BEN  properties HE 2B Rf Total
HELH HASIR REn% VE: kA& At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
EBTT BETT BT BT BRI EBTT
Accumulated amortisation ZREHRNE
and depreciation:
At 1 January 2010 R=5-25-A-A 19,578 5,362 - 8,921 21015 60871
Charge for the year TEEHR 4062 1205 - 5,659 5186 16,132
Witten back on disposal HEREE - - - (%) (2.370) (2.469)
Transfer to assets held for sale BN HERE - - - (4,943 (7,164) (12,107)
At 31 December W-Z-2f
2010 TZA=Z1+-A 23,635 6,587 - 9,542 22,667 62,431
At 1 January 2011 RZF——F-A-H 23,635 6,587 - 9,542 22,667 62,431
Exchange adjustments BEERE - - - - 9 9
Charge for the year TEER 7016 1,72 - 3742 3052 15,537
Written back on disposal HEREE - - - - (1,319) (1,313)
Reclassfcation ENnE (110 (16) - - - (126)
At 31 December RZE—F
2011 +-A=1-R 30,541 8,208 - 13,284 24,415 76,538
Net hook value: FEFE:
At 31 December RE——F
201 +-A=t+-H 426,042 66,874 50,750 17,081 8,824 569,571
At 31 December RZE-EF

2010 TZA=+-H 440,070 63,961 39,000 7,906 9,098 560,035
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ISR IEE
15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEIEEEH)
(b) Company b) 27
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Motor
HE HE vehicles Total
MELRE EERZE AE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AT BT Vot
Cost: R
At 1 January 2010 RZE-EF—f—H 9 2,044 2,035 4,174
Additions NE - 4 - 41
Disposals HE (95) (1,924) - 2,019
At 31 December 2010 RZE—T4+ZH
=+—A - 161 2,035 2,196
At 1 January 2011 nZE——%—H—H - 161 2,035 2,196
Exchange adjustments R - 13 - 13
Additions NE - 7 - 7
At 31 December 2011 A—E——F+_-R
=t+—H - 181 2,035 2,216
Accumulated depreciation: EREHE :
At 1 January 2010 RZZ—ZF—[—H 95 2,037 1,749 3,881
Charge for the year AEEEE - 8 137 145
Written back on disposals o] (95) (1,924) - 2,019
At 31 December 2010 RZE—TE+ZH
=t+—H - 121 1,886 2,007
At 1 January 2011 RZE——%—H—H - 121 1,886 2,007
Exchange adjustments EERE - (1) - (1)
Charge for the year AFEEHR - 12 138 150
At 31 December 2011 R-E—F+_8
=+—A - 132 2,024 2,156
Net book value: SREFE
At 31 December 2011 A—E——F+_-R
=+—H - 49 11 60
At 31 December 2010 RZZE-LF+_f
=t+—H - 40 149 189
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

()

(d)

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties situated in Hong Kong and Mainland
China were appraised as at 31 December 2011 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent professional valuer who
have among their staff Fellows of Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. These properties were appraised on
an open market basis and investment properties are carried in
the balance sheet at market value.

As at 31 December 2011 had the Group’s interests in
leasehold land and buildings, which were carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation/depreciation, been carried at fair
value, their carrying amount would have been HK$991,109,000
(2010: HK$815,143,000).

Investment properties of HK$50,750,000 (2010:
HK$39,000,000) of the Group are rented out under operating
leases, of which HK$9,600,000 (2010: HK$9,000,000) are
rented to the ultimate holding company.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of investment property are classified as
investment property.

15. BEEEE(H)

(c)

REEREBRPBEANEZHE
THEEEEKENERES
K938 3L 3B AT B Kk A 1T R (E R
BBERARIE=-Z—&+=A4
—t+t—RzEBEERH HESA
AEANEMEBee T ERWEHA
HEMENATIE & 4855 i B
B EEMEHUAMMESE
h BREVMEREEABRUT
BAR -

R=ZE——F+=-A=+—H0"
REBHE TR EENEE
(BB 2EHERITE) B
AREDEE - BIEEREEERNS
#991,109,0007T ( — T —ZT4F :
#4785 #815,143,0007T) °

AEBEEEBES50,750,0007T( =
T —T 4 : F#839,000,0007T) Z
REMEEBRELERNEL -
Hh##9 600,000 (2 —=
£ : #19,000,000T) B HF T

REER AT -

IBEREHENNEENARED
ENERNDBRIEYE -

The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows: (d) PERNBREFESITET :
Group
£8
2011 2010
—B——F | —ZT-IFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Held in Hong Kong REB

—on long lease —ARHBIEOFS 289,867 291,790
— on medium-term lease — AR BRI 4035 42,050 39,000
331,917 330,790

Held outside Hong Kong REBUIIMEE
- on medium-term lease — AR ER A 211,749 212,241
211,749 212,241
543,666 543,031
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BTSRRI AT
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. MIBATKRE - BB AT RE
SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTEE COMPANIES REQBWERERR
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (@ MELRRE
2011 2010
B | —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Investments, at cost & - RRANE
Unlisted shares IE RS 2,272,587 2,272,587
Less: impairment loss R E R (545,860) (522,240)
1,726,727 1,750,347

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the

THRBREAREENEE BEXREAY
BB AR

Group.
Percentage of
equity interest
Particulars held by
Place of ofissued  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation  Class of shares share capital ~ AQFFTFEAR  Principal activities
WEATEH e RAEH BRTRAEE BRAAl TEER
Ally Point Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100%"  Investment holding
E FARAT B LR 100,000 RERR
CEL Venture Gapital (Shenzhen) Limfted The PRC Not applicable HK$500,000,000 100%  Provision of investment advisory
EAEREFRE (R ERAR i il #8500,000,0007T sevices and investment
REREERRBREE
CEL Management Services Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$2 100%  Provision of management services
EABERERREERAT & LB BT REETRIR
CEL (Secretaries) Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$2 100%  Provision of secretarial services
FABR(BE)ERAT B LR Ao REHERK
China Everbright Assets Management Limted ~Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 100%"  Provision of asset management
HERAAEERERAA B Lk 755,000,000 sevices
REBEEERHK
Everbright Capital Management Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$7,000,000 100%"  Provision of asset management
(formerly China Everbright Capital e Lak 7,000,000 senvioes

Management Limited)
KAERERARAR
(HEEEAEAERARAR)

RREEERRG
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B R AR BT
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. HiIB A FKRE - HH B A A RK
SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTEE COMPANIES (continued) REATNERERR(E)
(@) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@ KMBLATRRE(E)
Percentage of
equity interest
Particulars held by
Place of ofissued  the Company
Narme of subsidiary incorporation  Class of shares share capital ~ AQFEEAR  Principal activities
HRARERE b Rt ERTRAEE BRpalt IEER
China Evertright Dragon Fund Limited Gayman Islands  Non-participating US$5 100%"  Investment
XA ERESARAT REkE shares 55T #E
BREER
Participating redeemable US$380
preference shares 30T
FERTRRELR
China Evertright Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000,000 100%"  Money lending
REABBAERAR 50 LR 7%1%100,000,0007C G
China Everbright Financial Investments Limted ~ HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100%"  Investment
PEXARHRERRAT & LR 751,000,000 RE
China Everbright Network Payment Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HKS$346.86 67.38%"  Project investment
R AR AERAR B £k 346,867 ERRE
China Everbright Industrial Investment Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$10,000 100%  Investment
Holdings Limited R Lak 10,000%T %8
TR AERREERERAT
China Everbright Investment Management HongKong  Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100%  Provision of investment
Limited & Ligk 75#4,000,0007C management senvices
hEAERRAERERAA RUREERRE
China Special Opportuntties Fund, L.P. Cayman Islands  Limited Partnership Not applicable 50%"  Investment
R ERa% AR RE
Evertright Equity Advantage Fund Cayman Islands  Non-participating HK$10 72.70%"  Investment
RS shares BT k&
BREER
Participating HK$1,832
fedeemable shares B 8327
ERERERROR
Everbright Ashmore (Hong Kong) Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary USD1,000 51%"  Fund management
B LB 1000%7C BeER
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. MIBATKRE - BB AT RE

SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTEE COMPANIES (continued) REATNERERIR(E)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@) MBLATREE)
Percentage of
equity interest
Particulars held by
Place of ofissued  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation  Class of shares share capital ~ ARQFFFEEAR  Principal activities
WEARER b Rt ERTRAEE ERAAl TEER
Everbright Ashmore Investment Management ~ Cayman Islands  Ordinary USD1,000 51%"  Fund management
REHS Lk 1000557 HeER
Everbright Ashmore Real Estate Partners Cayman Islands  Ordinary USD11,000 51%"  Fund management
REES Lk 11,000%7 EoER
Everbright Ashmore Senvices and Cayman Islands  Ordinary USD1,000 51%"  Fund management
Consuting Limited RESHE TER 100057 EEER
Everbright New Industries Capital The PRC Not applicable RMB200,000,000 70%  Project investment
Company Limited F NEH AR 200,000,000 BERE
RREREFREGRAA
Everbright San Shan Capital Management The PRC Not applicable RMB30,000,000 51%  Asset management
Company Limited B NER AR %30,000000 REREEERE
ERZIEEREERERAA
Fortunecrest Investment Limtted Briish Virgin -~ Ordlinary USSt 100%'  Property investment
Islands Lk E3 VESE
ABAARES
Goalfieldl Investments Limited Briish Virgin -~ Ordinary USH1 100%"  Investment
Islands LB I #E
ERARRES
Janco Development Limited Hong Kong Ordlinary HK$2 100%  Property investment
ERERARAT & LR Ao VIESE
Solidpole Limfted Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%  Investment holding
ERERAR B LR BT RERR
SeaBright Asset Management Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$1,000,000 65%'  Asset management

KNEEAEERARAR B i3 71,000,007 RHAEERRS
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH
SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTEE COMPANIES (continued)

16. MIBLARIKRE - BB 2R KREK
RE DB WERERR(E)

FAEERETRERAR

(@) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@ KMBLATRRE(E)
Percentage of
equity interest
Particulars held by
Place of ofissued  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation ~ Class of shares share capital ~ ARQFEEAR  Principal activities
HRARERE b Rt ERTRAEE BRpalt IEER
SeaBright China Special Opportuntties () Limited ~ British Virgin -~ Non-participating US$5 78.90%"  Investment
Islands shares 55T #E
ERGAREE BOEER
Participating US$415
fedeemable HEET
preference shares
EREENRENELR
Trycom Management Limited British Virgin -~ Ordlinary USS1 100%  Investment holding
Islands Lk %7 REAER
EBERRES
Wealthink Paciic Lid. Biitish Virgin -~~~ Ordinary US$1 100%  Investment holding
Islands L3R 1% AR
ERGARES
Windsor Venture Limited British Virgin -~ Ordlinary USS1 100%  Investment holding
Islands LER E30 RERR
EEAERREE
Wel Logic Investment Limited HongKong ~ Ordinary HKS2 100%"  Property investment
HRRERRAA (505 LB T VIES e
MR EHAERAR The PRC Not applicable RMB10,000,000 100%"  Provision of consuftancy services
" ayilii AE%10,0000007 PRk RS
MTRENREALERA ThePRC Not applicable RMB25,462,500 100%"  Project investment
el ol 25,462,500 EARE
ML EREERA The PRC Not applicable RMB20,000,000 61%"  Project Investment
el 0l 20,000,007 ERRE
Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin The PRC Not applicable RMB359,000,000 50%"  Venture capital
Company Limited i TER K 359,000,0007 BIEIRE
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH

SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTEE COMPANIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

16. MIBLARIKRE - BB 2ARAKREK

RE QAW ERERR(E)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@ KMBARKRE(E)
Percentage of
equity interest
Particulars held by
Place of ofissued  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation  Class of shares share capital ~ ARQFFFEEAR  Principal activities
WEARARE RalpE RGER BRTRAER ERAS TEER
FREREFREER(IR)BRAT The PRC Not applicable RMB25,300,000 100%"  Project investment
e TR K 25,300,00070 BERE
EAEROIEREER AT The PRC Not appicable USD100,000,000 100%  Investment
HE 0y i 100,000000%7C ;
EREREAR AR (IRER A The PRC Not applcalle RMB100,000,000 100%'  Project investment
ERLHREERAR) i il AR100,0000007T BA%E
BENEREREERERAR The PRC Not applicable RMB10,000,000 100%"  Fund management
i TR AR%40,000,00070 HEER
(1) Subsidiaries held indirectly. (1) EEEEZMEBAR -
Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) EUWKEQTRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free FEUHT B AR RIBHEER - &
and have no fixed terms of repayment. BEREEFEEER -
As at 31 December, 2011, no subordinated loans were R-_E——F+_H=+—H "
granted to subsidiaries (2010: HK$950,000,000). WEEEEFRTHBAR - (=
T4 : ##950,000,0007T) °
Amounts due to subsidiaries (c) ENKHBARRE
Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and FERH B AR RIBHEER - &
have no fixed terms of repayment. B REEEEER -
Amounts due from investee companies (d ERHEEREATRE

Amounts due from investee companies are unsecured, interest
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The Group had no
intention to demand repayment within one year.

e AR ARG EER - 2
ENEEFEEERAS - AEEE
BER—FAZKZRAREETR °
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B ISR MIEE
17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE 17. & A RRERENEE A TR
TO ASSOCIATES bi|
Investments in associates (a) HE=ELQATRE
Group Company
£8 AF]
2011 2010 2011 2010
—g-—-%| “T-TF| —¥--F| “T-TF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
BET T BT T BET T BT
Investments, at cost |E IR ANE
Shares listed in H B R _E TR D
Mainland China 1,782,996 1,782,996 1,784,192 1,784,192
Unlisted shares in FEEmRRG
- Hong Kong -5 561,951 40,458 40,390 40,390
— Qutside Hong Kong — BB AN 1,464 18,485 683 683
Share of post-acquisition ~ JE{G MBS 14 (5
reserves 8,045,903 8,232,433 - -
Intangible assets B EE 64,953 - - -
10,457,267 10,074,372 1,825,265 1,825,265
Less: pEAR
Provision for impairment WEKARBEZES
charged against
investment costs (165,548) (165,996) (41,073) (41,073)
Goodwill on acquisition WEEE (591,037) (682,792) - -
Carrying value, net IREE - 58 9,700,682 9,225,584 1,784,192 1,784,192
Market value of listed shares  #1BA AR HI T
in Mainland China 5E 14,293,031 20,351,040 14,293,031 20,351,040

The Group’s investment in the shares listed in Mainland China,
classified under investments in associates has a lock-up period
which will end in August 2012.

REBE DB LB ERRRERNS

B Py it _E T AL

NEERMHR —F

—ZFN\RKLE -
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE 17. B& QA FRERENEE A IR
TO ASSOCIATES (continued) H(E)
(b) Asat 31 December 2011, particulars of principal associates of b) XEBR-_Z——F+_-_A=
the Group are as follows: +—8  EEBEQARTERWOT :
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of held by
incorporation/ the Company
Name of associate operation Principal activities AAFEHE
BENRER i TEER EXERZREANL
Everbright Securities Company Limited The PRC Securities operations 33.33%
HRBHROBRAR] H BHE
Everbright Securities (International) Limited British Virgin Islands Securities operations 49%!
HRFH (BB BRAR REER TS BHER
(1) Held indirectly. The remaining 51% held by another associate of (1) FHERE - HBRS1%HAEE

the Group — Everbright Securities.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, Everbright Securities
has recorded an after tax profit of RMB1.6 billion (2010:
RMB2.2 billion) (according to HKFRSs) and the Group’s share
of profit, under the equity accounting method, amounted
to HK$637 million (2010: HK$833 million). In addition to the
remaining 49% stake of Everbright Securities (International),
the Group is entitled to the profit from its 33.33% share of
Everbright Securities, which has a 51% stake in Everbright
Securities (International).

S NE - HAREFTE °

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—
B XARBHFEEFEEREDQR
R TR AT ARB16EIT(E
EZT-TF: ARK2ER
(IRBEBUBIREER) - RIFE
wmEEE  AEBERIERF A
Me37TERIL(BEZZT—ZTF : 5
#e8.33187T)  AEEKR THFA K
FHRFRA9% M BRAESN - DiRBETE
B KRB H33.33% M T D F 2
HER51 %ARAER K EB D ZF o



ANNUAL REPORT 2011 =& ——4% / 147

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE

TO ASSOCIATES (continued)
(c) Supplementary financial information of principal
associates

Supplementary financial information in respect of the principal
associate extracted from its financial statements after
necessary adjustments to conform to the Group’s accounting
policies and prepared under HKFRSs is as follows:

17.

BMENRARERENBE QTR
(&)
() EEBEQATZHRUBER

IZBERRZARMBERR
BEEMERT 2P BHRER > A
KERAABRUNaAEEZ g5
BERREEEFER :

Everbright Securities
HRESH

2011 2010
=B | —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
Consolidated income statement HeBEmEK ARETrT | ARETT
Turnover = 5,115,745 5,777,146
Profit before taxation MELRTZ R 2,127,034 3,033,530
Current taxation REEHIE (492,489) (808,576)
Profit after taxation MRELgER 1,634,545 2,224,954
Non-controlling interests IR S (50,922) (64,846)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders IR 58 &5 Z F

1,583,623 2,160,108

Consolidated balance sheet SEEEAER

Total assets MEE 23,728,930 | 25,015,098

Total liabilities FEY=N (1,012,274)|  (1,490,659)
22,716,656 23,524,439

Non-controlling interests e i (723,865) (185,146)

Net assets FEE 21,992,791 23,339,293

(d) Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

(d ENBREIRAREA
FEATBS & N R SRIRIS R A
RENEREREERY -
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B ERAMEE
18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 18. HEZHIERIRE
(@) Investments in jointly controlled entities (a) HEZ&HSERE
Group Company
&8 ATE]
2011 2010 2011 2010
=25 | ZFFF | = —F | 2T TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BETT
Share of net assets IR EE 488,529 84,863 - 78
Goodwil on acquisition  YBERE 22,311 - - -
510,840 84,863 - 78
(b) As at 31 December 2011, details of the Group’s b) XEBA-—ZFZ——F+=A8
investments in jointly controlled entities are as follows: =1+—H HEZHNEBEREN
FEWT
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of held by
Name of jointly controlled incorporation/ Principal Particulars of  the Company
entity operation activities issued capital AATEHE
HEEHERERE R  TEEE ERTRAEE EXEZEIHL
Everbright Macquarie Cayman Islands Fund management Class A Ordinary Shares 50.0%
Infrastructure Limited HEHS HeER USD2,000,000
AT B
2,000,000% 7T
Class B Ordinary Shares 50.1%
USD20,000
B L i hA%
20,000% 7T
Everbright Guolian Capital The PRC Venture capital and RMB150,000,000 50.0%*
Company Limited & investment advisory AR #150,000,0007T
K AEIE BRI E BIERE R EEM
BRAR
T&C (Beijing) Asset The PRC Provision of RMB8,000,000 51.0%"
Management h consultancy services AE#8,000,0007T
Consulting Limited R AR
AERELR)EEER
BREARAR
WA IR BIEIRE The PRC Fund management RMB300,000,000 50.0%"
TEARATH H EEER AR#300,000,0007C
China Aircraft Leasing Cayman Islands Investment holding HK$234,000,000 48.0%"
Holdings Limited® HEHS REZER 7#234,000,0007T
HEIREIAE R B AR AR
* Held indirectly * CitEESc]

Acquired in 2011

g R-T——F i
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 18. i{[Ei:4IERIIRE (&)
(continued)
(b) (continued) b) (&)
Summary financial information on jointly controlled entities — H EH ] T B R B S B R —
the Group’s effective interest: AN A R
2011 2010
—E——F| —ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Current assets TEEE 2,012,806 85,555
Current liabilities i N=NE (1,524,277) (692)
Net assets FEE 488,529 84,863
Income WA 90,324 2,468
Expenses S (109,237) (6,005)
Loss for the year KEEEIE (18,913) (3,537)
() Amounts due from jointly controlled entities (c) EWHEEHEERRE

Amounts due from a jointly controlled entity of
HK$233,184,000 are interest bearing, unsecured and have

HRIEH B B8 e KRR B ¥ 2,318
TEREE - EIERRE EEEK

fixed terms of repayment, remaining balances are interest free, H - HepH A% B - Bk m
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. EEEEBA -
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES 19. BHHEEES
Group Company
&5 AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F | Z2ZF | ZEB——F | ZTITF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST T BT T BT IT
At fair value: BAREE:
Listed equity securities: ETREFES
— Hong Kong —&% 376,654 99,713 - -
— Mainland China — R A 8,021,929 | 10,884,364 6,182,819 7,757,095
Unlisted equity securities R RE S 2,220,063 | 2,276,821 114,965 143,295
Unlisted debt securities IEETHERFES 93,210 - - -
At cost (): 2K ZRE() -
Unlisted equity securities JELETREES 499,380 272,274 - -
11,211,236 | 13,533,672 6,297,784 7,900,390

(i) At 31 December 2011, the investments were measured at
cost less impairment because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment;
and (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating

fair value.

RZT——F+=A=+—8"
HR(QEEA A BEGTHERNE
BEHZREM=EBEA : &
(Ib) L= 22t 6 [B] A1 #9512 £ (B 7 AT 8
TR BT ERANGEEAR
B ZEREEELFETHES
RRCAIIR REHREEBARK ©
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (continued) 19. BHEERF(H)
Group Company
% A
2011 2010 2011 2010
2 | Z-FF | ZB——F | ZT-FF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT BT T AT IT
Fair value of individually EERBER
impaired available-for-sale HEREES
equity securities:
Listed in Hong Kong REB LM 89,513 25,034 - -
Unlisted equity securities FELETMREES - 37,145 - -
89,513 62,179 - -

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s and the Company’s available-
for-sale equity securities were individually determined to be impaired
on the basis of a material decline in their fair value below cost and
adverse changes in the market in which these investees operated
which indicated that the cost of the Group’s investment in them may
not be recovered. Impairment losses on these investments were
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2()(i).

Realised gains on disposal of certain available-for-sale securities
will be subject to the payment of an incentive project bonus to an
investment team (see note 37(b)).

The Group held the following principal available-for-sale securities as
at 31 December 2011:

W_Z——F+-"F=+—H &~&EE
RARRMERHEREE S SEER]
BHNAREEREERRKAMIERE
IMEFRE A RET S EEAER T &
B AEBE/RERASE ] R RER
18 o ZITEREC RIEMTE2() () A B
IR A 1B 2SR R HERR ©

HOEHRHEEESFELERNERK
& - BXTHEESE TIREER(SH
#37(0)) °

W=F——F+=A=+—H  A%HE
FA T EBNBHIEES

Effective equity

interest held by

Place of the Group

Company name incorporation Principal activities ZAEEEERFHE

AR ERE o Tt 26 FEHEWR EXERBEDE

China Everbright Bank Company Limited The PRC Banking operations 4.51%
(“Everbright Bank”)0 FE RITER

PR RRITIRMNBRAF (T HEAIRITO

(i) At 31 December 2011, the carrying value of interests in
Everbright Bank exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group.

) MNZF——FF+_A=1+—8H"
REEXARRITHERAESNA
SEBEEN10% °
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIRVALUE 20. &A@ BERURBRAEEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HNERmEE
2011 2010
—g——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At fair value: BARE

Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LETREES 59,926 161,945
Overseas unlisted equity securities BINE TR RS 688,700 417,618

Overseas unlisted convertible YGINIE_ETR A IRUB SR
preference shares 20,530 13,421
Overseas unlisted debt securities BINE ETHEREE S 397,797 314,672
1,166,953 907,656

Realised gains on disposal of certain financial assets designated at
fair value through profit or loss will be subject to the payment of an
incentive project bonus to an investment team (see note 37(b)).

In 2009, the Group purchased certain unlisted financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss at a purchase price
which was below the fair value at inception that would be determined
at that date using a valuation technique. According to the Group’s
accounting policy, the difference yet to be recognised in profit or loss
at the beginning and the end of the year is as follows:

B EE AEBIERARRAFEER
SREEELERNKE - FXAB
RERTREER(2ME37()) °

E-TTNF  AKEBENETHEE
AEBERARRATFEENIFE LTS
BMEE  HBEERENEREAMGE
TEFEENGE - REAKEN G
BR - % ERBNEFONRFERERE
BRATERR SR

2011 2010

—EB——F| —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT IT

Beginning of the year REH] 114,138 324,439
Reduction D - (210,301)
End of the year RER 114,138 114,138




CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED FRERS¢ KRR B R A& / 1562

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk MR
21. ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 21. BEFfER
2011 2010
—E2——F | ZT-ITF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BEET T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Term loans to customers FHEFER
— secured — B 388,640 551,353
— unsecured — I 5,320 -
393,960 551,353
Current assets REEE
Term loans to customers EHEFER
- secured —HEM 1,891,720 561,260
— unsecured — K 98,400 94,704
1,990,120 655,964
Certain term loans to customers are secured by unlisted securities, HOBHEFEZTIAELTES  F=
third party guarantees and/or leasehold land in Mainland China. An EFERE /P ERNEE - ER
ageing analysis is as follows: # o EPERORERAITOT
2011 2010
—E——F | —ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT
Repayable on demand BIRFE R 98,400 -
Within 3 months =B AR 686,320 -
Over 3 months to 1 year —@AAUNLEE—F 1,205,400 655,964
Over 1 year to 5 years —FULEERF 393,960 551,353
2,384,080 1,207,317
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22. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 22, BWERM - RERFAMNR
Group Company
58 NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——F | Z2-FF | =82 —F | =B EF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Accounts receivable, net FEUERFR - JFE 193,242 205,027 - -
Deposits, prepayments and e BREK
other receivables HAth EURAR X 520,237 310,778 209,386 6,505
722,479 515,805 209,386 6,505

Accounts receivable are mainly amounts due from brokers, which
are collectable in cash within one month.

MR EZRELBPR —EA AR
B8 ZFRIA °

23. TRADING SECURITIES 23. RXGFE%X
2011 2010
—E——F | —ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Current Assets REBEE BT T BT
At fair value: BARE
Equity securities: IRRE R
— listed in Hong Kong —&BHBEM 13,886 583,515
— listed outside Hong Kong —EELAIMDR T 1,671 74,189
Debt securities: BEEES
— listed outside Hong Kong —EBUIMEE T 126,115 13,331
Derivatives: PTETA :
— unlisted —3EEmM - 45,165
141,672 716,200
Current Liabilities REBEE
At fair value: BARE
Listed short derivative contracts FHEEITTETAEAYN (206) -
(206) -
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24, RERFRESEEY
Group Company
%8 AF]
2011 2010 2011 2010
2| ZZT-TF| ZB-——-F| ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT T BT
Cash on hand, savings and Re  RERERER
current accounts 2,459,853 2,161,367 641,156 2,491
Fixed deposits with banks RITE BTF R 1,786,404 2,417,017 - -
Cash and cash equivalents inthe  RNirABEBEBRYZ
consolidated balance sheet HE RIS ZEY 4,246,257 4,578,384 641,156 2,491
Less: Deposits pledged A RIEER 2R (604,178) (450,099) - -
Add: Cash and cash equivalents i : JfEHEEEZ
classified as assets HekReE
held for sale - 366,063 - -
Cash and cash equivalentsinthe  RGEIRERERY
consolidated cash flow statement & RIFEZEEY 3,642,079 4,494,348 641,156 2,491

25. NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

25. FIEHEFEE
IWEHEFEEC T ERENABES

The carrying amount of major classes of assets and liabilities

classified as net assets held for sale are analysed as follows: FIBREEL Tt
2011 2010
=2 | —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT
Assets classified as held for sale JIEHEEE
Fixed assets EEEE - 13,240
Intangible assets mREE - 1,250
Deferred tax assets EERTEE E - 200
Advances to customers EEER - 1,198,239
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUWBERN ~ 124 MFERT RN - 887,358
Cash and cash equivalents Re MR EEY - 366,063
Total assets EEE - 2,466,350
Liabilities classified as held for sale JMEHESRE
Creditors, deposits received and JEMBRRR « Bz e &
accrued charges TEIRER - (823,426)
Provision for taxation THIB 2 - (5,251)
Total liabilites FEN=N - (828,677)
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26. BANK LOANS 26. HITER
As at 31 December 2011, the bank loans were repayable as follows: R-ZTE——F+=-_A=+—08 ' 17
FRAE KA T -

2011 2010

—2——F —E-ZTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Within 1 year —FE LA 1,063,754 615,576

After 1 year but within 2 years —FUEEF - 414,330

After 2 years but within 5 years ZHFNEERF - -

After 5 years AFLE 69,517 62,456

69,517 476,786

1,133,271 1,092,362
As at 31 December 2011, the bank loans were secured as follows: RZZE—F+ZA=+—8 ' RTE

FERERLAT :

2011 2010

—E2——F | ZZTZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BEET T BT

Bank loans RITER

— secured — 573,817 358,406

— unsecured — JEHHH 559,454 733,956

1,133,271 1,092,362
As at 31 December 2011, bank loans of the Group of R_ZF——F+=-A=+—0 ' x5£E
HK$573,817,000 (2010: HK$358,406,000) were secured by fixed MRITE R B #573,817,000c( =& —
deposits of certain subsidiaries and property situated in Mainland T4E A %358,406,0007T ) LA B A A

China. Bank loans of HK$559,454,000 (2010: HK$733,956,000) 9 E HATE 30 LA AR B A W SE AR -
were unsecured at balance sheet date. MiRTTE B 559,454,000 ( —ZZF—

T« BHE733,956,0007T ) I EEHE I o
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27. CREDITORS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUED 27. FEfERF - CUWIRERTAIREH
CHARGES
Group Company
£8 NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
B | ZT-TF | ZB——F | Z=—FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T BT
Accounts payable FESHER TR - 48,819 - -
Other creditors, deposits received H fb T BEFR -
and accrued charges Bz e &
ERRER 178,813 280,158 14,078 2,319
178,813 328,977 14,078 2,319
As at 31 December 2011, accounts payable are all due within one R=ZZE——F+=-_A=+—8 " Bk
month. Other creditors, deposits received and accrued charges FE—EA ZARE o AR -
included bonus payable to staff. B RBREAREENTFETIDN
TEAL o
28. NOTES PAYABLE 28. ENEE
2011 2010
—B——F | —ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Unlisted notes issued by the Group, at fair value: & [E FTE577 2 3E T ER
B RARE
Face value ZMHE 666,540 147,540
Less: unrealised gain B KRB (32,575) (4,245)
633,965 143,295
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has issued four notes to HE_T——F+_A=+—0 K&
four independent third parties. Two notes were issued with a face HKEGTHRRBETHUBYE=
value and carrying amount totalling RMB144,950,000 (2010: CERRREEEREENKERE

RMB144,950,000) and HK$114,965,000 (2010: HK$143,295,000)
respectively. Under the terms of the notes, the Group will pay the
subscriber all the realised proceeds and investment income received
from certain available-for-sale investments held by the Company
throughout the life of the notes.

During the year, the Group has issued two notes, one with a face
value and carrying amount of RMB400,000,000 was interest bearing
and repayable within three months. The remaining note with a face
value and carrying amount of HKD27,000,000 was interest bearing
and have fixed term of repayment.

Bl A& F AR #144,950,0007T (==
—ZF . A R#144,950,0007T ) K&
#114,965,000 7T ( =T — T4 : B
143,295,0007T ) ° IRIBEZEZE 21§
A AEBESRA QN REE E R E T
SHE BER B 2 B BRI A KRIEE
mY N TFEBFESE -

AER  AEEBBTTHERER
—REBECEAEMAEEAEAARE
400,000,0007T * &8 AT 2 =&
AAERE - Hp—ZR v EENMRRE
A7 127,000,0007T © ZAE AT E K
B ERHARERE -
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET 29. REEEBERNBTIEEE
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated balance sheet (a) REEEESBERANKTERE:
represents:
2011 2010
—E2——fF —ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT IT
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the year N4 & &8 R 15 51 & 22,952 20,768
Provision for PRC Tax for the year ZNFE [ R B A i T 262,693 226,486
Provisional profits tax paid TEEFSHL (181,872) (34,801)
103,773 212,453
Balance of profits tax provision relating to NEFERIAEE
prior years 309,377 356,610
413,150 569,063
(b) Deferred taxation (b) EEHIE
() The Group G AEEH
The movements on the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) TEEeEERABRTAEL
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as WMIBEEE /(A&
follows: T
Fair value adjustment for Accelerated tax Withholding tax on
available-for-sale securities Tax losses depreciation associate’s profit Total
BEBERRN AR BEgx MEFESHE BENTINBHEH &t
2011 2010 2011 2010 211 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“2—-% | ZF-%F | ZB--F |Z3-TF | -%--§ | Z5-3F |2%--F |Z3-%F |-%--f | ZT-%F
HKS'000 | HKS000 | HK$000 | HKSO0D | HKS000 | HKSO0D | HKS000 | HKS000 | HK$000 |  HKS000
BETR | AT | AMTn | A%Tr | BMTR | B4Tm | B¥Tn | BETn | B%TR | BETo
At January W-A-B (666,067) | (436311) 131 6610 - Py | (os7ed | G273 | (168460) | (542460
Credited/(charged] to RirAERRY
proft o loss 28/ (GHR) - - (1871) (5,184 - 169 (962) | (41,029) (2333) | (46044
Credited/charged) toresene. AR 2285/
(3#0) 451006 | (179756) - - - - - S| 06| (179759
Included in assets held for sale~ IFEHEAE - - - () - (149) - - - (200
At 31 December WEZAZF-A | (15061 | (666,067 - 1371 - - | (o476 | (03764 | (319787 | (768460)
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note RIEMIFE2(q) 2 BFTEUR -
2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets, REERE ERIERTEE
in respect of tax losses of approximately HK$1,737 RWABE17 7B T(ZE—F
million (2010: approximately HK$1,645 million), as it is F : KBH16.4518TT)1ER
not probable that future taxable profits against which the BIERIEE - RASEH
tax losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant BN —TEREE R R FERR
entities. The tax losses do not expire under current tax TRBF AER IR 2 A -

legislation.
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) 29. REESBRNBIEERE)
(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) IEEHIE(E)
(i) The Company @) ARAE]
The movements on the deferred tax liabilities recognised RATEATINEEARGSE
in the Company’s balance sheet are as follows: R B ESE T ¢
Withholding tax on associate’s profit B N TN FEIN TSR
2011 2010
—E——F| ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ok
At 1 January n—H—8 (103,764) (62,735)
Charged to consolidated WA BEERHE
income statement (962) (41,029)
At 31 December R+—-_A=+—8H (104,726) (103,764)
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. BRA
2011 2010
—E——F| ZT-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ok
Authorised: SETERA
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each FREAEREA .007T 2 Em ik 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREHERA -
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,723,563 1,592,264
Shares issued under placement BT T 2 IR - 129,000
Shares issued under share option scheme 1T RN 583 2,299
Shares repurchased Bl g (3,584) -
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 1,720,562 1,723,563
Shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as declared and are RERERKIME XM ERRERR Z
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares BRRERESEREEETR—FB2REE - FTE
rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. BIEARRZNBEEBEREZS

T -
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(@)

(b)

Share repurchased

During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as
follow:

30. MRA(#)

(a)

B
7 AAARERE A X HH
FRARBERAS 2 EBBR 2
BT -

Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/Year repurchased per share per share costs
EEE BREMN BREM
F,/H R EE RaE% RIEERE B
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT BT T
September 2011 1,322,000 8.99 8.15 11,488
—E——FNA
October 2011 2,262,000 8.39 7.50 17,690
—E——%1H
3,584,000 29,178

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the
issued share capital of the company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to Section 49H of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and amount equivalent to
the par value of the shares cancelled of HK$3,584,000 was
transferred from retained profits to the capital redemption
reserve. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of
HK$25,594,000 was charged to retained profits.

Capital Management

The Group’s primary objectives in capital management are
maximising shareholder return, matching of business funding
needs and maintaining the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Management regularly, or as changes in
circumstances warrant, reviews and manages its capital
structure so as to maintain a proper balance amongst
shareholder returns, leveraging and funding requirement.

(b)

BERMNEETE  ARRIEE
TR AN T 32 52 5 iR 1D 2 E 1B A8
FER D o IRIEBBCR FHEBINE
A9HIE - HERZEROEBEZS
K8 13,584,0007C © © BREB %
FleE = AR A E R i o iBE R
1 B B A5 2 5 (B 7 15 25,594,000
TLERMRBEFHIER ©

EREE
AEEEAEENERER &
BIRREFEHEAL  EAEKE
EHE  URHEKARENSE
k- BEETHIERBRLE
et REBEERRE - A
FERERD® BERRESERZ
AR T
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

30. IRA(&)

Capital Management (continued) b) EXREE(E)
Net assets for capital management is defined as liabilities FEENEEARAEENTEE BK
generated from operations (includes creditors, other payables CELAHNEE(RIEEMNERER &
and trading securities liabilities), notes payable, interest bearing HEMNFIERR ZEFAE) &
loans and unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and NEE . EAFBENEREERE
cash equivalents. Adjusted capital represents total equity less ENEZKRE  BEHERES
unaccrued proposed dividends. The net-assets-to-adjusted EBY KRABZERNBERZE
capital ratio at 31 December 2011 and 2010 was as follows: BRATIRAZZRE - R=ZF
——F+—A=+—HBKk=%F—
TERFEELFEE AR E0
T~
2011 2010
—E——fF T —FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BitEE BT T BT
Current liabilities REBEE
Creditors, deposits received and FERBRFR - BHIRE R
accrued charges TEIRE R 27 178,813 328,977
Notes payable e =% 28 633,965 143,295
Trading securities R5HEH 23 206 -
Bank loans RITER 26 1,063,754 615,576
Financial liability designated at FEIE Al iE e DA R R
fair value through profit or loss NHEENERAE 148,058 -
2,024,796 1,087,848
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Bank loans RITER 26 69,517 476,786
Financial liability designated at Y6 ARIBIE R DA S AR
fair value through profit or loss AN EENEREE - 38,917
Total debt =Rt 2,094,313 1,603,551
Add: Proposed dividends hn s EREERR B 516,169 517,244
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B HE RIS EEY 24 (3,642,079)| (4,128,285)
Net assets for capital management E&EUEEREE (1,031,597)| (2,007,490
Total equity EREE 28,272,728 30,171,471
Less: Proposed dividends T RS (516,169) (517,244)
Adjusted capital BRAENER 27,756,559 29,654,227
Net-assets-to-adjusted capital ratio FEELHABERLLR (3.7%) (6.8%)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s liquidity has remained
strong. The addition of financial resources is mainly attributable
to fruitful returns, through divestment and dividends, from
investments. During the year, The Group has also made further
investment over advances to customers, trading securities,
available-for-sale securities and financial assets designated
as fair value through profit or loss. To enhance shareholder
returns, the Group continues to seek new investment
opportunities while maintaining a healthy capital structure.

RZE—F+=-_A=+—8"
REERDES HIFEBEMRN -
BB ERZEMEBRE LEMN
HEHEKERERTR - FR » A
SEEMNE—FSRERNEFER
RPHEH  HBHEEEFEET
AEBBEZIARMAFEEBESN
EMEE - AKEEESKEE
W AEBEESENNIRER
M) WHESTERE R E AL
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30. BA(#&)
(b) Capital Management (continued) (b) EXREE(E)
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital KRB BBEESTINREE KR
requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject E o ARAETH BRI BB
to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements ETERE NNEARREER
(see also note 39(b)), these subsidiaries have complied with BT (B2 RME39(0)) » sz EHT
those requirements at all time during both the current and prior BRARRMENREFERN—ER
financial years. EHBRE -
31. RESERVES 31. @&
The Company |
Retained
Option  Investment Capital profits/
Share premium  revaluation Capital  redemption (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
AhE RE Bx  Regd/
RAEE  RERE  EMEE  EARE  EERE  (2HER) it
Note HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
i ARt RETr BT BBt BETr i AR
Asat 1 January 2010 R-E-TF-A-H 5,724,469 4037 3,802,065 (30,837) 2984 791266 10,293,983

Sharesissuedundershare [ME TR 2 AMkiE

option scheme 7,83 (2.921) - - - - 4914
Shares issued under placement - EREFTE T IRE 215533 - - - - - 215%3%
Dividends paid BRRE 12 - - - - - (526088) (526,009
Proft for the year TEERF - - - - - 170,143 170,143
Other comprehensive AEERENG

income for the year - - 2,449,789 - - - 2449789

Asat 31 December 2010and - MZE-FE+ZA=1—H
“Z——5-f-0

1 January 2011 RZE——%-8- 7,887,639 1116 6,251,854 (30,837) 2,984 435340 14,548,096
Sharesissued under share (8 TR 2 AE

option scheme 2212 - - - - - 2212
Sheres repurchased mERf - - - - 3584 (29,179 (25,594)
Dividends paid Efifkg 12 - - - - - (175806 (775,866)
Transfer between resenves EEEDER 1,116 (1,116) - 30,837 - 30837) -
Proft for the year AEERF - - - - - 666,708 666,708
Other comprefensive TEERENE

income for the year - - (1,602,606) - - - (1,602,606)
As at 31 December 2011 RZF—F+ZA=t-A 7,890,967 - 4,649,248 - 6,568 206,167 12,812,950

The movement in the Group’s reserves has been disclosed in the REBEZFBEEHE R ERE R

consolidated statement of changes in equity. H7R o
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32. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium and the capital
redemption reserve is governed by Sections 48B and 49H
respectively of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Option premium reserve

The option premium reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share based payments
in note 2(p)(ii).

Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities held
at the balance sheet date and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies in note 2(f).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective portion
of any foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of the
net investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
2(1).

Goodwill reserve

The goodwill reserve comprises goodwill on acquisitions that
occurred prior to 1 January 2001. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(e).

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises specific allocation of amount
transferred from retained earnings due to regulatory
requirements. It also includes the share of statutory reserve of
associates.

Distributability of reserve

As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of reserve
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance was HK$266,167,000 (2010: HK$435,340,000).

32. REZMEERAR

0

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

RASHER EREE FE
{25 {8 K & 708 B {3 5 2 FE R
ThFAB AR G EI48BIE K&
A4QHIE -

RBERERKE

TR 5 (B A 1 0 AR 1B AR {5 (8
& ETEER (HE2(p) (i) HERANE
ERTES cRBRENEE S
FTENE AT TERRIEN AR E

REBMHE
REBMRERBREERBEES
REEREBERZAARBZRF
HE) o HERBESFTBRPHE
2B °

BE i tE
ERGEESTEELERES
INEIE 2 mMERCIEL ZEE R
EE R EGINEFIREZR
MIE N ZEpn - BlREzE
FTRRIEE FIE A RE2®)

BERE

EEREHEENR-_ZZ—F—A8
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BOREEFTBRRM TR
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BEAFBEEREEEEZRE
REBFEFEDBE < EH © Lhi#
BB/ HBERRDEER K
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ANQEHEREBC A BHERFINEE 798
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155 7578 266,167,000 7T ( =T —
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 33.

RELGERS

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on
24 May 2002 whereby the Directors of the Company are authorised,
at their discretion, to grant to employees of the Group, including
directors of any company in the Group, to take up options and
subscribe for the shares of the Company. Upon the first anniversary,
25% of the options will vest and the rest will vest in three equal
installments on each subsequent semi-anniversary. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company.

() The terms and conditions of the grant that existed during the
year are as follows, and all options are settled by physical
delivery of shares:

ARRIBREEER_ZTZT_FHA
—+ P BEERS T —ERRER R A%
BrREBEAEEE MR AR ZE
= BERBENRBEARARIZKRE -
BRI 25% BN E—BFEE
B RBHRRES T =R ERE
FEERSER  FRBREETEEA
READE 2z —REER -

() REAFTERBRBREZGIR
fEREFENTS - PR RREARREE
MEIN A :

Exercise No.of options

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period price granted
R B TR TEER TEEE RREHE
10/04/06 11/04/06-10/10/08 11/04/07-10/04/11 HK$4.800 6,200,000

Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before
the option is vested.

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share

AR BN R A AT B - 7%
AR SR o

(i) RERZHEREMEFHFE

options are as follows: ZATEELT
2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
¥ TS
AREHE fTEE | REHE 1768
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Outstanding at 1 January R—A—B&#%E 582,750 4.800 2,881,500 3.498
Exercise during the year RERTTE (582,750) 4.800 (2,298,750) 3.168
Outstanding at 31 December N+ A=+—H&%HE - 582,750 4.800

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$16.25 (2010:
HK$20.486).

No outstanding share options at 31 December 2011.

IR RTT 8 2 SRR Z AN - 15
BEREE1625L(ZTE—F
F : B1520.4867T) °

R-ZZE——F+=-A=+—8¥
BEARITIEEVRRRE ©
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(iii)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the
services received is measured based on a binominal option
pricing model. The contractual life of the share options and
expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the model.
The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends as well
as expectation on future period performance. Changes in
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. The
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services rendered. There were
no market conditions associated with the share option grants.
The Company has not granted any share options in 2010 and
2011.

33. RELERS (&)

RREZ A RBERBR

BB RENESRENORAE
HERTREEN QA ERE -
ERREMEFT AR ERS ZES
REBE)FE - REENAH
FHNA ZREITRABAZ
B o FRHIRIE THAR IR E 2R e
AE - AHRETDRBESERE
REHRRZ FKEARRETE - £
Ba ARKRNEDAIEEATE
DA ERREE

(iii)

REENER T AN A R IEMT -
A RAAGERE T AE
BRIEH R ARME - TIHHEMEE
TRIRELERER - R T ——
FR_F-—FEF+_A=+—H
IEEFE - ARRIWER HRRAE o

34. MATURITY PROFILE
As at 31 December 2011

34. HARR 4

R=B——F+=H=+-8

1 year or 5 years or
Repayable 3 months less but over less but over
on demand or less 3 months 1year After5years Total
3EANL
AEER  SEATMT F1E 1ENERSE 5L ax
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BB BB BB BB
Assets BE
~ Advances to customers -ZPER 98,400 686,320 1,205,400 393,960 - 2,384,080
- Trading securities ~R G5 - 69,864 56,251 - - 126,115
- Available-for-sales securities — B E RS - - - 79,631 13,579 93,210
- Financial assets designated at ~ — 35 ABBIEE
fair value through profit or loss REATEEN
TREE - - 397,797 - - 397,797
~ Fixed deposits —~EHER - 1,786,404 - - - 1,786,404
98,400 2,542,588 1,659,448 473,591 13,579 4,787,606
Liabilities =1
—Bank loans ~HTER - (18,254)  (1,045,500) - (69517)  (1,133.271)
- Financial liability designated at ~ — &7 BRBEZRM
fair value through profit o loss REATEEN
SHEE - - (79,559) - - (79,559)
- Notes payable aNES - (492,000  (141,965) - - (633,965)
- (510,254)  (1,267,024) - (69,517)  (1,846,795)
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34. MATURITY PROFILE (continued)
As at 31 December 2010

34. HIBRDAT (1)
R-B-—ZF+-A=t1—H

Tyearor  Syearsor

Repayable 3months  lessbut over  less but over

on demand orless

BIEER  SEARAT
HK$'000 HK$'000

3 months 1year  After5years Total
SEAME
EF AFNUEESF 5E £ &5

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT BT BT
Assets BE
— Advances to customers -RPER - - 655,964 551,353 - 1207317
- Trading securities -R5%E5 - - - 13,331 - 13,331
~Financial assets designated at ~ — 1 AiBiBEM
fair value through profit or loss RBATFES
cHEE - - - 314,672 - 314,672
- Fixed deposits —EHET - 247017 - - - 2417017
- 2,417,017 655,964 879,356 - 3,952,337
Liabilities a&
- Bank loans ~HITER - - (615,576) (414,330) (62,456)  (1,092,362)
- Financial liability designated at ~~ — 3£ BRBIEZEM
fair value through profit or loss R AFER
cRAR - - - (38,917) - (38,917)
— Notes payable -ERRE - - (143,295) - - (143.295)
- - (788TY) (453.247) 62456)  (1,274574)

35. SEGREGATED ACCOUNTS NOT REFLECTED ON
BALANCE SHEET

35. FTRBMREERBERZETRF

Discontinued operations B ER

2011 2010
=g | —T-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BETIT
Bank balances — segregated accounts RITHEER—ERERP - 1,009,615

Receivable from clearing house and JEM A B AT R HR S P 5RIR
futures brokers - 51,387

Amounts held on behalf of clients REFERE

- | (1,081,002
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BREEALTRS
(a) The following transactions were entered into with related (@ AEBERFANEGEEALZR
parties during the year: S0 :
2011 2010
—E——F | ZT-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Management fee received from: IWE - EIRE
— subsidiaries of jointly controlled — H[FE %UE‘%?%HE pd
companies B 28,905 8,419
Rental income from associates of the Group B4 A Tfﬁiﬂﬁl)\ 2,439 -
Rental expense paid to a wholly-owned AR EERFE 2 ENE
subsidiary of CE Holdings YNSIEENEEkR 2,433 5,400
Remuneration for key management SEEBEAEM(BE
personnel (including the Company’s KAREE)EREHE
directors) which is included in “staff cost”: [BETEA]:
— short-term employee benefits — R HEENR 25,746 27,356
— retirement scheme contributions —IRIRET B 106 96
(b) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, b) BRTHREMBEmERE EEEE
included in the balance sheets are the following balances with KA B BEA T REIE

related parties:

Group Company
£H AT
2011 2010 2011 2010

—F——F | ZT-TF | =B——F | ZFTTF
HK$'000 | HK$000 | HK$000 |  HK$000
BETT | ARTIT| BETR| BETT

Amount due from JRE MBSt A B SR IE
associates (included in -~ (B3ERFEIERFN -
debtors, deposits and Be NIRRT A)

prepayments) 170,248 50,817 12 -
Amount due from associates arose in the ordinary course NG| IEEF‘EE S
of securities brokerage business, and is unsecured, interest ﬁ%&%ﬂ%ﬁth% F R 5 K
bearing and repayable upon demand. HAEKR 58 WRERE

B -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. BRAEALRZ(H)
(c) Transactions with other PRC state-owned entities (c) HEFEHEtEEERETHRS

The Group operates in an economic regime currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the
PRC government through its government authorities, agencies,
affiliations and other organizations (“State-owned Entities”).
Transactions with other State-owned Entities include but
are not limited to: lending and deposit taking; insurance and
redemption of bonds issued by other State-owned Entities;
purchase, sale and leases of property and other assets; and
rendering and receiving of utilities and other services.

The Group is of the opinion that none of these transactions
are material related party transactions that require separate

AEBRENABZIEH EREE
BN EERESR @ BRE
I B B8 1 P B BT RS E BUF
B RIERE - IMBREs M
BBEERAHZES((HAE
Bl AEERAGEAERE
TR ZBEETRR « BEHE
RMFR  RERANEE B E R
BERZETNES  EENEE
FEREMEE + RIEHEMEK
DA S EL A AR o

REBEBARELHR  AEER
REEXZWHRENBH TR

disclosure. 2 - BIH/BEEIFE -
37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. FIARAEE
(@) Corporate guarantee (@) 2ARER
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT

Guarantee given to financial institutions in BHTE R E) KRB E R R
respect of banking facilities granted to HRITREE A B R (L
subsidiaries and associates BR

1,146,500 1,203,956

The Group’s subsidiaries have utilised HK$448,754,000
out of these banking facilities as at 31 December 2011 (31
December 2010: HK$733,956,000). Banking facilities of
HK$470,000,000 provided by a financial institution to certain
associates (31 December 2010: HK$470,000,000 provided
by a financial institution to certain subsidiaries) are unutilised
as at 31 December 2011 which are trading facilities for
leveraged foreign exchange trading and carrying out derivatives
transactions. The guarantee amounts vary depending on the
volume of transactions effected with the financial institutions.

R=ZZT——F+=A=+—8"
RNEBEBE T TARRNERTT
HEDREERZERAESBE
448,754,000t ( — T —TF+ =
A =+—H : 7% 733,956,000
JL) ° AN R — 5 BUH R R EL B
&N E et 2 B 470,000,0007T
(ZE—FEFE+-_fA=+—8:
[ H F A Rl 470,000,000
TL)RITEER-_T—%+_8
=t+—BWEHIER  ZX5HE
ERERIRIINER 5 R ETE
TAEE - ZEREESRER
SRMBEL 2 X FEME) o
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(b)

38. COMMITMENTS

(@)

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 37. IAREE(HE)
Incentive payment (b) HEFIE
According to an Incentive Agreement dated and announced BER-ZZELFRA-_THH
on 25 May 2007, the Group is obligated to pay an incentive TR - WA B A2 HE #
project bonus to an investment team (of which all the individual # ' N&E&€1%SeaBright China
members are employees of the Group) upon the realisation Special Opportunities (1) Limited
of each project, whether in whole or in part, under SeaBright (KREBEHF78.9%SOF 2 i)
China Special Opportunities () Limited (of which the Group has BIER 2 28 EH BIR N EET
a 78.9% equity interest). The amount of the incentive project BENWAREYNIEE YE S S
bonus payable under the agreement is equal to 15% of the KEBK(FTEKEHERAE
profit realised from the disposal of those investments plus the BEET) mEBBEEeRAER
related amount of advisor fee income received less certain ZIBEEBRFRSWZEA15% »
attributable project expenses and the investment team’s INEBEEREBWA @ W FEEE
operating expenses. The incentive project bonus is recognised HEHZEEAEEEE RIEEER
on the realisation of the relevant project. As at 31 December KEEER - BE SEESES
2011, the accumulated unrealised gain associated with the EEE HERA SWER - R
relevant projects amounted to HK$728 million (31 December T——F+-_A=+—H  HE
2010: HK$2,170 million). If all relevant projects were disposed BERHZABHRALBEEBIASL
of on 31 December 2011 at their fair value, the amount of 7 8B ( —E—TFE+ A
incentive project bonus payable to the investment team would =+—H : BE21.7(87T) ° WFT
be approximately HK$63 million (31 December 2010: HK$231 AHBEER -_ZT—&+—5
million). =T—BUARELE  BEX
MigEBREK 2 IEE HERe
R RBB0B3EIL(ZE—TF :
ARE2.311ETT) °
38. EiE
Capital commitment (a) EXEE
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has capital commitments R-_ZT—F+_-_FA=+—8"
as follows: REEHERAENT -
2011 2010
—E——fF = —FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT IT
Contracted but not provided for BELERETIR 1,128,842 1,111,371
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38.

COMMITMENTS (continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b)
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2011 amounted
to approximately HK$3,261,000 (2010: HK$20,565,000) of which
HK$3,062,000 (2010: HK$10,268,000) is payable in the next
twelve months. The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

38. AIE(H)

REAEARE

R=ZE——F+=-A=+—H"
CEHEREBBLHEBL
3,261,000/t (=ZF —ZFF : 478

# 20,565,000 7T )

BB E

3,062,000/t (=ZZE —ZFF : 478
#£10,268,0007T ) A AR+ =& A
NESZ N2 EESTE - NEBEIR
BAHGE 2 EEHE - KRR
Sz &EBEENRERELT ¢

2011 2010
—E——fF —=—FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Not later than one year —FE R EFI|H 3,062 10,268
Later than one year and not later than —FUEERF
five years 199 10,297
3,261 20,565
(c) Future operating lease arrangement (c) RRKEHEZRH

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases for investment properties as follows:

R-—ZE—F+=-_A=+—80"
ANEBIRBET A HHENREDE
LA - AR AT EZ &K

HEFIREENT

2011 2010

—B——F | —ZT-ITF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Not later than one year —FEREFI|H 1,219 552
Later than one year and not later than —FUEERF

five years 1,463 18

2,682 570
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38. COMMITMENTS (continued) 38. EiE(E)
(d) Off-balance sheet exposure (d EESERINER
The fair values and the contractual or notional amounts of the RZF——F+=—A=+—8 "
Group’s trading equity derivatives outstanding at 31 December REBARFREZITETIAGNZ
2011 are detailed as follows: PABEREAXBRETEAT
Contractual/
Fair value assets/(liabilities) notional amounts
BE /(B 2RrE BR/EELHE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F | ZT-TF | ZB——F | ZT-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
Long derivative contracts  £ABTAE T EA 4 - 45,165 - 24,877
Short derivative contracts & #T4 T EA 4 (206) - 1,133 -

The financial instruments become favourable (assets) or
unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market
prices of the underlying instruments relative to their terms.

Notional amounts of these financial instruments provide a basis
for comparison with instruments recognised on the balance
sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amount of future cash
flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and,
therefore, are not a representation of the Group’s exposure to
the credit or price risks.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business
operation of the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the
Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s risk management
objective is to maximise shareholders’ value and to reduce volatility in
earnings while maintaining risk exposures with acceptable limits.

The Group’s work in the area of risk management is led by the
Chief Risk Officer and the Risk Management Group and execution
is mainly carried out by the Risk Management Department. This
functional structure can assess, identify and document the Group’s
risk profile and to ensure that the business units focus, control and
systematically avoid potential risks in various areas of business. The
following is a brief description of the Group’s approach in managing
these risks.

39.

EMTAAEMEELAZTS
EBRKBHMESHEN(EE)KT
FM(ARE) -

ZETRTEZHRZSREIER
HEREERBERERNHTAL
REE T —ERTIER
ARRERELZLERAZEFTLR
ZEEBRRE - Bk - AR
AEEFMES ZEEREREDR

TMIA

[R\fe B IR AR EEBE R AR - R
SEEXBHNEZERNERARBEEER
ER ) //|L§U§fﬂ ﬂ_z_ﬂ ETH
AR EE R - REEHERERBR
R MRREERAME ML &ﬂﬁ’]&
W - [R] AR FE FR Joel Be 422 71 £ AT 45 52 B9 7K~
ZIA e

Zli‘ilﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁ@l{’ﬁx&ﬁﬂﬂﬁ@%&
RRRER/EREE  YERHERE
BRENTT o ZIRFERERTAS E%k)”zlJ&%EﬁZJS
Bz RzEEE - ARFEREREIE
AE I R e AR R E R AR A
BT EER o AN AR S E e
ERERBHIDEEL B -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to advances to
customers, trade and other receivables, debt investments and
unlisted derivative financial instruments.

In general, for advances to customers, the Group requires
collateral from customers before advances are granted. The
amount of advance permitted depends on the quality and
value of collateral provided by the customer. Any subsequent
change in value as well as quality, of collateral is closely
monitored in order to determine whether any corrective action is
required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group’s
investment activities. Receivables from brokers and
counterparties are normally repayable on demand. The Group
has established procedures in the selection of brokers/
counterparties with sound credit ratings and/or reputation.

Investments in debt instruments and unlisted derivative financial
instruments are also governed by whether the issuers and the
trade counterparties have sound credit ratings.

The Group has well defined policies in place on the setting
and approval of trading, credit and investment position limits
in order to manage its credit risk exposure and concentration.
As at the balance sheet date, the Group does not have
a significant concentration of credit risk other than the
provision of advances to customers which are secured by
residential leasehold land in the mainland, equity shares and
third party guarantees of RMB400 million (31 December
2010: RMB600million), HK$565 million (31 December 2010:
HKS$nil) and HK$1,223 million (31 December 2010: HK$nil)
respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into
account any collateral held is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial
instruments, on the balance sheet date deducting any
impairment allowance. Except for the corporate guarantees
set out in note 37(a), the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group or the Company to
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
the corporate guarantee at the balance sheet date amounted
to HK$1,147 million (31 December 2010: HK$1,204 million).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from advances to customers are
set out in notes 21 and 34.

39. E@MIAMH)

(a)

FERR
AEEZEERBRIBREER
B~ U R H AR - EFR
BTHEFEMITESRTA -

—RME - BREFPER A%
Ee 2 REFREME MM IE
B3 - FARRFZEREBERNET
HEHmERAEE - EFmA
BRLEREEEEPTEXER
ER  IEFERRIEETE -

EM R EMARREBEREAKE
REEE - KL ZBUSKANT
BERS ESRER - AEBECARE
RBAEBHEERERETIRAR X
EERZBSFAERRZHT -

ERTEEFE EHITESRIRE
TMRAKERETHEISHFH
BRIEENH -

NEBB AR Z BUR AT E T
R EERKEHEEREE
VARSI 8 2 5 B R R IR E B
SHE  REER  XEBERK
EEERAREABTL(ZZT—
TEE+-_A=Z1+—H: AR
6187L)  BHs565EIT(—ZT—
TFE+_A=+—H: 8RB
1228 B (=T —ZTF+ =4
=+—H : &) DRILARHEEAR
B REFEFNE=FIE
RIEBITIFIN - WERBEFRH
ZERR -

KetFREHARZESEERR
EERMEENEE  BENLE
T A - REE BN IR E B
# o B T W EE37(a) = E AT IR At
NEER  REBWRAREE
fhHE IR I AN £ E A B RS
ERKR - REER  RaEERA
%5 B PTIREB 11,4718 T
WARER(ZE—ZE+=A
=+—H8 : B¥12.0485T) °

EAEFEZEIBAEENEER
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly assess current and expected
liquidity requirements and to ensure that it maintains reserves
of cash, readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements, the
Group closely monitors their liquidity position. To ensure strict
compliance, the Group maintains adequate cash reserves
to prepare for immediate fund injection if required. If there is
a medium to long-term operational need, the management
would also consider adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital
structure. Subsidiaries with external equity stakeholders are
generally responsible for their own liquidity management.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
on the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the balance date) and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay:

39. €WMTHE(%)

(b)

REEEER

AEBHBRE AR RAHZ
MEE S FRKIEHER AT - i
RGEFRHZRS B HHES
BEMREs  UARBETEZEH
BERRZESREAGH  FEIU
BRI R ESFR

HRERZERDIEREOME
AR AREEBDERERER

MR o RIEREIR BT AR
o ARERERERRNHES
it ABHIREE - AAF &
HNEERE EHENSER
HEEMAMNBARNEARRE -
—RmE - BRI A RSN ER
BMENMBLARIBTEERD M

BiE e

NREIIANEE AR AT E
BEREERBERAERAAOZ
HAMFBRER - DRESOR
MIRB SR (BRASONE - 11
FE BREE BEE BN KRG
HHOMBEXH) @ RAEENAR
FARFAEL MR ARFH
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. ERTAEE)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RBESREME)
The Group £H
2011 2010
-2--f e 3
Total Morethan  More than Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2years contractual Within 1year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1yearor butlessthan butless than Carrying  undiscounted yearor  butlessthan  butlessthan
amount  cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years amount cashfiow  ondemand 2 years 5years
AOARR  -EAZ BB-EE  REWER BOARE  Em BEEE  BEWER
REE REREE EREXA OWRE OREE FEE RensE B RFE SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
E¥Tn  E¥tn E¥TR ¥t EETR BT EETr BT Bkt #ETrn
Creditors, deposts received and B850 - Btk RER
accrued charges 2R 178,813 178,813 178,813 - - 3289077 308,977 308,977 - -
Amounts due o associates  EREENFFE 438 438 438 - - 438 438 438 - -
Bank loans HOER 1,183.21 1,176,627 1,086,489 5,155 84,983 1,092,362 1,163,573 668,144 421079 74,350
Notes payable LRESH 633,965 633,965 633,965 - - 143,295 143,295 143,295 - -
Financial iabilty designated at fair }E TREBEEIRBAT
value through proft or loss EBNeRERE 148,058 148,058 148,058 - - 38917 38917 - 38917 -
2004545 2,137,901 2,047,763 5,155 84,983 1,603,989 1,675,200 1,140,854 45999 74,350
The Company NS
2011 2010
%--& IR-E2E
Total Morethan  More than Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2years contractual Within 1year 2 years
Carnying  undiscounted 1yearor butlessthan but less than Camying  undiscounted fyearor  butlessthan  butlessthan
amount cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years amount cashfow  ondemand 2 years 5years
SRRER -FRy,  BE-FE  BEWER RIRER —FRy  BE-FE  BEWEE
REE RENAE EREXR OHEE SREE RAE Rei#E  BERN SRmE SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
BT E¥Tn EETR YT BETT ETr  EETr BEfr B%Tn BETr
Oreditors, deposits received and JEf8EET - B4 RFER
acerued charges (] 14,078 14,078 14,078 - - 2,319 2,319 2319 - -
Amounts due to subsidiaries  EFMIELFFE 305,987 395,987 395,987 - - 806,055 806,055 806,055 - -
Amounts dug to associates  EMEYEDAZUE 438 438 438 - - 43 43 438 - -
410,503 410,503 410,503 - - 808,812 808,812 808,812 - -
Financial quarantees issued: %ﬁ@ﬁ% :
Maximum amount quaranteed S ERE(FfE7)
(note 37(a) 1,146500 1,146,500 1,146,500 - - 1,203,956 1,003,956 1,203,956 - -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

Interest rate risk

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate exposure
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within an
acceptable range. Most of the Group’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities are on a floating rate basis with maturity of one to
nine years.

The Group’s interest rate positions arise from treasury
and operating activities. Interest rate risk arises in treasury
management, customer financing and investment portfolios.
Interest rate risk primarily results from the timing differences
in the repricing of interest-bearing assets, liabilities and
commitments. It also relates to positions from non-interest
bearing liabilities including shareholders’ funds and current
accounts, as well as from certain fixed rate loans. Interest
rate risk is managed by the Treasury Department under the
delegated authority of the Board of Directors. The instruments
used to manage interest rate risk include time deposits and
interest rate linked derivatives, if necessary.

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates
their effective interest rate at the balance sheet date. At 31
December 2011, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 0.5% in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit after tax and retained earnings, by HK$16,830,000/
HK$4,177,000 (2010: increase of HK$18,872,000/decrease of
HK$6,499,000) for increase/decrease of 0.5% in interest rate.

The above increase or decrease in interest rate represent the
management’s assessment of a reasonable change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.
It also assumes that all other variable remains constant. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

39.

TR A

(c)

R =B
AEBYNEER 2 REBELTEE
B PR AR AR B A B R 4 Il A
AEEKEZRN - REBAFD
EENENEERRABEEZERN
FEHE MAMAR—FEN
& o

AEBENMERFRIRE AIBERE
BEERD - MEERARE A
EEE  FEFBREMKREMS -
NEEBREIERHHTEEE &
BERAEEBERMNREZEMR
TRESBERRAER HPE
BRRESHMEREFRETE
BER - MEmEESFEEER
REZSGREETE - BEFXE
) T A BB HERAH =84
W2OTETA(INFE) -

BHRFBASHEERSES
BMEME TRENEEENFLE
BZEBRFR RN_T——%F
SRAEEERMNE EA TR
0.5% * AEBEBRFE BT RR
B2 2 715 2 35 10 74 # 16,830,000
TR B 4177,000 T ( =
T—FTF : FREFH05%
T B 0.5% + Lk FF S g 0
" 18,872,000 7t R A B
6,499,0007T) °

ERMFE RS EEEREE
T-A2FAEAEXEBEA
BRES BT LHRHAE
Hip TREERHTE - HITR
=T — PR -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s interest bearing assets and liabilities are
substantially at variable interest rate basis:

()

(d)

39. ERIAE)

(c)

FIRER ()
AEES S EERABRIHF
KA

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate % HK$’000 rate % HK$’000
BBERIZE% BT | BENEY BT
Assets BE
Advances to customers EFSE 10.65% 492,000 9.4% 710,280
Bank balances and cash  R1T45 82 RIE & 0.65% 4,226,918 0.3% 4,469,268
Total interest bearing EAXFBEWEELLE
assets 4,718,918 5,179,548
Liabilities =8
Bank loans IRITE 6.81% 1,133,271 56% 1,092,362
Notes payable B EE 0.85% 519,000 - -
Total interest bearing E4FENEBHRE
liabilities 1,652,271 1,092,362
Currency risk (d EXEE

The Group’s exposure to exchange risk primarily stems from
holdings of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies, other than Hong Kong dollars and net investment
in foreign subsidiaries and associates. As most of the Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities and net investment in foreign
subsidiaries and associates are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars or Renminbi, the management
does not consider there to be any significant currency risk.

QOverall, management monitors its currency exposure closely
and would consider hedging significant currency exposure

should the need arise.

REE 2 EREREERKARE
IR EREERBE
£ EIRIMNER 5 BN B
BIHEBE N ZRRE - AEE
Ripfpz E¥EERB B KB
B X B SR N B 2 SRR A
RE¥  ERTRARKEE T
EEYNERER S RBEAEE
[\

HBTE  AREEREEES
Ak GEEEBEERHEA
R AR TE T -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s exposure to currency
risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated

(d)

39. €T A

ERER(E)

TR AKEREERERA
ERREERABZEXRERR

in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to EREENBENIEEEEE
which they relate is tabled below: AERANINEEERE :
2011 2010
=2 —EZF
In USD In RMB In USD In RMB
En ARY T ARE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT BT
Fixed assets BEEE - 344 - 150
Investments in associates ~ FRABEE TZT&%{ - 9,016,384 - 9,209,010
Investments in jointly HEESEEAF

controlled entities wE 233,443 4,250 - 2,553
Available-for-sale securities {1 S5 & 4 118,488 7,980,222 - 10,799,589
Financial assets designated 87t A iBI85 A

at fair value through REATBER

profit or loss CREE 586,519 335,753 285,833 315,046
Advances to customers BEER 582,960 - 307,629 -
Amounts due from investee  JEIR1EE A TFIE

companies 19,790 - - -
Debtors, deposits and JEWERT - e K

prepayments AR 26,006 270,509 27,964 217,403
Trading securities R5FEH(REBEE)

(current assets) - - 46,285 -
Cash and cash equivalents 34 NIEEEEY 533,552 1,609,203 1,047,333 1,069,240
Creditors, deposits received FEfTBERR « B MRS &

and accrued charges EIREA - (585) (6,967) -
Financial liability designated ~ #§ E}%Lﬂ}a 5 DA S B

at fair value through profit A EBEHSRERE

or loss (current liabilities) (REa’k) (79,559) (68,499) - -
Provision for taxation FRIEERE - (48,253) - (208,353)
Notes payable [ERNEE - (606,965) - (143,295)
Financial liability designated 57 A i8iB 1825 A S

at fair value through RFEENSHAEE

(non-current liabilities) (FERBARE)

profit or loss - - (38,917) -
Deferred tax RAERIE - (18,549) - (389,917)
Net exposure arising from K8 2172 ﬁ?&

recognised assets and B ENERAR

liabilities 2,021,199 18,473,814 1,669,160 20,871,426
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(e)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. @WMIA(A)
Currency risk (continued) (d E=ERE)
An analysis of the estimated change in the Group’s profit after TEROMAEEREERRERA
tax (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated AEBEEAEZRBHNEXRLERS
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the AR E B - NEERE
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at BN ( RIRBEF)) LA KR E =
the balance sheet date is presented in the following table: Hb 2B ER D 2 T8t 8 -
2011 2010
—B—-f “T-%%
Effect on Effect on
Increase/  profit after Effect on Increase/ profit after Effect on
(decrease) taxand other (decrease) taxand other
in exchange retained components | inexchange refained  components
rates profits of equity rates profits of equity
HRHEER HER HIRBHERF Egp I
E2Lh/ REGERR Ht@mdHe | Exid/  RRREN EtAREH
(%) 7 A7 (T%) 2 a7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT
United States Dollars, USD S 1% 16,693 3,519 1% 16,692 -
(1%) (16,693) (3,519) (1%) (16,692) -
Renminbi, RMB ARE 5% 73,631 850,060 5% 43,006 1,000,565
(5%  (13631)  (850,060) (5% (43006 (1,000565)
The above analysis assumes the change in exchange rates AMBREXSHREESR
had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied Fi i‘% HEA  WEEARAS
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk in @Xfﬁgﬁ/\”‘ H Fﬂ?EE’\J b X7,
existence at that date while all other variables remain constant. CTEHMAEREERT
The stated changes also represent management’s assessment o ERZEFIMBETHEIEEH
of reasonably possible changes in exchange rates until the EiT*ﬂ EFEERERAH
next annual balance sheet date. The Hong Kong dollar and & 12 Al BE R BB R & Fh Ay R (h o
the United States dollar peg is assumed to stay materially R EETTHNRBTSEE
unaffected by any fluctuation of the United States dollar against EREWJ 5 KA B Ffﬁ inj(
other currencies. The analysis is performed on the same basis MEZ  HfiEER_T—ZTFH
for 2010. [RIELEHELT ©
Equity price risk (e) MRERE
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from A BEAXHFES(RHE23)

equity investments classified as trading securities (see note
23), available-for-sale securities (see note 19), financial assets
designated as fair value through profit or loss (see note 20) and
financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss.
Other than unlisted securities held for medium to long-term
strategic purposes, all of these investments are listed.

BHEEES (RME19) RIEE

RABBERARRAFEENS

%ﬂiﬁ?(ﬁﬁﬁ‘fzo)ﬁﬂﬁ%‘%&ﬁﬁﬁ

ZIKE@ AAREREZEEHN

o FRFF B REIRE HIIE

tﬁ%‘%‘?@l\ A RERED R
EHERE -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

39. RIT A%

Equity price risk (continued) () BRERKR(E)
The Group’s listed investments, other than some available- MR BB 5 2 2B h
for-sale securities which are listed on the Shanghai Stock HEFESHI  KEBE 2z WK
Exchange, are mainly listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong BXEEBFBBMET S RFEY
Kong and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy BHRGMET - EER HE 5
or sell trading securities rest with assigned investment team AR TE 15 € R B2 E B E
professionals and each investment portfolio is governed H o EEREASHETETHR
by specific investment and risk management guideline. EREABETIEESIEE - BT
Independent daily monitoring of each portfolio against the ERERHEZEREHESRF
corresponding guideline is carried out by the Risk Management SHEEMNIESIETB L ER - £
Department. Listed investments held in the available-for- HHEEFESFREE A BBER
sale securities and financial assets designated as fair value URBMAFEENCREEIRE
through profit or loss portfolio have been chosen based on HaRz EHRE - HIRBHAF
their medium to long-term growth potential and are monitored RHIERZE DGR - W ERER
regularly for performance against expectations. HRIFETEHELHET -
The performance of the Group’s unquoted investments is AEBBBHEBUBBERITER
assessed, based on the limited information available to the AT ZRBIELE - WiRE
Group, periodically against performance of listed entities of KREBFEHERER » FHIY
comparable size and nature of businesses. HIE FTIR SRR TS o
The following table shows the approximate changes in the TRIBAREBE R TE BT GIF
Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings) in response BREN)ABMELETRIELTRE
to reasonable change in the value of the relevant listed and BEEZHAERNTE - DT
unlisted equity. The analysis is performed on the same basis as BT —REFEREEETT
in 2010:
2011 2010
“B—-f e a2
Effect on Effect on
Increase/  profit after Effect on Increase/ profit after Effect on
(Decrease) taxand other (Decrease) taxand other
in equity retained components in equity refained  components
price profits of equity price profits of equity
BB & B g HRREEN Higs
RELA/ RRSEN HU@RH6 | RELF/ RRERF EtdRHhH
(F%) g %8 (T¥) 7 a7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BETT S
Listed equity investments TTRERE 10% 7,320 633,006 10% 74,426 822,601
(10%) (7,320) (633,096) (10%) (74,426) (822,601)
Unlisted equity investment FEMRERE 5% 23,364 135,972 5% 16,989 127,455
(5%) (23,364) (135,972) (5%) (16,989) (127,455)




ANNUAL REPORT 2011 =& ——4%F /179

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR R

40. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Estimation of fair values

Fair value estimates are generally subjective in nature,
and are made as of a specific point in time based on the
characteristics of the financial instruments and relevant market
information. Where available, the most suitable measure for
fair value is the quoted market price. In the absence of an
organised secondary market, for most financial instruments,
and in particular for unlisted equity and debt instruments and
derivatives where direct market prices are not available, the
fair value of such instruments are calculated on the basis of
well-established valuation techniques using current market
parameters. In particular, the fair value is a theoretical value
applicable at a given reporting date, and hence can only be
used as an indicator of value realisable in a future sale.

The Group compares valuations derived from models with
quoted prices of similar financial instruments, and public
information available in order to further validate and calibrate
the models. These techniques involve uncertainties and are
significantly affected by the assumptions used and judgments
made regarding risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows,
future expected loss experiences and other factors. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and
the resulting fair values. Derived fair value estimates cannot
necessarily be substantiated by comparison to independent
markets and, in many cases, could not be realised in an
immediate sale of the instruments. The following methods and
significant assumptions have been applied in determining the
fair values of financial instruments:

0] The fair value of unquoted equity investments is estimated
using an appropriate combination of (1) discount cash
flow method to devolve the future value of the business
into a present market value, (2) deducing from prices
recently paid for similar assets and the financial indicators
of the transacted assets such as net book value and
net operating profit, and (3) applying, if possible, price/
earnings ratios and EV/EBITDA ratios for similar listed
companies adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances
of the investments.

(i)  The fair value of derivatives is estimated either using
broker quotes or by discounting future cash flows. Future
cash flows are estimated based on management’s
best estimate of the amount it would receive or pay to
terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking
into account current market conditions. The discount
rate used is a market rate for a similar instrument at the
balance sheet date. The fair value of an option contract is
determined by applying an option valuation model such
as the Black-Scholes valuation model. Inputs are based
on market related data at the balance sheet date.

40. ERTENAREE

(a)

[ RBEMGE
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40. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Fair value

Unless otherwise specified, all financial instruments are stated
at fair value or carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

Fair values of financial instruments are categorised into three
levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments;

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in
active markets for similar financial instruments, or using
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are
directly or indirectly based on observable market data;
and

° Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques
in which any significant input is not based on observable
market data.

The Group holds certain available-for-sale securities with fair
value of HK$7,421 million in aggregate at 31 December 2011
(31 December 2010: HK$9,310 million). As at 31 December
2010, the fair value of the investments was previously
determined to be Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy using a
valuation technique that used significant unobservable inputs.
As quoted prices in active markets, or inputs to valuation
techniques directly or indirectly based on observable market
data have become available the fair value measurements of
these equity securities were accordingly transferred from Level
3 1o Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

The Group holds a financial asset designed at fair value
through profit or loss with fair value of HK$53 million at 31
December 2011 (31 December 2010: HK$120 million). As
at 31 December 2010, the fair value of the investment was
previously determined to be Level 3 under the fair value
hierarchy with a valuation technique that used significant
unobservable inputs. During the current year, observable
inputs were obtained and applied to the valuation technique,
accordingly the investment was transferred from Level 3 to
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

40. TEWMTANDIAEBEEE)

(b)

[REE
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40. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

40. TEMTANDIAEEGE)

Fair value (continued) (b) AREE(E)
As at 31 December 2011 RN-—E——&E+=—A=+—H
The Group The Company
£8 A
Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total
-4 £28 =4 it £-4 £28 =4 &
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
BeTn  AMTn  AETn  BMTn  AMTn B¥Tn AMTn %o
ASSETS BE
Avallable-for-sale securtes it EHEER S 8,491,793 - 219443 11,211,206 | 6,182,819 - 114965 6,297,784
Financial assets designated £ ARIBERN
atfarvave troughproft.—— REAAT{E(ER)
orloss SHEE 50,926 53233 1,053,794 1,166,953 - - - -
Trading securties RHEA 141,672 - - 141,672 - - - -
8,693,391 53283 37713287 12519861 | 6,182,819 - 114965 6,297,784
LIABILITIES 8
Financial labilty designated % A BEA
atfarvaethroughproft ~~ RAATEEH
orloss SRAR - - (148058  (148,058) - - - -
Notes payable ERZE - - (633965  (633,965) - - - -
- - (182,028  (782,029) - - - -
As at 31 December 2010 RZE—TF+_A=1+—H
The Group The Company
&8 NG
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 3 Total
F- F-8 F=H a3t F=R a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
ASSETS BE
Available-for-sale securities Bt IEEES 1,675,011 - 11858661 13,533,672 7,900,390 7,900,390
Financial assets designated at 127 AiBiB1E M
fair value through profit o loss IR FEEH)
LREE 161,945 - 745,711 907,656 - -
Trading securities R5EH 669,915 46,285 - 716,200 - -
2,506,871 46,285 12,604,372 15,157,528 7,900,300 7,900,390
LIABILITIES B
Financial liability designated at 165 AiBiB 1820
fair value through proft or loss ~ iRMA F{E(EH)
PHEE - - (38,917) (38,917) - -
Notes payable ENEE - - (143,29) (143,29) - -
- - (182,212) (182,212) - -
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40. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Fair value (continued)

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3
financial instruments is as follows:

40. €RTEMW

[AREEE)
b) 2DAEEGE)
RE=FHN S TAZBNT -

Group Company
&8 A7)
Financial assets Financial liability
designated at  designated at
Available- fair value fair value Available-
for-sale through through Notes for-sale
securities  profitorloss  profit or loss payable securities
EEABBES KTEABBES
NRMATEE URMATER
REERS HeREE HemaE EARE | HiHHEEES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BETT
At1 January 2010 R=B-85-F-H 8,607,481 251,868 - (114,115) 5,450,600
Purchases BA 1,140,019 341,568 (38,917) - -
Net unrealised gains or loss N el A
recognised in other KERFRF
comprehensive income B 4,846,252 - - - 2,449,790
Net unrealised gains o loss RERRTBRNAE
recognised in profit or loss BEBHER (6,801) 163,082 - (29,180) -
Sales e (193,426) (10,807) - - -
Reclassification EZpyd (2,534,864) - - B -
At31December2010and ~ A-Z-Z%
1 January 2011 +ZA=+-RRER
—£--%¥-8-H 11,858,661 745,711 (38,917) (143,295) 7,900,390
Purchases BA 327,852 105,990 - (519,000) -
Net unrealised gains or loss REERGEPERR
recognised in other RERFRA
comprehensive income B 74,657 - - - (28,330)
Net unrealised gains or loss NERRTEINAE
recognised in profit or loss BEEANES (13,479) 322,182 71,763 28,330 -
Sales e - - - - -
Reclassification Ep (9,528,248) (120,089) - - (7,757,095)
Others Hit - - (186,904) - -
At 31 December 2011 R=B--F+=f
=t-H 2,719,443 1,053,794 (148,058) (633,965) 114,965
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 41. #

STATEMENT

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash outflow

/\
|:|

TR

BRERABAELE T 2 RESREFE

from operating activities: HWEER :
2011 2010
—B——F | —T-IZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Profit before taxation [‘?%}“Lﬁfﬁ’ ol 2,045,913 2,298,809
Interest income on bank deposits TR EMA (26,038) (11,428)
Interest income on unlisted debt securities éFJ: ME#EE AN EWA - (22,162)
Interest expenses B H 60,420 39,421
Dividend income A EMA (283,566) (164,181)
Share of profits less losses of jointly controlled {5 F[E15 5 E 52 2 R
entities REE 18,913 3,537
Share of profits less losses of associates JERER S RN R B NREE (643,143) (833,456)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses HTE NEEE R 24,141 16,132
Net realised gain on financial asset designated ~ #§ Eﬁ'ﬁ_ﬂ?@ 5 DA ik
at fair value through profit or loss NEEENEREE
EERFERE - (8,543)
Net realised gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZFkEE (511,576) -
Net realised gain on disposal of an associate ~ HEBLATIRE Y
@Hﬁlm (1 5230) -
Unrealised gain on financial asset designated 5 7F &A@ iBIE 28 A KR
at fair value through profit or loss NEEENEREE
REIRWZ (141,002) (245,877)
Unrealised (gain)/loss on notes payable ERNZBRARERER
(Wzt) e (28,330) 29,180
Unrealised gain on financial liability designated 1§ E}%LﬂTa S DA sz ekt
at fair value through profit or loss NEEENERAE
REB W (77,663) -
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEBHRIHEESZ
securities FUER (691,416) |  (1,057,740)
Net surplus on revaluation of WEYEENFIEE
investment properties (3,976) (2,820)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEETFEECEX 4 120
Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities — f{t $46 555 2 FlEE % 69,357 15,731
Impairment loss on an investee company RIS E NI FIE
VERIEREES 53,564 -
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 41. &#&&
STATEMENT (continued)
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash outflow

REnBM=EE)

BRERABANELE T RSN FE

from operating activities: (continued) HERR  (8)
2011 2010
—E2——F T—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BETIT
Cash (outflow)/inflow before working ZiEEeEFHHRSORL),
capital changes A (135,628) 56,723
Decrease/(increase) in advances to customers  E P EFURL(3Eh1) 21,476 (627,660)
Increase in debtors, FEUBRIR ~ & RIBRFRIE N
deposits and prepayments (2,175,563) (752,966)
Increase in amounts due from jointly controlled &L F [F] 52 I & 5L 18
entities b=l (334,823) -
Decrease in amounts due from associates Rl e ] 482,523 -
Decrease/(increase) in trading securities RBEEML,(EN) 574,734 (257,842)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors, deposits JEMERR - Bl e &
received and accrued charges TERERACRD),/HEiN (248,843) 578,779
Increase in amounts due from JEAST IR & N B FRIEIE 1N
an investee company (19,790) (145,794)
Decrease in amount due to A B AR IR A BIFRIE
ultimate holding company ,Uz 2 - (63)
Increase in financial liability designated at HEE ABIBER AR AT
fair value through profit or loss EEMNSHEEEN 37,929 -
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBREH (5,063) (18,278)
Overseas profits tax paid BREINFISH (407,523) (30,495)
Interest paid 258 (58,428) (38,569)
Net cash outflow from SRR EA 2R R
operating activities (2,268,999) (1,236,165)
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42. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Business segments

The Group manages and conducts the majority of its business
activities by business units. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has identified the following reportable segments:

Continuing operations

° Asset Management — management of absolute return
and long-only funds with key focus on secondary market
trading. Investment return on the Group’s own capital
seeded into those funds is included herewith.

° Asset Investment — asset class specific long term
investment in projects and equities, also targeting the
management of investment funds focusing on real estate,
infrastructure and resources assets.

° Direct Investment — investment in unlisted equity
securities and/or equity derivatives with an ultimate
objective of capital gain on investee’s equity listing or,
in some circumstances, prior to listing. It also includes
specific project financing to external parties.

° Strategic Investment — the Group’s treasury management
operations, and medium and long term investments
which are carried out under senior management’s
directions.

° All other segments — which do not meet the threshold
to be reportable and include the Group’s investment
in properties and certain financial assets and liabilities
created from corporate investments.

Discontinued operations

° Brokerage — brokerage services in securities, futures,
bullion and leveraged foreign exchange trading, and
margin financing to margin customers.

° Investment Banking — provision of corporate advisory,
placing and underwriting services.

Segment results are measured in accordance with HKFRS as
profit/(loss) before taxation less non-controlling interests’ share
of profit/(loss).

Inter-segment transactions are priced by reference to normal
commercial rates and/or cost recovery basis. Revenues of
all other segments mainly include gross rental income, inter-
segment service income and investment gain/(loss) from notes
payable and certain corporate available-for-sale securities.

42.
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42. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 42, FEER(E)
(@) Business segments (continued) (a) %(%oE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 g8xz—_F2——%+=-H=+—H
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RELEEH FRELEEE
Reportable
Asset Asset Direct Strategic ~ segments Al other Investment
Management  Investment  Investment  Investment total  segments Sub-total | Brokerage Banking Sub-total Total
EEEE  EERE ERRE  RMRE AHIREE Efpi Nt fREH  RERG At &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
E¥Tn  BMTx  BMTx  BMTx  BMTn  BMTn TR 8T E¥Tn BT BT
REVENUE BWA
Operatingincome fromextemal ~ REE=£XF4EME
customers 237,145 47,541 132,319 21378 644,383 33,580 677,963 82,029 7,201 89,436 767,399
Inter-segment revenue AT e - - - - - - - 47 1,450 1,497 1,497
Operating income from extenal - REE=2ZPLEMAR
customers and inter-segment A E I
revenue 237,145 47541 132,319 227318 644,383 33,580 677,963 82,276 8,657 90,933 768,896
Qther net income from extemal
customers (24,980) (1,443) 745,006 (9,515) 709,068 38,188 747,256 2,79 - 2,79 750,055
Total operating income and other E¥ B REMFhEEE
net income 212,165 46,098 877,325 217,863 1,353,451 71,768 1,425,219 85,075 8,657 93,732 1,518,951
RESULTS AND L VELpEE ]
RECONCILIATION OF
SEGMENT RESULTS
Segment resutsbeforenon-  FHEBRBRA A TEE
controling interests 98,539 2017 698,675 216,228 1,015,519 76,760 1,002,279 19,538 (2,461) 17,017 1,109,356
Unelocated head officeand ~ AARHLLER
corporate expenses (197,543) (1,706) (199,249)
Gain on disposal of subsiciaries  (t EBATIRA - 511,576 511,576
Share of profits less losses of ~ [E(REE A RIRFIEBE
associates 643,143 - 643,143
Share of profts less losses of (kR A EBRA
Jointly controlied entities B (18913) - (18913)
Profit before taxation BB 1,518,966 526,947 2,045,913
Less: Non-controling interests 35, SRR 18,487 (1,79) 49314 - 66,005 251 - -
Segment results DEE 117,026 2681 747,989 216,228 1,081,524 77,011 19,538 (2,461)
Interest income: FEMA 172,446 333 96,140 13,456 282,375 13,216 295,501 33,242 - 33,242 328,833
Interest expenses fill5 - - 53,503 585 54178 5,176 50,354 1,066 - 1,066 60420
Depreciafion and TEREEBR(E)
amortisation expenses (Note) 426 205 m - 1,402 18,407 19,809 1,958 - 1,958 21,767
Impaiment loss on BHHERSRERR
avalable-for-sale securities 69,357 - - - 69,357 - 69,357 - - - 69,357
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in T BoOWEREBHEBABELER

unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

DERNARIREEXERNA -
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42. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 42. FEERE)
(a) Business segments (continued) (@) ¥¥%5HE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 2 T—FTF+_A=+—H
Continuing operations Discontinued operafions
HETEER ETERER
Reportable
Asset Asset Direct Strategic segments Al other Investment
Management  Investment  Investment  Investment fotal segments Sub-total Brokerage Banking Sub-total Total
REEE  EERE  ERRE  RERE SPSREE  EpsB | BEER RERT 5t it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETr A%Tn  B%Tn T BT AETn | AT BT BETn | BT
REVENUE WA
Operating income from REE=EZPEEIA
extermal customers 19,463 31,128 156,422 150,903 357,916 14,217 372,193 265,247 104,663 359,910 732,103
Inter-segment revenue hdEEhE - - 473 - 473 51 532 167 2280 2447 7773
Operating income fomextemal - KES=ZRFLEUER
customers and inter-segment - AP L
revenue 19463 31,128 161,157 150,903 362,651 14,868 377519 205414 106,943 362,357 739,876
Othernetincome fromextemal KBS =#EFLEhE
customers 94,728 47 1,270,236 9,021 1,374,402 (25,971) 1,348,431 12421 3269 15,696 1,364,127
Totdloperatingncomeand B EMEREM FUEiEE
other netincome 114,191 31,545 1,431,398 159,924 1,737,053 (11,109 1,725,950 267,841 110,212 378,053 2,104,008
RESULTS AND RERGRONRE
RECONCILIATION OF
SEGMENT RESULTS
Segment resuts beforenon- FEERBRAIA FEE
controling interests 81,804 3,806 1,332,988 162,749 1,571,347 (23,701) 1,547,646 104,452 56,078 160,525 1,708,171
Unalocated head officeand ~~ AARHIALER
corporate expenses (205,613) 33,668) (239,281)
Share of profits less losses of ~ EEBE LRI RAEEE
associates 833456 - 833,456
Share of profits lesslosses of  [EIG R AIEHIZERTA
jointly controlled entiies 5] (3.537) - (3537)
Profit before taxation BERRER 2,171,952 126857 | 2,298,809
Less: Non-controling interests —~ J5i : JE#2HE R (5,567) (241) (242,183) 14 (247,017) 752 - -
Segment resuits BRI 76,237 3,565 1,090,806 163463 1,324,070 (16,174) 104,452 56,073
Interest income: FEMA 2810 8 87,554 60,114 150,546 3206 153,752 83,659 211 83870 287,622
Interest expenses il 6 - 31,288 - 31,204 3481 34775 4646 - 4646 39,421
Depreciaion and amorisation ~ TEREHER ()
expenses (Note) - 215 4138 - 4353 740 5,093 R - RB 5186
Impaiment loss on BHEERFRERE
avalable-for-sale securtties 8,930 - 2,945 - 1,875 3,856 15,731 - - - 15,731
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in i HNMEREHEERBEER

unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

DENARREEERNA -
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42. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 42, DEER(4)
(@) Business segments (continued) (a) %(%oE(E)
Other Information B &R
As at 31 December 2011 R-E——F+=-A=+—H
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RREERH FREEEEN
Reportable
Asset Asset Direct Strategic segments All other Investment
Management  Investment  Investment  Investment total segments Sub-total | Brokerage Banking Sub-total | Eliminations Total
BEEE  EERE  EBRE @ RMRE SUREE  HeaB Aft | BEEE  RERT it A ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
YT YT YT YT YT AT YT YT YT YT YT TR
Segment assets PHEE 4,030,377 697,056 4,520,804 9,068,397 18,316,634 1898910 20,215,544 - - - (5,681) | 20,209,863
Investment n associates BENIRE 9,700,682
Investment n jointly HREHERRE
controlled entities 510,840
Amounts due from investee: ENRRERAE
companies 111,823
Unalocated head offcs and AENAARGEEE
corporate assets 567,208
Total assets EE 31,100,416
Segment liabilties 8k 603,814 10,225 634,564 492,000 1,740,603 120,469 1,861,072 - - - (5,681) 1,855,391
Provision for taxation HRER 43,150
Deferred tax iabilties EEHERR 319,787
Undlocated head oficeand ~ AAEHIALEE
corporate liabities 239,360
Totalliabiities gk 2,827,688
Additons to non-curtent segment AEEFB3ERS
assets during the year PHEE - 339 m - 618 4,921 553 - - - - 553
As at 31 December 2010 RZZE—TF+-_A=+—H
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FEREER HREREER
Reportable
Asset Asset Direct Strategic segments Al other Investment
Management ~ Investment  Investment  Investment total segments Sub-total Brokerage Banking Sub-otal | Eliminations Total
BEER  ERRE  ERRE  RERE A¥EEERE Eind At Euzn RERG it g At
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT AT AT BT AT AT AT AT AT AT BETT
Segment assets 1,319.842 1,681,763 596210 11665373 20553188 1288937 2184212 2433236 33116 2,466,350 (117,169 | 24,191,306
Investment in associates BENARE 9,226,584
Investment n jointly HREHERRE
controlled entities 84,863
Amounts due from investee RRRBEAFE
companies 145,794
Unalocated head offce and AARNAARLFEE
corporate assets 204,113
Totel assets e 33941660
Segment liabilties 8k 55,816 14817 1,264,963 38917 1,374,513 243659 1,618,172 818,720 4,706 823426 (117,169 2324429
Provision for taxation RRER 574,314
Defered tax abities EEiEas 768,460
Unalocated head offe and RARMLERE
corporate liabiities 102,986
Totl fabiltes anfE 370,189
Adations to non-curent segment AEEFEHIERD
assets during the year NEEE - 69 5,182 - 5,251 166 5417 135 - 135 - 5552
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42. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 42. FEERE)
(b) Geographical segments (b) HEHIE
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREIHEB()AEE KB IR
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers BEZWARNANEBZEEE
and (i) the Group’s fixed assets, intangible assets, goodwill, E EBREE B2E - E(EHE
interests in associates and jointly controlled entities (“specified N A F e K FE A L[R5 i B2 A
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers wm([HEEEREEE]) FTiEH
is based on the location at which the services were provided. B ZER o BPRTEM IR IZIRTG
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets IR EE D - EIERBEE
is based on the physical location of the asset. For intangible Frfesth @iz & EERATE 2L E
assets, goodwill, interests in associates and jointly controlled oo EBILEE  BHEBEREGEE
entities, the geographical location is based on the location of A B F %8 2 e A R 122 ) & B8 A
operations. RIS 2EE 5
For the year ended 31 December 2011 For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-——F1t-A=t-ALEE HECT-SET-A=T-HISER
Mainland Mainland

Hong Kong China Total | Hong Kong China Total

BE hERE &it &5 REM At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT  B%Tn  AMTn | BT AT B%Tr

Segment revenue AEIA
Operating income e
- Continuing operations ~RECEEH 399,690 278,273 677,963 175172 197,021 372,193
- Discontinued operations —IEESERLEE 89,436 - 89,436 359,910 - 359,910
Other net income EAFIA

- Continuing operations e TS 13,007 734,249 747,256 2,132 1,256,299 1,348,431

- Discontinued operations —EEBERLEE 2,799 - 2,799 15,696 - 15,696

504932 1,012,522 1,517,454 642910 14563320 2,096,230

For the year ended 31 December 2011 For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-2--F+-A=t-HLFE HE-T-ZFT-A=t—HLFE
Mainland Mainland
Hong Kong China Total | Hong Kong China Total
£ HE R CH &k HRE A, ait

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI EBTT ABTT AT

Specified non-current assets  JEEIERBAE
- Continuing operations e TS 552,806 10,228,287 10,781,093 548,234 9,322,248 9,870,482
- Discontinued operations ~ —JEIERLEK - - - 14,490 - 14,490
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43.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of these accounts and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Changes in
assumptions may have a significant impact on the accounts in the
periods where the assumptions are changed. The application of
assumptions and estimates means that any selection of different
assumptions would cause the Group’s reporting to differ. The Group
believes that the assumptions that have been made are appropriate
and that the accounts therefore present the financial position and
results fairly, in all material respects. Management has discussed
with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure
of the Group’s significant accounting policies and estimates and the
application of these policies and estimates.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

() Advances to customers
Advances to customers are reviewed periodically to assess
whether impairment losses exist. The Group makes judgement
as to whether there is any objective evidence that an advance
is impaired, i.e. whether there is a decrease in estimated
future cash flows. If management has determined, based
on their judgement, that objective evidence for impairment
exists, expected future cash flows are estimated based on
historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk
characteristics. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the
basis of the current observable data. Management reviews the
methodology and assumptions used in estimating future cash
flows regularly to reduce any difference between loss estimates
and actual loss experience.

(ii) Unlisted investments
The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale securities and
other non-trading securities are significantly affected by
the combination of valuation methodologies employed, the
parameters used and, if required, the underlying sample
chosen. The valuation methodologies and the source of
parameters adopted by the Group are discussed in note 40(a)(i).

(ili) Tax provision
The Group’s taxation provision is based on management’s
assessment of the estimated assessable profits for the year
taking into consideration tax legislations in Hong Kong and the
relevant overseas jurisdictions.

43.
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43. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(iv) Derivative instruments
The Group has certain derivatives of which the fair value
is determined by valuation models that involve significant
unobservable inputs. A high degree of management judgement
and estimation is required in determination of fair value. Note
40(a) contain information about the assumptions and the risk
factors relating to valuation of derivatives where direct market
prices are not available.

44. BANKING FACILITIES AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Aggregate banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2011
amounted to approximately HK$2,453 million (2010: approximately
HK$1,967 million). The Group has utilised approximately HK$1,133
million (2010: HK$1,092 million) of these facilities, part of which were
unsecured at balance sheet date.

As at 31 December 2011, The fixed deposits of HK$604,178,000
(2010: HK$450,099,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities.
The details of which are set out in note 24.

45. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements on page 93 to 192 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2012.

43.
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46. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and five new standards which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
which have not been adopted in these accounts. These include the

following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS
7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of
financial assets

Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income taxes — Deferred tax:
Recovery of underlying assets

Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial
statements — Presentation of
items of other comprehensive
income

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial
statements

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of
interests in other entities

HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement

HKAS 27, Separate financial
statements (2011)

HKAS 28, Investments in
associates and joint ventures

Revised HKAS 19, Employee
benefits

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

1st July, 2011

1 January 2012

1st July, 2012

1st January, 2015

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

1st January, 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position except for HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, which
will have an impact on the Group’s results and financial position
arising from changes in the Group’s classification and measurement of

financial instruments.

46.

EHE_T——H+-F=1—
LEENE ATOEAERL
BE HREARRAELN T
REs &

BEEAMBHRRIEMBY BB S
B A& E 8 T ZIRE J&ﬂlﬁ%ﬁ;&
A - BZEEITMFLANBE
——F+_HA=t+—HIg Jrifr‘ﬁi
R Rt HARERRARBIRE - 7]
REE AR BB R 2 IERT M ERILAT

BEsHi
=i
DB FRBEN

KASEIK BB IS —ZE——F
ZERNE TR £ w7l +A—H
TEAHE-SREE
B |

KSR BEEER B4
1250 ) FTiS 8t —A—H
—IRIEFHIA - A0S
BEZBY]

LIS (BB DEERD —E=——F
F1g[emT A +A—H
ER-EpEmEmkas
HE 2 2%

(BB RELED]) —E—hF
Ho%[ LA A —A—H

(CEBMBRELERNE —E—=4F
105k [ 4R & B 53Rk —A—H

(EBPRELEN)DF —E—=F

1155 B E —HA—H

(CEBIBRELER]) —E—=F
125 B —A—H
WEns 2 HER

(CEBIMBHRELERDSE —ET—=4F
135 EEAQ Trfﬁféj —A—H

(EFSFED)D =4
275 B BT —A—H
< (2011)]

(EBDFER)FE285 =4
FH‘&’F%/AT&N*“ —HA—H
AIEE ]

RIETK BB G AL —E-=f
F19%[ B ERF ]

AEE G EZEETHEEER
HIR e EL MR - BB HRE
EADFRI M T A K5 BAKE
Z—‘t’“*ﬁ&ﬁ%(ﬁ%ﬂiﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁéﬁzﬁﬁ
B RE MBI EZEIN  ES
FiS st RN L F1E J;TKEI

E%F&ﬁﬁ‘%ﬂk/ﬁTT e E



ANNUAL REPORT 2011 —Z——%F % /193

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MHRE

RESULTS oy

For the years ended

BETIHABFE

31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 | 31.12.2011
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000 | HK$000
AETIT AT BT A%Tx| B¥Tn

Turnover e 4,584,025 4,143,448 3,556,973 2,214,071 | 3,089,975
Revenue W 730,844 343,354 318,375 372,193 677,963
Operating profit after KERTRMGE

finance costs A 1,632,419 703,379 223,396 1,342,033 894,736
Gain on deemed disposal of FEE'H \HjEH“M“

interest in an associate Al m A 924,503 - 3,175,642 - -
Share of profits less FE(RESE AR BT

losses of associates RE1E 2,906,226 480,185 1,349,289 833,456 643,143
Share of profits less losses of fE{f tk [F2 4| & 52

jointly controlled entities AFREE - - ©19) (3,537) (18,913)
Profit before taxation M ER R B R 5,463,148 1,183,564 4,747,412 2,171,952 1,518,966
Income tax FRIE (197,724) (208,967) (68,189) (112,805) (184,964)
Profit after taxation before — 15EK L %1%

continuing operations Fie &R 5,265,424 974,597 4,679,223 2,059,147 | 1,334,002
Discontinued operations Pl YT F s 79,362 107,810 522,447
Profit for the year RNEFEREF 4,758,585 2,166,957 | 1,856,449
Attributable to: SEN

Equity shareholders of AR RRE

the Company 5,005,592 1,014,832 4,757,641 1,927,207 1,922,705
Non-controlling interests IEIE IR A 259,832 (40,235) 944 239,750 (66,256)

5,265,424 974,597 4,758,585 2,166,957 | 1,856,449

Earning per share (HK9) SREF BT 3.17 0.64 2.99 1.19 1.116
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERAR
As at
RT5IEH
31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 | 31.12.2011
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT  AEBTT  ARTT  B%TIT | BETR
Total assets BEE 20,286,199 15,055,876 24,309,249 33,941,660 | 31,100,416
Total liabilities e (2,788,615) (1,555,988) (2,450,073) (3,770,189)| (2,827,688)
Non-controlling interests 3FT SRR (1,188,612)  (300,795)  (873,999) (2,030,848)| (1,807,391)
Shareholders’ fund MR MR 16,358,972 13,199,093 20,985,177 28,140,623 | 26,465,337
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEY=ER

Location Site area/Gross floor area Tenure Use
1 2 tith BEREEE FH ke
Hong Kong
Bk
46th Floor, Far East Finance Gross floor area of Government lease for Commercial
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road 10,800 sq. ft. 75 years from 23rd July 1980,
renewable for another
75 years
ERE16 R R R D461 MBEEAE10,800F H R BEAETRE - i [EES
—NWN\EELA-+=H# 7
BB TRE
40th Floor, Far East Finance Gross floor area of Government lease for Commercial
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road 10,800 sq. ft. 75 years from 23rd July 1980,
renewable for another
75 years
ERE16 R R R 040 MBEEAE10,800F H R PR+ RE - [EES
B—NAN\EFELtA-+=Hi
BT REF
Flat A, 27th Floor, 1 Star Street, Gross floor area of Government lease for Residential
Wanchai 655 sq. ft. 75 years from 22nd August 1928
(extended for another 75 years)
BFEE —SR2TIEAR MBS MEES5F R BEAETRE - F=
B—AZN\ENAZ+ZHE -
BT REF
Flat H, 6th Floor, Tower 10, Gross floor area of Government lease from Residential
South Horizons, Ap Lei Chau 1,096 sq. ft. 28th January 1988 to
31st March 2040
SR G5 5 E T BE6IBHE MBEREIE,006F 7R BFHELE—NANE F=
— AT N\BEZZNEF
=A=t+—H
Flat G, 40th Floor and the Gross floor area of Government lease Residential
Roof Terrace, Tower 17, 2,195 sq. ft. 28th January 1988 to
South Horizons, Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040
BEHIN B 1R &5 408 MBREEMIE2,195 R BFHELE—NNNE F=
GEERE —AZ+N\BZEZZNZTF
=A=t+—A~
Flat H, 22nd Floor, Tower 21, Gross floor area of Government lease from Residential
South Horizons, Ap Lei Chau 1,107 sq. ft. 28th January 1988 to
31st March 2040
RS BE- T BEEEE 107 F AR BFHELE—NANE F=

22MEHE

—A-+t/\BE_ZMEF
=A=1+—8



ANNUAL REPORT 2011 =& ——%%F / 195

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEYEER

Location Site area/Gross floor area Tenure Use
2 T BEEER FH R
Hong Kong (continued)

BE(E)

Car Parking Space Nos. 230 and Not applicable Government lease from Carpark
241 on Podium Level 1, Phase I, 28th January 1988 to

Car Parking Space No. 9 on 31st March 2040

Podium Level 2, Phase I,

South Horizons, Ap Lei Chau

BRI EIA+ SFE28F A i BFELE—NNNE &AL
F1EBF280R241 K EEM K —AZt+/\BE-ZWZF
EIMTAE2BESRIFEN =A=+—-8~

Mainland China

B RRE

Units 1-17, Gross floor area of Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
8th Floor, Industrial Bank Building 1,241.25 sq.m. 27th December 2000

4013 Shennan Road,

Futian District, Shenzhen

AT AR H R R KB 401357 BEEETET 241 25F 5K T ERER +F [EES
BRRITAESEI-17E “ETTFT_A-tLRE

Unit 1300, Level 13, Gross floor area of Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
China Overseas International 1,474.42 sq.m. 7th March 2000

Center,

28 Ping’anli West Street,

Xicheng District, Beijing

I RPRE T % B A E285% MBREEETET 474.42F 5K T ERER +F [EES

Fh BLESNEIRE R0 1 3B 1300 —ETTF-ALAE

Level 25, 21 Century Center, Gross floor area of LLand use right for 50 years from Commercial
No. 210 Century Road, 1,976.23 sq.m. 25th February 1997

Pudong New District, Shanghai

HiETRR AR A KE2105 R EmTE1,976.23F 7K TiEREL+FR [EES

Z R N25E

—hWNWAE-AZ+HBR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

= > N
NEER
Board of Directors
Tang Shuangning Chairman
Zang Qiutao Deputy Chairman
Chen Shuang Chief Executive Officer
Tang Chi Chun, Richard Chief Financial Officer
Jiang Yuanzhi Assistant General Manager
Wang Weimin#

Ng Ming Wah, Charles*
Seto Gin Chung, John*
Lin Zhijun*

#  Non-executive Director
*  Independent Non-executive Directors

Company Secretary
Chan Ming Kin, Desmond

Registered Office
46th Floor

Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

China Everbright Bank Company Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Legal Advisors
Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker
Grandall Legal Group (Shanghai) Office

Share Registrars
Tricor Secretaries Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Auditors
KPMG

Website Address
http://www.everbright165.com

Investor Relations Contact
ir@everbright165.com

Stock Code: 165
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China Everbright Limited
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46th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
BHERB165ERR SR L4618
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